HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL INC Form PREM14A July 06, 2004 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101)

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant x

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

x Preliminary Proxy Statement.

"Confidential, For Use Of The Commission Only (As Permitted By Rule 14a-6(e)(2)).

" Definitive Proxy Statement.

"Definitive Additional Materials.

" Soliciting Material Pursuant to Section 240.14a-12

HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

	(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)				
Pay	Payment of Filing Fee (check the appropriate box):				
	No	fee required.			
x	Fee	computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.			
	1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of Home Products International, Inc.			
	2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: 7,943,914 shares of Home Products Common Stock, which includes 70,250 shares of Home Products Common Stock underlying stock options that have an exercise price per share less than \$1.50 that may be cashed out in connection with the merger.			
	3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined): \$1.50 in cash which represents the price per share of Home Products Common Stock to be paid pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 2, 2004 by and between Home Products and JRT Acquisition, Inc.			
	4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: \$11,915,871			
	5)	Total fee paid: \$1,510			
		" Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.			

the date of its filing.

Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and

1) Amount Previously Paid:

2	2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
3	3)	Filing Party:
4	4)	Date Filed:

Table of Contents

[HOME PRODUCTS LOGO/LETTERHEAD]

SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Dear Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of the stockholders of Home Products International, Inc. on A.M., local time, at our corporate headquarters, 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632.

, 2004, at 9:00

At the special meeting, you will be asked to approve and adopt a merger agreement and approve a merger that provides for the merger of Home Products into JRT Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation formed for the benefit of James R. Tennant, our chief executive officer and the chairman of our board of directors, with Home Products surviving the merger. If we complete the merger, you will be entitled to receive \$1.50 in cash, without interest, for each share of Home Products common stock that you own.

A special committee consisting solely of independent, disinterested directors of Home Products was formed by our board of directors to analyze, consider and negotiate the terms of the merger and to make a recommendation to the entire board of directors as to whether or not to adopt the merger agreement. In making its recommendation, the special committee considered a variety of factors that are described in the accompanying proxy statement. In addition, the special committee received the written opinion of Mesirow Financial, Inc., financial advisor to the special committee, that, as of June 2, 2004, the consideration to be received by you in the merger is fair from a financial point of view. A copy of this fairness opinion is attached as Appendix B to the accompanying proxy statement, which you should read carefully in its entirety.

We cannot complete the merger without the approval of our stockholders. The merger agreement and the merger must receive both (1) the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock, which we refer to as company stockholder approval and (2) the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger, excluding shares held by JRT Acquisition, Mr. Tennant or their respective affiliates. We refer to this second required approval as the unaffiliated stockholder approval.

Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please take the time to vote by completing and mailing the enclosed proxy card to us. Alternatively, you may vote by telephone or over the Internet. If you attend the special meeting, you may vote in person, even if you previously returned your proxy card. For purposes of obtaining company stockholder approval, an abstention or the failure to vote or to submit a proxy will have the same effect as voting AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger. For purposes of obtaining unaffiliated stockholder approval, an abstention or the failure to vote or to submit a proxy will have an effect of neither voting FOR nor AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger.

The board of directors of Home Products and the special committee have determined that the merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, Home Products and its stockholders, have approved the merger agreement and the merger and recommend that Home Products stockholders vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

The accompanying proxy statement provides you with detailed information about the proposed merger and the special meeting. Please read the entire document, including the appendices, carefully.

Thank you for your prompt attention to this important matter.	
Very Truly Yours,	
ames E. Winslow	
Executive Vice President,	
Chief Financial Officer	
nd Secretary	

, 2004, and is first being mailed to Home Products stockholders on or about

, 2004.

This proxy statement is dated

Table of Contents

[HOME PRODUCTS LOGO/LETTERHEAD]

4501 West 47th Street

Chicago, Illinois 60632

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

TO BE HELD ON , 2004

To the Stockholders of HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.:

Home Products International, Inc. will hold a special meeting of its stockholders on , 2004, at 9:00 A.M. local time, at its corporate headquarters, 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632 for the following purposes:

- 1. To consider and vote upon a proposal to (a) approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 2, 2004, by and between Home Products and JRT Acquisition, Inc., under which JRT Acquisition will merge with and into Home Products, with Home Products surviving the merger, and (b) approve the merger contemplated by the merger agreement. A copy of the merger agreement is attached as Appendix A to the accompanying proxy statement.
- 2. To transact such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. The approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger requires both (1) company stockholder approval, which is the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Home Products common stock as of the record date of , 2004, and (2) unaffiliated stockholder approval, which is the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Home Products common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger, excluding shares of Home Products common stock held by JRT Acquisition, equityholders of JRT Acquisition, James R. Tennant and any of their affiliates. At the close of business on the record date, there were shares of Home Products common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, of which shares or % were held by Mr. Tennant.

All stockholders of record are cordially invited to attend the special meeting in person. Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting and regardless of the number of shares you own, please vote your shares by marking, signing and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it in the postage-paid envelope provided. You may also vote your shares by telephone or through the Internet by following the instructions set forth in the enclosed proxy card. If you attend the special meeting, you may vote in person, even if you have previously submitted a proxy in writing, by telephone or through the Internet. If your shares are held in the name of a broker, bank or other nominee, you should direct that person how to vote your shares and bring proof of your stock ownership if you wish to attend the special meeting. You may revoke your proxy in the manner described in the accompanying proxy statement at any time before the proxy has been voted at the special meeting. Please note that, if you abstain, fail to vote or fail to instruct your nominee how to vote any shares that it holds for you in its name, for purposes of obtaining company stockholder approval, your abstention, failure to vote or failure to instruct your nominee to vote will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger. For purposes of obtaining the

unaffiliated stockholder approval, your abstention, failure to vote or failure to instruct your nominee to vote will have the effect of voting neither FOR nor AGAINST approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

A special committee consisting solely of independent, disinterested directors of Home Products was formed by our board of directors to analyze, consider and negotiate the terms of the merger and to make a recommendation to the board of directors as to whether or not to adopt the merger agreement. In making its recommendation, the special committee considered a variety of factors that are described in the accompanying

Table of Contents

proxy statement. In addition, the special committee received the written opinion of Mesirow Financial, Inc., financial advisor to the special committee, that, as of June 2, 2004, the consideration to be received by you in the merger is fair from a financial point of view. A copy of this fairness opinion is attached as Appendix B to the accompanying proxy statement, which you should read carefully in its entirety.

You are entitled under Delaware law to dissent from the merger and receive payment in cash for the fair value of your Home Products common stock, as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery if you satisfy certain conditions. The payment that you receive may be more or less than what is paid in the merger. See Appraisal Rights on page 49 in, and Appendix D to, the accompanying proxy statement for a description of these rights. This notice constitutes notice of appraisal rights under Delaware law in connection with the merger.

The accompanying proxy statement provides you with detailed information about the proposed merger and the special meeting. Please read the entire document, including the appendices, carefully.

Please do not send in your Home Products stock certificates at this time. If we complete the merger, the paying agent will send you instructions for exchanging your Home Products stock certificates for the cash consideration.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

James E. Winslow

Executive Vice President.

Chief Financial Officer

and Secretary

Chicago, Illinois

, 2004

This transaction has not been approved or disapproved by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any state securities commission nor has the Securities and Exchange Commission or any state securities commission passed upon the fairness or merits of this transaction nor upon the accuracy or adequacy of the information contained in this document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY TERM SHEET	1
The Parties	1
Determination and Recommendation of Our Special Committee and Board of Directors	1
Opinion of the Special Committee s Financial Advisor	3
Position of JRT as to Fairness of the Merger	3
Purposes of the Merger	3
Effects of the Merger	3
Merger Financing	1
Indenture	1 Δ
The Special Meeting	5
Date, Time, Place, and Purpose	5
Record Date, Voting Rights and Required Votes	5
The Merger and the Merger Agreement	6
What You Will Receive	6
Treatment of Outstanding Stock Options	6
Conditions to Consummation of the Merger	6
Acquisition Proposals	7
Termination of the Merger Agreement	8
Interests of Home Products Directors and Officers in the Merger	9
Indemnification and Insurance	10
Appraisal Rights	10
Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences	10
•	
<u>QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE SPECIAL MEETING</u>	11
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	15
SPECIAL FACTORS	16
Background of the Merger	16
Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger	20
Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger	23
Opinion of the Special Committee s Financial Advisor	23
Comparable Public Company Analysis	25
Comparable Transactions Analysis	26
Discounted Cash Flow Analysis	27
Leveraged Buyout Analysis	28
General Control of the Control of th	29
<u>Projections</u>	30
Position of the JRT Group as to the Fairness of the Merger	31
Purposes of the Merger	32
Effects of the Merger	33
Acquiror s Plans	33
THE SPECIAL MEETING	34
Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting	34
Purpose of the Special Meeting	34
Recommendation of the Board of Directors and Special Committee	34
Who Can Vote at the Special Meeting	34
Quorum; Required Votes	34
Proxies; Revocability of Proxies	35
Proxy Solicitation	36

i

T	ab	le	of	Contents	

THE MERGER	36
General Description of the Merger	36
Effective Time of the Merger	36
Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, Directors and Officers	36
Payment of Per Share Merger Consideration Treatment of Outstanding Stock Options	37 38
Treatment of Our Outstanding Warrants	38
Merger Financing	38
Terms of the Revolver	39
Conditions to the Revolver	39
Conduct of the Business if the Merger is Not Completed	40
<u>Indenture</u>	40
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger; Potential Conflicts of Interest	42
Voting Agreement	43
Employment and Other Agreements	43
Employment Agreements Other Agreements	43 45
Estimated Fees and Expenses of the Merger	4.
Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences	47
Accounting Treatment	48
Regulatory Filings and Approvals	48
Appraisal Rights	49
Delisting and Deregistration of Home Products Stock after the Merger	51
Certain Legal Matters	51
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	52
Representations and Warranties	52
Conditions to Consummation of the Merger	53
Amendment, Extension and Waiver	54
Stock Options	55
Interim Operations	55
Indemnification and Insurance	56
Employee and Termination Benefits	56
Acquisition Proposals Control of the North Control	57
Termination of the Merger Agreement	58
Payment of Fees and Expenses	58
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA	60
<u>MANAGEMENT</u>	61
Directors and Executive Officers	61
Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders and Management	62
Stock Purchases by Us and Our Directors and Executive Officers	63
PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON STOCK	64
DIVIDEND POLICY	64
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	64
INFORMATION ABOUT JRT	65
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	65
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS	65
OTHER MATTERS	66
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	67
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE	67

ii

Table of Contents

APPENDICES

Appendix A	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 2, 2004, by and between Home Products International, Inc. and JRT Acquisition, Inc.	A-1
Appendix B	Fairness Opinion of Mesirow Financial, Inc. to the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of Home Products International, Inc. dated as of June 2, 2004	B-1
Appendix C	Bank of America Business Capital (f/k/a Fleet Capital Corporation) Letter of Commitment to JRT Acquisition, Inc. dated as of March 15, 2004	C-1
Appendix D	Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law	D-1
Appendix E	<u>Voting Agreement dated as of June 2, 2004 by and between Home Products International, Inc. and James R. Tennant</u>	E-1
Appendix F	Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003	F-1
Appendix G	Ouarterly Report on Form 10-O for the quarter ended March 27, 2004	G-1

iii

Table of Contents

SUMMARY TERM SHEET

This summary term sheet highlights selected information from this proxy statement and does not contain all of the information that you may deem important. To understand the merger fully and for a more complete description of the legal terms of the merger, you should carefully read this entire proxy statement, including the documents attached as appendices. We have included page references to direct you to more complete descriptions of the topics presented in this summary term sheet. To learn how to obtain additional information beyond what is provided in this document, see Where You Can Find More Information beginning at page 67.

For purposes of this proxy statement:

Home Products, we, us, and our refer to Home Products International, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

JRT Acquisition or JRT refers to JRT Acquisition, Inc.

Mr. Tennant refers to James R. Tennant, our chief executive officer and chairman of our board of directors.

JRT Group refers collectively to JRT, Mr. Tennant, as the sole stockholder of JRT and their affiliates.

Mesirow refers to Mesirow Financial, Inc., financial advisor to the special committee of our board of directors.

The Parties

Home Products International, Inc.

4501 West 47th Street

Chicago, Illinois 60632

(773) 890-1010

We are an international consumer products company, incorporated in Delaware, that, through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Home Products International North America, Inc., manufactures and markets diversified housewares products. We sell our products through national and regional discounters, hardware and home centers, food and drug stores, juvenile stores and specialty stores. Our web site is located at www.homz.biz. Information contained on our web site is not part of this proxy statement.

JRT Acquisition, Inc.

c/o Home Products International, Inc.

4501 West 47th Street

Chicago, Illinois 60632

(773) 890-1010

JRT Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is a privately held company that was formed solely for the purpose of effectuating the merger agreement and other transactions contemplated thereby. Mr. Tennant is the sole stockholder of JRT. As of June 30, 2004, JRT did not own any of our capital stock and had no business, operations or assets.

Determination and Recommendation of Our Special Committee and Board of Directors (page 20)

Because our chief executive officer and the chairman of our board, Mr. Tennant, is the sole stockholder of JRT, our board formed a special committee of independent and disinterested directors to evaluate, negotiate and, if deemed appropriate, recommend the merger and the terms and conditions of the merger agreement to the entire board of directors. The members of the special committee, Charles Campbell, Daniel Shure and Joel Spungin, are not members, officers, or employees of JRT or Home Products and have no financial interest in the completion of the proposed merger different than that of our stockholders. In addition to their respective ownership of shares of our common stock, each of the members of the special committee holds options to purchase shares of our common stock. None of the members of the special committee holds any positions or has affiliations or

Table of Contents

relationships that we believe would compromise his independence or his ability to carry out his duties as a member of the special committee. For service on the special committee, Mr. Campbell, as chairperson of the special committee, received \$1,300 for each special committee meeting that he attended, and each of Messrs. Shure and Spungin received \$1,000 for each special committee meeting that he attended.

The special committee retained the services of its own financial advisor, Mesirow, and its own legal counsel, Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman. Mesirow conducted an active market search for prospective buyers of Home Products, contacting over 20 strategic buyers and 40 prospective financial buyers over the course of four months. These contacts resulted in indications of interest from only two prospective financial buyers prior to the merger, neither of which developed into formal offers to acquire us. Since June 2, 2004, the date the merger agreement was executed, we have received two additional expressions of interest, which our special committee is reviewing and evaluating.

Among the factors that the special committee took into account in evaluating whether to approve the merger were:

Analysis of our historical results as well as management forecasts and projections, including analyses of certain business risks that we face such as:

Rising prices of our key raw materials, particularly plastic resin, which in 2003 rose by approximately 20%, adding approximately \$10 million to our cost of goods sold in that year, and which continues to rise in 2004;

A heavily concentrated customer base, with three customers accounting for approximately 75% of our sales, and uncertainties surrounding our largest customer, Kmart Corporation;

Limited opportunities to raise prices due to the commodity nature of our products and to pricing pressures imposed by our major big box discount retail customers;

Increased competition, particularly in the laundry sector, from entities that rely heavily on foreign-sourced products, enabling those entities to sell their products at lower prices than ours and adversely affecting our pricing, market share and margins; and

Constraints on our capital-raising ability that limit our ability to increase capacity and introduce new products.

The premium over the current stock price represented by the merger consideration;

The failure, after an extended marketing process that included the special committee s active market search, to identify or to receive in any alternative acquisition proposal or financing arrangement;

Change of control provisions under the indenture for our 9 5/8% Senior Subordinated Notes that appear to have chilled interest by potential acquirers other than Mr. Tennant;

Change of control provisions under Mr. Tennant s employment agreement, dated May 1, 1999, that could significantly increase the cost of a transaction other than the merger;

Limited public float and low trading volume of our stock, making it difficult for our stockholders to dispose of large numbers of shares without adversely affecting our stock price;

The fairness opinion of the special committee s financial advisor;

The increasing costs associated with being a public company; and

The extensive negotiations between JRT and the special committee, and the various protections and rights in the merger agreement that resulted from those negotiations, including provisions that permit us to provide information to, and negotiate with, a person making an unsolicited acquisition proposal or to terminate the merger agreement in favor of a superior proposal, and that allow our special committee and board of directors to withdraw or modify their recommendations of the merger agreement and the merger, if necessary, to comply with their fiduciary duties.

Table of Contents

The special committee reviewed and considered these factors among others, together as a whole without assigning relative weights to specific factors. Based upon consideration of these and other factors and consultation with its financial and legal advisors, the special committee unanimously:

determined that the terms of the merger agreement and the merger are fair to, and in the best interests of, Home Products and our stockholders; and

approved the merger agreement and recommended to the board of directors that the merger agreement be adopted and approved and the merger be approved.

Based on the special committee s review and evaluation of the merger agreement and merger, our board of directors determined that the merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, Home Products and our stockholders and approved the merger agreement and the merger. Due to his interest in the transaction, Mr. Tennant abstained from, and did not participate in, the board s discussions and approval decisions. As a result, the three members of the board of directors who participated in these decisions were the members of the special committee. The board of directors hereby recommends that you vote FOR the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

Opinion of the Special Committee s Financial Advisor (page 23)

One of the factors taken into account by the special committee and the board of directors in arriving at their conclusions was the opinion of Mesirow, the financial advisor to the special committee. Mesirow concluded that, as of June 2, 2004, and based upon and subject to the various qualifications and assumptions described in its opinion, the consideration of \$1.50 per share in cash is fair, from a financial point of view, to our stockholders. Mesirow s full opinion is attached as Appendix B to this proxy statement. We encourage you to read the opinion carefully in its entirety. Mesirow s opinion is directed to the special committee and does not constitute a recommendation to any of our stockholders as to how to vote in connection with the merger.

Position of JRT as to Fairness of the Merger (page 31)

The rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, may require that the members of the JRT Group express their respective beliefs as to the fairness of the merger agreement and the proposed merger to Home Products unaffiliated stockholders. No member of the JRT Group was a part of, or participated in, the discussions of the special committee. Based on their respective beliefs regarding the reasonableness of the conclusions and analyses of the special committee and the board of directors, members of the JRT Group adopted the analyses and conclusions underlying the special committee s and the board of directors fairness determination and believe that the merger consideration is fair to Home Products unaffiliated stockholders.

Purposes of the Merger (page 32)

The purpose of the merger for us is to allow our stockholders to realize their investment in us in cash at a price that represents a premium over recent market prices for their shares. For the reasons stated above in

Determination and Recommendation of Our Special Committee and Board of Directors, our board of directors believes the merger is the best available opportunity to enhance and realize stockholder value. The JRT Group is pursuing the merger to acquire complete ownership of Home Products. It believes that Home Products has positive business prospects and that it will have greater operating flexibility to achieve growth as a private company.

Effects of the Merger (page 33)

Upon completion of the merger, Home Products will be a privately held company, wholly owned by the JRT Group. Accordingly, our current stockholders (other than those who are part of the JRT Group) will not have the right to participate in the earnings or growth of Home Products, if any, or to vote on company matters.

3

Table of Contents

Conversely, JRT will bear the risk of any losses incurred in the operation of Home Products and any decrease in its value. The transaction has been structured as a merger to preserve Home Products identity, goodwill and existing contractual arrangements. As a result of the merger, there will be no public market for Home Products common stock; when we complete the merger, our common stock will cease to be quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market and will no longer be registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Merger Financing (page 38)

JRT has represented and warranted in the merger agreement that it will have sufficient funds available to it at closing of the merger to pay the merger consideration. Home Products and the JRT Group estimate that the total amount of funds required to complete the merger and the related transactions, including the payment of the aggregate merger consideration and all related fees and expenses, will be approximately \$15 million. JRT expects this amount to be provided through the proceeds of a senior secured revolving credit facility, which we refer to as the revolver. Our current lender, Bank of America Business Capital (f/k/a Fleet Capital Corporation), provided JRT on March 15, 2004, with a commitment letter for this revolver, which is attached as Appendix C to this proxy statement.

Indenture (page 40)

On May 14, 1998, Home Products issued \$125 million of 9 5/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2008, which we refer to as the notes . During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, Home Products purchased in the open market notes with an aggregate principal amount of approximately \$8.95 million with the result that, as of June 30, 2004, Home Products had notes outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of approximately \$116.05 million. The indenture governing the terms of the notes contains various restrictions, including restrictions that limit Home Products ability to (1) incur additional indebtedness unless certain financial ratios are met, (2) pay dividends, (3) make certain investments or asset dispositions and (4) redeem its equity. As of June 30, 2004, Home Products was in compliance with all of its obligations under the indenture.

Upon the effectiveness of, and as a result of, the merger, however, Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will be in violation of various covenants under the indenture, as currently in effect, including those limiting our ability to incur additional indebtedness, repurchase shares of our common stock and undertake certain transactions with our affiliates. Home Products and JRT have negotiated with the trustee under the indenture an amended and restated indenture, and expect to obtain requisite approval to the amended and restated indenture from a single investor beneficially owning a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes, whom we refer to as the majority note investor.

The amended and restated indenture relating to the notes will adjust certain economic terms for the holders of the notes and will further limit the operating flexibility of the surviving corporation. These adjustments and restrictions will include the following material terms:

The interest rate under the notes will increase from $9^{5}/8\%$ to $9^{7}/8\%$;

Home Products, as surviving corporation, will not be permitted to incur additional senior debt (other than the amounts under the Bank of America revolver); and

The salaries and bonuses of the officers of Home Products will be limited.

As an inducement to obtain the requisite consent under the indenture, the following was further agreed to:

The holders of the notes will receive a warrant to purchase, in the aggregate, up to 25% of the outstanding common stock of Home Products, as surviving corporation (at the time of exercise), at an exercise price of \$0.01 per share;

The shares of Home Products under the 25% warrant will be entitled to limited registration rights; and

Mr. Tennant will amend his existing employment agreement to reflect various amendments requested by the majority note investor, including waiver of the payments required under the change of control provisions.

4

Table of Contents

Under the indenture as currently in effect, each noteholder has the right to require Home Products to repurchase its notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the note, plus any accrued and unpaid interest upon a change of control. The repurchase rights will not be triggered, however, by an acquisition of a majority of our outstanding voting stock by a permitted holder, defined in the indenture as (i) directors and officers of [Home Products] on the Issue Date [of the notes] and (ii) Chase Venture Capital Associates, L.P. and any Affiliates thereof. Because Mr. Tennant will beneficially own a majority of the outstanding voting stock of Home Products, as the surviving corporation, following the consummation of the merger, and because Mr. Tennant is a permitted holder, consummation of the merger is not expected to trigger the repurchase rights of the noteholders.

The majority note investor may decline to provide its consent to the transaction in its sole discretion. If the indenture is not amended in the manner contemplated by the amended and restated indenture, the merger will not occur.

The Special Meeting

Date, Time, Place, and Purpose (page 34)

The special meeting will be held at our corporate headquarters located at 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632, on , 2004, at 9:00 A.M., local time. At the special meeting, you will be asked to approve and adopt the merger agreement and approve the merger.

Record Date, Voting Rights and Required Votes (page 34)

You are entitled to vote at the special meeting if you were the record holder of our shares as of the close of business on the record date of , 2004. On the record date, there were approximately shares of Home Products common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting. Stockholders will have one vote at the special meeting for each share of common stock they owned of record on the record date.

For the merger agreement to be adopted and approved and the merger to be approved, both company stockholder approval and unaffiliated stockholder approval must be obtained. Company stockholder approval is the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Home Products common stock outstanding as of the record date. Unaffiliated stockholder approval is the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Home Products common stock present or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting either FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and merger, excluding shares of Home Products common stock held by members of the JRT Group.

If your shares are held in street name in an account at a brokerage firm, bank or other nominee, you should provide your broker, bank or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your shares with respect to the merger agreement and merger. If you do not do so, your broker, bank or other nominee will not be permitted to vote your shares, which will result in a broker non-vote for your shares. For purposes of obtaining the company stockholder approval, broker non-votes along with abstentions or the failure to vote will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the adoption and approval of the merger agreement and merger. For purposes of obtaining the unaffiliated stockholder approval, broker non-votes, abstentions, or the failure to vote will have neither the effect of voting FOR the merger agreement and merger nor the effect of voting AGAINST the merger agreement and merger.

As of June 30, 2004, Mr. Tennant held 467,628 shares, or approximately 5.9%, of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Mr. Tennant has not contributed his shares of common stock to JRT and is obligated to hold those shares until their conversion upon the closing of the merger. Mr. Tennant has entered into a voting agreement with us, which is attached as Appendix E to this proxy statement, and all of his shares will be voted in favor of adopting the merger agreement at the special meeting, but none will count in determining whether the unaffiliated stockholder approval has been received. No other single stockholder of ours

Table of Contents

beneficially owns more than 17% of our outstanding common stock entitled to vote as of the record date, and therefore, neither Mr. Tennant nor any other single stockholder will be able to control the outcome of the vote.

The Merger and the Merger Agreement

If the merger agreement and the merger receive company stockholder approval and unaffiliated stockholder approval, and all other conditions contained in the merger agreement are satisfied or waived, JRT will merge with and into Home Products, with Home Products continuing as the surviving corporation. As a result, Home Products will be a privately held company whose owners will be the members of the JRT Group. The merger agreement is attached as Appendix A to this proxy statement. We encourage you to read the merger agreement because it is the legal document that governs the merger.

What You Will Receive (page 37)

If we complete the merger, you will receive \$1.50 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, for each outstanding share of Home Products common stock that you own.

Treatment of Outstanding Stock Options (page 38)

As of June 30, 2004, there were options outstanding for an aggregate of 864,216 shares of our common stock pursuant to our 1987 Stock Option Plan, our 1991 Stock Option Plan, our 1994 Stock Option Plan and our 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Of these stock options, options for an aggregate of 460,016 shares of our common stock were outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Under the provisions of this plan, at the effective time of the merger, Home Products stock options outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan will become fully exercisable. As a result, upon consummation of the merger, all of our outstanding options will be fully exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of \$2.95 (without giving effect to any option terminations prior to the effective time).

The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time of the merger, each holder of stock options with an exercise price of less than \$1.50 who has executed and delivered to us an option cancellation agreement will be entitled to receive, and Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will be obligated to pay, an amount in cash (subject to any applicable withholding of taxes) equal to the product of: (1) the number of shares of Home Products common stock that otherwise would have been issuable upon the exercise of the stock option, multiplied by (2) the excess of \$1.50 over the exercise price per share of the stock option. Options issued under this plan with an exercise price equal to or greater than \$1.50 per share for which option cancellation agreements are executed will be cancelled without any consideration being paid to their holders. Options issued under this plan for which no option cancellation agreements are executed will remain outstanding until an option cancellation agreement is executed, or they terminate or expire in accordance with their terms.

Conditions to Consummation of the Merger (page 53)

The completion of the merger depends on the satisfaction or waiver of a number of conditions, including the following:

The merger agreement and the merger must receive company stockholder approval and unaffiliated stockholder approval;

The representations and warranties of both parties set forth in the merger agreement must be true and correct in all material respects on the date of the merger agreement and the date of consummation of the merger;

No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order or decree issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal or regulatory restraint or prohibition preventing the consummation of the merger or preventing JRT from owning the shares of, or operating any material part of the business of, Home Products, as the surviving corporation, may be in effect;

6

Table of Contents

No suit, action or proceeding asserted by any governmental entity challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the merger, or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, or preventing JRT from owning the shares of, or operating any material part of the business of, Home Products, as the surviving corporation, may be pending or threatened;

We must have purchased a fully prepaid tail policy under our existing directors and officers liability insurance policy that provides for aggregate coverage of at least \$15 million and is effective for six years after the completion of the merger; and

Each party must have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under the merger agreement at or prior to closing the merger.

In addition, JRT will be obligated to consummate the merger only if there is no pending suit, action or proceeding by any governmental entity or other third party asserting non-frivolous claims which, if successful, would prevent:

the completion of the merger;

JRT from owning the shares of Home Products, as surviving corporation; or

JRT from operating any material part of the business of Home Products, as surviving corporation, and its subsidiaries.

Acquisition Proposals (page 57)

We agreed not to:

enter into any agreement with respect to any company takeover proposal (described below);

prior to the approval of the merger agreement by our stockholders, furnish to any person any information with respect to a company takeover proposal, except pursuant to a confidentiality agreement and after proper notice has been provided to JRT of the company takeover proposal;

withdraw or modify, or propose publicly to withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to JRT, the recommendation of the special committee of the merger and the merger agreement, unless the special committee determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that it is necessary to comply with its fiduciary duties; or

approve any letter of intent, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement or similar agreement relating to a company takeover proposal.

If, however, prior to obtaining the approval of our stockholders we receive a superior company proposal, then our board of directors may approve and recommend the superior company proposal and may cause us to terminate the merger agreement and concurrently enter into a definitive agreement providing for the implementation of the superior company proposal if each of the four required conditions to terminating the merger agreement in favor of a superior company proposal has been satisfied. See Termination of the Merger Agreement beginning at page

58.

Under the merger agreement:

the term company takeover proposal means (1) any proposal or offer for a merger, consolidation, dissolution, recapitalization or other business combination involving us or (2) any proposal or offer to acquire in any manner, directly or indirectly, over 20% of our outstanding equity securities or consolidated total assets, other than the transactions set forth in the merger agreement;

the term superior company proposal means any proposal made by a third party to acquire, directly or indirectly, including pursuant to a tender or exchange offer, a merger, a consolidation, a liquidation or dissolution, a recapitalization, a purchase of warrants or otherwise, more than 50% of our stock or all or

7

Table of Contents

substantially all of our assets, on terms that the special committee, after consultation with a financial advisor, determines in good faith to be more favorable to our stockholders than the terms and conditions of the transaction set forth in the merger agreement.

We have agreed to promptly notify JRT, orally and in writing, of any company takeover proposal made to the special committee, including the identity of the party making the company takeover proposal and the material terms of the company takeover proposal, and to keep JRT informed of the status of the company takeover proposal.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (page 58)

The merger agreement may be terminated, and the merger may be abandoned, at any time prior to the closing of the merger:

by mutual written consent of the parties;

by either party if the merger has not closed on or before October 31, 2004, unless the failure to close the merger is the result of a material breach of the merger agreement by the terminating party;

by either party if any governmental entity or court of competent jurisdiction issues a final, non-appealable order or injunction or takes any other final, non-appealable action that prohibits the completion of the merger;

by either party if, at a duly held stockholder s meeting, the required stockholder approvals are not obtained;

by JRT:

if we materially breach any of our representations, warranties or covenants in the merger agreement and the breach causes any of the conditions to closing to be unsatisfied and the breach cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after written notice of the breach is given to us;

if, prior to obtaining the required stockholder approval, the board of directors or the special committee withdraws or modifies, or proposes publicly to withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to JRT, its recommendation regarding the merger;

if, prior to obtaining the required stockholder approval, the board of directors or the special committee amends our Rights Agreement, dated May 21, 1997, by and between Home Products and Chase Mellon Shareholder Services L.L.C., as rights agent, without JRT s approval; or

if, prior to obtaining the required stockholder approval, we enter into a definitive agreement implementing a company takeover proposal.

by us:

if JRT breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties or covenants in the merger agreement and the breach cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after written notice of the breach is given to JRT, or

if, prior to obtaining the required stockholder approval, our board of directors has received a company takeover proposal and each of the following conditions has been satisfied:

the special committee has determined in good faith that the company takeover proposal constitutes a superior company proposal;

at least three days prior to termination, we have provided written notice to JRT of the determination of the special committee;

JRT has not made, within three business days of receipt of the notice, a binding written offer to acquire us that causes the special committee to no longer be able to determine in good faith that the superior company proposal remains a superior company proposal; and

8

Table of Contents

We have reimbursed JRT for all reasonable out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred by JRT in connection with the merger and the merger agreement through the date of such termination up to a maximum reimbursement of \$550,000 less any amounts already paid or reimbursed for expenses incurred in connection with amending the indenture for our notes.

Interests of Home Products Directors and Officers in the Merger (page 42)

When you consider our board of directors recommendation that you vote in favor of the merger agreement and merger, you should be aware that a number of our executive officers and directors have interests in the merger that may be different from, or in addition to, your interests in the merger, including the following:

Mr. Tennant, the sole stockholder of JRT Acquisition, owns 467,628 shares or approximately 5.9% of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of June 30, 2004. Mr. Tennant holds no options to purchase common stock with an exercise price under \$1.50 per share and holds 300,100 stock options with an exercise price greater than \$1.50 per share for which he intends to execute an option cancellation agreement. Mr. Tennant will receive a total of approximately \$700,000 in merger consideration for his shares and no consideration for the cancellation of his stock options. Mr. Tennant will also be entitled to receive approximately \$91,821 in cash under the Executive Incentive Plan as well as additional cash amounts under the Management Incentive Plan. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43;

Mr. Tennant will continue to have an equity interest in Home Products after the merger, will participate in any future earnings, growth or losses of Home Products and will remain chief executive officer and a director of Home Products, as the surviving corporation;

Mr. Tennant s employment agreement entitles him, in the event his employment is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily within 180 days after a change in control of Home Products, to receive:

payment on the date of termination of an amount equal to the difference between (1) \$5 million and (2) the per share value of our common stock at the closing of the change of control transaction minus the exercise price per share of each stock option granted to Mr. Tennant as of the date of his employment agreement multiplied by the number of shares underlying those stock options;

payment within five days after the date of termination of an amount equal to the product of (1) three, multiplied by (2) the sum of salary and bonus earned by Mr. Tennant during each of the preceding two years divided by two; and

payment for any excise tax that may be due under section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto) such that after payment by Mr. Tennant of all taxes, interest and penalties imposed upon him due to the additional payment, he will retain from the additional payments an amount sufficient to pay the excise tax (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto).

Based on the terms of the merger, these amounts are estimated to be approximately \$8 million plus amounts for the reimbursement of any excise, income or other taxes as described above. In addition, Mr. Tennant is also entitled to receive continuing medical and other insurance benefits for the two year period immediately following his termination. Mr. Tennant has informed us that in connection with the amendment to the indenture for the notes, and solely for purposes of the merger, he has agreed to waive his right to receive these change of control benefits.

Our executive officers and directors, other than Mr. Tennant, collectively own 142,717 shares of our common stock. These executive officers and directors hold no options to purchase common stock with an exercise price under \$1.50 per share and we expect all of these executive officers and directors to execute option cancellation agreements for their respective outstanding stock options. If the

merger is consummated, our executive officers and directors, other than Mr. Tennant, will receive an aggregate of

9

Table of Contents

approximately \$215,000 in merger consideration and no consideration for their cancellation of their stock options. In addition, our executive officers other than Mr. Tennant will receive in the aggregate an additional cash amount of approximately \$82,409 under our Executive Incentive Plan as well as additional cash amounts under the Management Incentive Plan. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43;

Each of our executive officers, other than Mr. Tennant, has executed an employment agreement that entitles him to various severance payments if his employment is terminated in connection with a change of control; and

Our executive officers are expected to continue as executive officers of Home Products, as the surviving corporation.

Indemnification and Insurance (page 56)

The merger agreement provides that all of our obligations relating to rights of indemnification and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the merger that exist in favor of Home Products directors or officers as provided in our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, and any of our existing indemnification agreements in effect as of the date of the merger agreement, will be fulfilled and honored by Home Products, as the surviving corporation, after the merger, and will continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. JRT has agreed to cause Home Products, as the surviving corporation, to ensure that the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will contain provisions with respect to liability, indemnification and advancement of expenses that are at least as favorable as those currently in effect for a period of six years from the effective time.

We agreed to purchase, prior to the effective time of the merger, a fully prepaid tail policy under our existing directors and officers liability insurance policy. This tail policy will provide for aggregate coverage of at least \$15 million and be effective for six years after the effective time of the merger. JRT and Home Products further agreed that if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether arising before or after the effective time of the merger, is made against any person covered by our directors—and officers—liability insurance, then the indemnification provisions of the merger agreement will continue in effect until the final disposition of the claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

Appraisal Rights (page 49 and Appendix D)

Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides you with appraisal rights in the merger. This means that if you are not satisfied with the amount you are receiving in the merger, you are entitled to have the value of your shares determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery and to receive payment based on that valuation. The ultimate amount you receive as a dissenting stockholder in an appraisal proceeding may be more or less than, or the same as, the amount you would have received in the merger. To exercise your appraisal rights, you must deliver a written objection to the merger to us at or before the special meeting and you must not vote in favor of approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger. Your failure to follow exactly the procedures specified under Delaware corporate law will result in the loss of your appraisal rights.

Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences (page 47)

The receipt of consideration in the merger will be a taxable transaction to you. In general, for United States federal income tax purposes, your receipt of cash in exchange for your shares of our common stock will cause you to recognize a gain or loss measured by the difference, if any, between the cash you receive in the merger and your adjusted tax basis in your shares of common stock. Tax matters are very complicated and

the tax consequences of the merger to you will depend on the facts of your particular situation. We urge you to consult your own tax advisor as to the specific tax consequences to you of the merger, including the applicable federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences.

The merger of JRT with and into Home Products will be treated for federal income tax purposes as either a purchase by JRT s stockholder of the common stock of Home Products or a redemption by Home Products of its common stock. JRT, being a transitory entity formed for the purpose of effecting the transaction, will be disregarded and will not have any federal income tax consequences as a result of the merger.

10

Table of Contents

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER

AND THE SPECIAL MEETING

Q: Why am I receiving this proxy statement?

A: You are receiving this proxy statement in connection with our solicitation of proxies for our special meeting of stockholders to be held on , 2004. At the special meeting, you will be asked to vote on the approval and adoption of a merger agreement that provides for the merger of JRT with Home Products.

Q: As a holder of common stock, what will I receive in the merger?

A: If the merger is completed and you do not exercise your appraisal rights, you will receive \$1.50 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, for each share of our common stock that you own. For example, if you own 1,000 shares of our common stock, you will receive \$1,500, less any applicable withholding taxes. You can find a more detailed discussion of the terms of the merger in the section of this proxy statement titled. The Merger beginning at page 36.

Q: What is JRT Acquisition, Inc.?

A: JRT is a privately held Delaware corporation formed solely for the purpose of effectuating the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. Mr. Tennant is the sole stockholder of JRT.

Q: Does the board of directors recommend voting in favor of the merger proposal?

A: Yes. After careful consideration, our board of directors and a special committee consisting of independent, disinterested board members have determined that the merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, us and our stockholders. The board and the special committee have approved the merger agreement and the merger and recommend that you vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

Q: Why was the special committee formed?

A: As the sole stockholder of JRT and a stockholder, director and executive officer of Home Products, Mr. Tennant has interests that are different from, and in addition to, your interests in the merger. Accordingly, our board of directors concluded that, in order to protect the interests of our unaffiliated stockholders in evaluating and negotiating the merger agreement, a special committee of independent and disinterested directors who are not officers or employees of JRT or Home Products and who have no financial interest in the merger different from that of Home Products stockholders generally should be formed to perform those tasks and, if appropriate, recommend the terms of the merger agreement and the merger to the entire board.

Q: What vote is required to approve and adopt the merger agreement and approve the merger?

A: The merger agreement and the merger must receive both (1) company stockholder approval, which is the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock and (2) unaffiliated stockholder approval, which is the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting either FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and merger, excluding shares of our common stock held by members of the JRT Group. Mr.

Tennant has entered into a voting agreement with us in which he has agreed to vote shares of our common stock for which he has voting power in favor of the merger, but none of those shares will be counted in determining whether the unaffiliated stockholder approval has been received. Mr. Tennant s outstanding shares represent in the aggregate approximately 5.9% of the shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of June 30, 2004.

11

Table of Contents

- Q. Can the merger agreement be terminated before consummation of the merger?
- A: Yes. The parties may agree to terminate the merger agreement at any time before consummation of the merger. In addition, the merger agreement may be terminated by either party under certain other circumstances.
- Q: What happens if the merger agreement is terminated before consummation of the merger?
- A: Generally, if the merger agreement is terminated, there will be no liability on the part of Home Products, JRT or any of their respective officers and directors. We have agreed to pay all out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the amendment of the indenture for our notes up to a maximum of \$550,000. In addition, if the merger agreement is terminated in favor of a superior company proposal, we will be obligated to reimburse JRT for its out-of-pocket expenses up to a maximum of \$550,000 less any amounts already paid or reimbursed to cover expenses associated with amendment of our indenture.
- Q: What will happen to the market for Home Products common stock after the merger?
- A: At the effective time of the merger, trading in our common stock on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market will cease, and there will no longer be a public market for our common stock. Price quotations for our common stock will no longer be available and the registration of our common stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 will be terminated.
- Q: What will happen to my stock options?
- A: As of June 30, 2004, there were options outstanding for an aggregate of 864,216 shares of our common stock pursuant to our 1987 Stock Option Plan, our 1991 Stock Option Plan, our 1994 Stock Option Plan and our 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Of these stock options, options for an aggregate of 460,016 shares of our common stock were outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Under the provisions of this plan, at the effective time of the merger, Home Products stock options outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan will become fully exercisable. As a result, upon consummation of the merger, all of our outstanding options will be fully exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of \$2.95 (without giving effect to any option terminations prior to the effective time).

The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time of the merger, each holder of stock options with an exercise price of less than \$1.50 who has executed and delivered to us an option cancellation agreement will be entitled to receive, and Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will be obligated to pay, an amount in cash (subject to any applicable withholding of taxes) equal to the product of: (1) the number of shares of Home Products common stock that otherwise would have been issuable upon the exercise of the stock option, multiplied by (2) the excess of \$1.50 over the exercise price per share of the stock option. Options issued under this plan with an exercise price equal to or greater than \$1.50 per share for which option cancellation agreements are executed will be cancelled without any consideration being paid to their holders. Options issued under this plan for which no option cancellation agreements are executed will remain outstanding until an option cancellation agreement is executed, or they terminate or expire in accordance with their terms.

Q: What should I do now in order to vote on the merger?

A: After carefully reading and considering the information contained in this proxy statement, you should vote your shares of our common stock. You may attend the special meeting and vote your shares in person. You also may choose to submit your proxies by any of the following methods:

Voting by Mail. If you choose to vote by mail, simply complete the enclosed proxy card, date and sign it, and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided. Your shares will be voted in accordance with the

Table of Contents

instructions on your proxy card. If you sign your proxy card and return it without marking any voting instructions, your shares will be voted FOR the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

Voting by Telephone. You can vote your shares by telephone by calling the toll-free telephone number provided on the proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, until 5:00 P.M local time on , 2004, and the procedures are designed to authenticate votes cast by using a personal control number located on proxy card. The procedures allow you to appoint a proxy to vote your shares and to confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote by telephone, you should not return your proxy card.

Voting by Internet. You also may vote through the Internet by signing on to the web site identified on the proxy card and following the procedures described in the web site. Internet voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, until 5:00 P.M. local time on , 2004, and the procedures are designed to authenticate votes cast by using a personal control number located on the proxy card. The procedures allow you to appoint a proxy to vote your shares and to confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote through the Internet, you should not return your proxy card.

If you abstain from voting or fail to vote, for purposes of the company stockholder approval, your abstention or failure to vote will have the same effect as voting AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger. For purposes of the unaffiliated stockholder approval, your abstention or failure to vote will have the effect of neither voting FOR nor AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger.

Q: If my shares are held for me by my broker, will my broker vote my shares for me?

A: If you do not provide your broker with instructions on how to vote your shares, your broker will not be able to vote your shares on the merger agreement and the merger. For purposes of the company stockholder approval, this broker non-vote will have the same effect as voting AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger, but for purposes of the unaffiliated stockholder approval, a broker non-vote will have the effect of neither voting FOR nor AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger. You should follow the directions provided by your broker regarding how to instruct your broker to vote your shares. You should also bring proof of your stock ownership if you wish to attend the special meeting.

Q: What if I oppose the merger? Am I entitled to appraisal rights?

A: If you are not satisfied with the amount that you are receiving in this merger, you are entitled under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law to have the value of your shares determined by the Delaware Chancery Court and to receive payment based on that valuation, which may be more or less than, or the same as, what is paid in the merger. To exercise these appraisal rights, you must deliver a written objection to the merger to us at or before the special meeting and you must not vote in favor of approval and adoption of the merger agreement or approval of the merger. Voting against or failing to vote for approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger by itself does not constitute a demand for appraisal. If you hold your shares in a brokerage account or in other nominee form and you wish to exercise appraisal rights, you should consult with your broker or other nominee to determine the appropriate procedures for making a demand for appraisal by the nominee.

If the merger is completed, Home Products, as surviving corporation, will provide the Chancery Court with a duly verified list of the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal of their shares. The Chancery Court will appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger, together with a fair rate of interest. When the value is determined, the Chancery Court will direct the payment of such value, with interest thereon accrued during the pendency of the proceeding, if the Chancery Court so determines, to the stockholders entitled to receive

Table of Contents

the same, upon surrender by such holders of the certificates representing those shares. The text of Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law is attached as Appendix D to this proxy statement.

Q: Can I change my vote?

A: If you are a stockholder of record, you can change your vote in one of the following ways at any time before your proxy is voted at the special meeting:

by written notice to our secretary, stating that you would like to revoke your proxy;

either by completing, signing and submitting a new, later-dated proxy card or following the instructions given for changing your vote by telephone; or

by attending the special meeting and voting in person.

Your attendance at the meeting will not, in and of itself, constitute revocation of a proxy; you must cast an actual vote. If your shares are held in the name of a broker or other nominee and you have directed that person to vote your shares, you must instruct that person if you want to change your vote.

Q: Should I send in my stock certificates now?

- A: No, you should not send in your stock certificates now. If we complete the merger, the paying agent, [], will send you written instructions for exchanging your stock certificates for the cash consideration.
- Q: What if I receive more than one proxy card for the special meeting?
- A: This may mean that your shares of our common stock are registered in different ways or are in more than one account. Please provide voting instructions for all proxy cards you receive to ensure that all of your shares of our common stock are voted at the special meeting.
- Q: When do you expect to complete the merger?
- A: We are working toward completing the merger as quickly as possible after the special meeting. However, in addition to obtaining company stockholder approval and unaffiliated stockholder approval, we must also satisfy other conditions before we can complete the merger.

 Therefore, we cannot predict exactly when we will complete the merger.

Q: What if I have additional questions?

A: If you have questions about the merger, the special meeting or where to send your proxy, or if you would like additional copies of this proxy statement, you should contact our Chief Financial Officer either by writing to Home Products International, Inc., Attn: Chief Financial Officer, 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632, calling (773) 890-1010 or by email at info@homz.biz.

14

Table of Contents

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This proxy statement, including information incorporated by reference into this proxy statement, contains forward-looking statements that are based on our current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections about our business and the merger. These forward-looking statements can generally be identified by use of words including, without limitation, may, will, expects, anticipates, believes, intends, estimates, could or similar expressions.

You should be aware that forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause Home Products actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. These factors include:

the merger may not be completed in a timely manner or at all;

we may be subject to additional litigation in connection with the proposed merger;

uncertainties relating to general economic conditions, cyclical industry, business and social conditions; and

risks, uncertainties and other factors identified in our reports and filings made from time to time with the SEC, including those discussed in Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Business Risks and Management Outlook from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix F.

You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or any other reason after the date of this proxy statement.

15

SPECIAL FACTORS

Background of the Merger

In April 2002, due to a stock price that remained near historically low levels, the challenges faced by us in our business (as discussed below under—Reasons for the Special Committee—s Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger—), as well as increased costs associated with being a public company, we engaged Sawaya Segalas, an investment banking firm, to advise us regarding a possible sale, merger, consolidation or other business combination of Home Products. Sawaya Segalas and our management screened over 400 companies to evaluate potential domestic, foreign, strategic and financial potential acquirers for Home Products. Fifty-three companies were selected to receive the initial marketing materials and 31 companies showed interest in receiving additional information and received a confidential information memorandum regarding Home Products. Of the companies that received further information, seven submitted preliminary non-binding indications of interest. Following a review of the indications of interest, four companies were invited to attend a management presentation in Chicago and given access to detailed due diligence information in a data room. These discussions did not lead to a firm offer from any of the prospective purchasers. Generally, concerns expressed about us included: (1) customer concentration issues, particularly with respect to Kmart; (2) exposure to resin prices; (3) relatively low growth in most of our segments; (4) uncertainty relating to the Martha Stewart scandal and its potential impact on Kmart; and (5) potential financing issues relating to our notes. We terminated our engagement with Sawaya Segalas in September 2003.

At the beginning of October 2003, Mr. Tennant informed the board of directors that he was considering making an offer for Home Products. On October 2, 2003, four of the five members of the board of directors determined that a special committee comprised of our three independent, disinterested directors, Messrs. Campbell, Shure and Spungin, would need to be formed to consider, negotiate and evaluate any proposal that might be forthcoming from Mr. Tennant. These three independent, disinterested directors, informally acting as a special committee of our board of directors until their formal designation as such on December 16, 2003 (and referred to as the special committee throughout the following discussion), then interviewed several law firms and investment banking firms to represent and advise the special committee in connection with any proposal that might be made by Mr. Tennant. Following the interviews and deliberations by the special committee, the special committee decided to retain Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, whom we refer to as KMZR, as counsel to the special committee and Mesirow as financial advisor to the special committee. In mid-October 2003, Mr. Tennant advised the special committee that he was reconsidering whether he would submit a proposal to acquire the company after all, and discussions ceased until early December 2003.

On December 9, 2003, Mr. Tennant sent a letter to the board of directors proposing to acquire all of our publicly held shares for cash consideration of \$1.35 per share. Mr. Tennant sletter proposed that the acquisition would be in the form of a merger of Home Products with a newly formed acquisition entity, and would be conditioned upon, among other things, obtaining the consent of the holders of the outstanding notes to the proposed transaction and an appropriate amendment to our indenture for the notes. Mr. Tennant sletter stated that his proposal was contingent upon us agreeing to be responsible for his transaction costs (including legal fees and expenses and investment banking fees and expenses) and the costs associated with amending the indenture (including the fees and expenses of the noteholders and related legal fees and expenses), regardless of whether a merger was consummated or not. On December 10, 2003, the special committee met with its advisors to consider Mr. Tennant s proposal. At that meeting, the special committee requested that its advisors negotiate with Mr. Tennant and his advisors regarding the realization of a better price for our stockholders and Mr. Tennant s requests that all transaction-related expenses be borne by Home Products.

On December 16, 2003, the board of directors held a regularly scheduled meeting. At that meeting, our management reviewed its final forecast of operating results for the full fiscal year ending December 27, 2003. Our management also presented its budget for the 2004 fiscal year, outlining key financial objectives and assumptions. There was also a discussion of major risks, including resin costs, capacity constraints, potential price wars and risks associated with our major customers. At that meeting, the board of directors formally designated Mssrs. Campbell, Shure and Spungin as the special committee to consider, negotiate and evaluate Mr. Tennant s proposal to acquire Home Products.

16

Table of Contents

On December 16, 2003, following the conclusion of the full board meeting, the special committee and its advisors met with Mr. Tennant, his financial advisor, Stifel Nicolaus and his legal counsel, Vedder, Price Kaufman and Kammholz, to further discuss and negotiate the terms and conditions of Mr. Tennant s proposal. During these negotiations, the special committee sought various concessions from Mr. Tennant, including, among other things, that Mr. Tennant drop his demand that we bear all transaction-related expenses (including those of Mr. Tennant and all expenses related to amending the indenture and negotiations and discussions with the noteholders), and that Mr. Tennant waive the change of control provisions in his existing employment agreement in order to level the playing field for other potential acquirers. Another meeting of the special committee was scheduled for the next day to continue the process of reviewing and considering Mr. Tennant s proposal.

On December 17, 2003, the special committee, along with representatives of its advisors, met with Mr. Tennant and his advisors to continue to consider Mr. Tennant s proposal. At that meeting, our management presented again its financial forecast for 2003 and budget for 2004, for the benefit of the advisors to the special committee and to Mr. Tennant. Discussions continued with Mr. Tennant regarding the concessions sought by the special committee. Mr. Tennant refused, however, to make concessions that the special committee considered to be adequate.

On December 18, 2003, Mr. Tennant sent a letter to the special committee stating that he would not pursue the proposed transaction unless the special committee agreed that Home Products would pay for all expenses relating to the amendment of the indenture, including, without limitation, expenses of counsel for Home Products, Mr. Tennant s counsel, and all expenses of the noteholders in negotiating and completing the indenture amendment, regardless of whether or not the proposed transaction was consummated. In his letter, Mr. Tennant also noted that he had worked with investment bankers in aggressively marketing Home Products on behalf of the board of directors and stockholders in prior years and that, based on that experience, he considered his proposal to be the only viable option for us to deliver value and liquidity to our stockholders for the foreseeable future.

In light of the fairly steady erosion in the market price for our common stock, from \$3.00 earlier in 2003 to \$1.07 on December 18, 2003, the special committee determined that it was in the best interests of Home Products and its stockholders for Mesirow to attempt to identify other potential acquirers and, if possible, for the special committee s advisors to re-start discussions with Mr. Tennant and his advisors to see if agreement could be reached on a potential transaction with Mr. Tennant at a price that would provide both liquidity and a premium for our stockholders. Also on December 18, 2003, the special committee executed a formal engagement letter with Mesirow.

While discussions with Mr. Tennant remained at a standstill, Mesirow began the process of interviewing members of our management team, and assembling and reviewing relevant materials, as it considered necessary to enable Mesirow to identify, evaluate and pursue strategic alternatives.

At a special committee meeting on January 13, 2004, Mesirow presented the special committee with a list of the various opportunities and challenges that the special committee was likely to encounter in attempting to attract third party strategic interest in a potential acquisition of Home Products. Mesirow initially concluded that, despite the many challenges facing Home Products, there was still a possibility of attracting interest, particularly if we were able to restructure certain of our obligations. For example, Mesirow observed that a restructuring of Mr. Tennant s employment agreement to waive or reduce the payments to which he was entitled in the event he terminated his employment after a change of control could help make the company more attractive to potential third party acquirers. At that meeting, Mesirow identified for the special committee approximately 20 prospective strategic buyers and categorized them according to their relative likelihood of interest.

In mid-January 2004, discussion resumed with Mr. Tennant regarding his proposal, and the special committee decided to agree to pay the expenses associated with negotiating an indenture amendment, subject to a reasonable cap, after concluding that the discussions with the noteholders were not only necessary for purposes of Mr. Tennant s proposal but would also facilitate the pursuit of alternative transactions.

On January 20, 2004, Mr. Tennant sent a letter to the special committee in which he proposed that a newly formed acquisition company, Newco, would acquire all of our publicly held shares in a merger transaction in

17

Table of Contents

which each share of our common stock would be exchanged for \$1.50 in cash. Mr. Tennant would be an owner of Newco. His letter stated that his proposal had no financing or due diligence contingency. His letter also stated that his proposal was conditioned, among other things, on:

negotiation of an appropriate amendment to our indenture, with Home Products being responsible for the costs associated with the amendment (including the fees and expenses of our counsel, the fees and expenses of the noteholders and their counsel, and the fees and expenses of Newco and its counsel relating to the amendment), up to an aggregate maximum of \$350,000;

the definitive merger agreement providing for a break up fee equal to 3% of the aggregate consideration of Newco s offer if we terminated the transaction for any reason other than our receipt and acceptance of a bona fide superior offer from a third party or a breach by Newco giving us the right to terminate the proposed merger agreement; and

the definitive merger agreement providing that we would reimburse Newco and Mr. Tennant for all costs and expenses incurred by them if we terminated the proposed transaction for any reason other than a breach by Newco giving us the right to terminate the proposed merger agreement.

Discussions and negotiations continued with Mr. Tennant and his advisors, and later that day he submitted a revised proposal letter. The revised proposal eliminated the break up fee, and among other things, stated that:

Newco would acquire all of our publicly held shares in a merger in which each share would be exchanged for \$1.50 in cash;

Following the consummation of the proposed merger, our noteholders would own warrants giving them the right to acquire stock of the surviving corporation;

To the extent the fees and expenses relating to amendment of our indenture exceeded \$350,000, any excess would be the responsibility of Newco and Mr. Tennant; and

The proposed merger was not subject to any financing or due diligence contingency.

The special committee continued to seek confirmation that Mr. Tennant and Newco had arranged for the financing necessary to consummate the proposed transaction and requested confirmation that Fleet Capital Corporation (now known as Bank of America Business Capital), our senior lender, was willing to finance the proposed transaction on the terms described to the special committee by Mr. Tennant and his advisors. On February 3, 2004, the special committee received a copy of a term sheet from Fleet Capital Corporation with respect to financing the transaction. The special committee requested that its advisors obtain additional information regarding the Fleet Capital financing and negotiate further revisions to Mr. Tennant s proposal, including the expense reimbursements that had been requested by Mr. Tennant and Newco.

On February 4, 2004, the special committee received, reviewed and decided to accept a revised proposal letter from JRT and Mr. Tennant. The revised proposal was executed by us and Mr. Tennant, and was filed as an attachment to our 8-K filing made on February 5, 2004. At its February 23, 2004 meeting with the special committee, Mesirow expanded the list of possible acquirers to 21 prospective strategic buyers and 14 prospective financial buyers, including six financial buyers with strategic portfolio companies. Mesirow contacted each of these prospective buyers, sometimes on several occasions, and followed up with confidentiality agreements to the approximately 22 prospective buyers that indicated an interest. Additional marketing materials were sent to seven prospective buyers after each of them executed confidentiality agreements. As of its March 8, 2004 meeting with the special committee, Mesirow had sent out marketing materials to an additional six prospective buyers. Mesirow also consulted with the special committee on March 17, 2004 on alternative financing arrangements such as a potential recapitalization.

During this active market search, Mr. Tennant would not concurrently negotiate the terms of a definitive merger agreement, indicating that he was not prepared to incur the related expenses. During this period, he did continue to have discussions with the holder of a majority of the notes regarding the amendment of the indenture.

18

Table of Contents

In late March 2004, Home Products received indications of interest from two financial buyers. Within two weeks of submitting their correspondence indicating interest, the two buyers decided to collaborate and submitted a joint indication of interest in early April, which it revised and re-submitted later that month. At a meeting of the special committee on April 14, 2004, Mesirow reported on the status of this joint proposal, as well as discussions with other prospective buyers. The special committee continued to review these matters throughout April 2004. The joint proposal failed, however, when the prospective buyers were unable to reach an agreement with holders of our notes regarding a restructuring of the subordinated debt.

When these two parties failed to reach an agreement with the noteholders, the special committee decided to go forward to attempt to reach a definitive agreement with Mr. Tennant. At that time, Mr. Tennant and JRT revived their condition that, before moving forward to negotiate definitive documentation, we agree to reimburse their legal and other costs associated with the proposed transaction (in addition to the costs associated with amendment of the indenture). The special committee decided to agree to this request, given that the special committee continued to believe that a merger at a price of \$1.50 per share was in the best interests of our stockholders for the reasons discussed below and that the JRT proposal was the only viable proposal to acquire us, subject to three conditions:

- 1) JRT provide the special committee with Fleet s formal, written commitment to finance the transaction;
- 2) JRT provide the special committee with written confirmation from the majority note investor that it had substantially agreed to the amendment to the terms of the notes as necessary to allow the merger transaction with JRT to proceed and as to its willingness to execute final documentation with respect thereto by August 31, 2004; and
- 3) JRT and the special committee reach agreement on the language of a fiduciary out provision for a definitive merger agreement that would give us a broad right to provide information to, and negotiate with, third parties and to terminate the agreement to enter into a superior proposal.

The parties then negotiated the terms of the fiduciary out and the conditions under which we would be obligated to reimburse JRT s and Tennant s expenses. On May 17, 2004, after agreement was reached on these matters and the three conditions established by the special committee had been satisfied, we executed a letter agreement with JRT setting forth our commitment to reimburse Mr. Tennant for JRT s fees and expenses incurred in connection with the proposed transaction up to an aggregate of \$150,000 (in addition to the costs associated with amendment of the indenture).

On May 17, 2004, following the execution of the fee letter, counsel to JRT distributed a draft of a merger agreement to us and our counsel for our review and comment. The special committee and its counsel promptly reviewed this draft and commenced negotiation of the definitive merger agreement and ancillary documents with JRT and its counsel.

On May 24, 2004, the special committee met with representatives of Mesirow and KMZR. Representatives of KMZR summarized the terms of the proposed merger agreement and discussed the open business and legal issues relating to the agreement. Representatives of Mesirow then provided the special committee with a comprehensive review of the exploration of strategic alternatives and Mesirow s financial analysis with respect to the proposed merger. Mesirow reported that it had contacted 23 strategic buyers and 40 financial buyers, including eight financial buyers with portfolio or related investments in strategic companies. Mesirow attributed the lack of interest among strategic buyers to Home Products outstanding debt load and the unwillingness of the holders of the notes to restructure the notes, exposure to price volatility in the resin market, limited pricing power of Home Products commodity products, heavy customer concentration, particularly with Kmart Corporation, the change of control provisions in Mr. Tennant s employment agreement and in the indenture and our relatively poor recent results and prospects. According to Mesirow, our outstanding debt load and the unwillingness of the holders of the notes to restructure the notes, the change of control provisions of both the indenture and Mr. Tennant s employment agreement, price volatility in the resin and steel markets and the commodity nature of our products were among the reasons given by prospective financial buyers for their decision not to go forward. In

Table of Contents

connection with Mesirow s review, the board of directors received the oral opinion of Mesirow that the \$1.50 per share cash consideration to be received by our stockholders in the merger was fair, from a financial point of view, to our stockholders.

From May 24, 2004 through June 1, 2004, the special committee and its counsel continued to negotiate with JRT and its counsel in an effort to reach agreement on the remaining open issues. The special committee also requested that, as a condition to executing a definitive agreement, JRT provide it with a revised commitment letter from Fleet extending the expiration date of the financing commitment.

On June 1, 2004, the special committee had received the revised commitment letter from Fleet and met again with representatives of Mesirow and KMZR. Representatives of KMZR advised the special committee as to the few remaining open issues on the merger agreement. Representatives of Mesirow discussed again their financial analysis and reiterated their oral opinion, confirmed in a written opinion dated June 2, 2004, that as of the date of their opinion and subject to the conditions and assumptions set forth in the opinion, the \$1.50 per cash consideration was fair, from a financial point of view, to our stockholders. At that meeting, the special committee unanimously approved and recommended the merger agreement and the merger, subject to the resolution of the remaining open issues, on the terms proposed by the special committee.

On the morning of June 2, 2004, 2004, our entire board of directors, consisting of the members of the special committee and Mr. Tennant, held a meeting to consider whether to approve the merger agreement and the merger. The advisors to the special committee were also present at, and participated in, this meeting. With Mr. Tennant abstaining from the deliberations and voting, the board approved the merger agreement, the merger and related documents, subject to JRT s agreement to resolve one remaining open issue, on the terms that had been proposed by the special committee. Later that day, JRT agreed to accept the special committee s proposal on this open matter, and the parties executed the definitive merger agreement and ancillary documents.

Since June 2, 2004, the date the merger agreement was executed, our special committee has received two additional expressions of interest, which the special committee is reviewing and evaluating.

Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger

The special committee unanimously determined that the terms of the merger agreement and the merger are fair to, and in the best interests of, Home Products and its stockholders. The special committee approved the merger agreement and recommended to the board of directors that the merger agreement be adopted and approved and the merger be approved. Based on the special committee s analysis and recommendation, the board of directors recommends that our stockholders vote FOR the adoption and approval of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

In making its recommendation to the board of directors, the special committee considered a number of factors that it believed supported its recommendation that the transaction is fair, procedurally and substantively, to our stockholders, including, but not limited to, the following factors:

Review of operations, forecasts and projections. The special committee reviewed our historical results of operations, financial condition, assets, liabilities, business strategy and available sources of financing, as well as certain forecasts and projections prepared by our senior management. This review indicated that there were and are significant business risks confronting us. The special committee considered these risks, among others, in evaluating the merger.

Rising prices of our two key raw materials, plastic resin and steel, combined with an inability in our relatively inelastic market to pass on the costs of these price increases to customers, would further erode our already slim margins. We are particularly affected because of the relatively high proportion of our costs of goods allocated to our raw materials. Plastic resin has historically represented approximately 20-25% of our cost of goods sold. In 2003, the price of plastic resin rose by approximately 20%, increasing this proportion to around 30% and adding approximately \$10 million to our cost of goods sold that was not recoverable from our customers. In the first quarter of 2004, plastic resin costs increased an additional 11%, adding approximately \$1.6 million to our cost of goods sold.

20

Table of Contents

Our heavily concentrated customer base, with three customers accounting for approximately 75% of our sales, has been adversely affected by the uncertainty surrounding the bankruptcy and subsequent store closings of our biggest customer, Kmart Corporation, which was responsible for 33% of our 2003 sales.

The commodity nature of our products and pricing pressures imposed by our major big box discount retail customers limit our ability to price our products at a premium and cause margins to remain thin.

Increased competition, particularly in the laundry sector, from entities that rely heavily on foreign-sourced products, enable these entities to sell their products at lower prices than ours and adversely affect our pricing, market share and margins.

Constraints on our capital raising ability limit our ability to increase capacity and introduce new products.

Merger consideration premium. The merger consideration of \$1.50 per share represents (1) a premium of approximately 20% over the \$1.25 closing sale price for our shares on June 1, 2004, the last trading day before the announcement of execution of the merger agreement, (2) a premium of approximately 22% over the \$1.23 closing sale price for our shares on February 5, 2004, the date we filed a Form 8-K with the SEC announcing JRT s offer to acquire us and (3) a premium of approximately 17% over the \$1.28 average closing sale price for our shares for the thirty days prior to the announcement of execution of the merger agreement.

Active market search. As described above in Background of the Merger, the special committee and its financial advisor engaged in an extensive active market search process to identify potential strategic and financial acquirers, contacting over 60 potential buyers. Prior to execution of the merger agreement, this search resulted in indications of interest from only two potential buyers, neither of which developed into firm offers. See Background of the Merger beginning at page 16.

Change of control provisions under the indenture. The indenture for our notes provides the noteholders with the right to require us to repurchase the notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest in the event of certain change of control transactions. If all of our noteholders exercised this right, we would be obligated to pay over \$117.2 million upon a change of control. The repurchase rights will not be triggered, however, by an acquisition of a majority of our outstanding voting stock by a permitted holder, defined in the indenture as (i) directors and officers of [Home Products] on the Issue Date [of the notes] and (ii) Chase Venture Capital Associates, L.P. and any Affiliates thereof. Because Mr. Tennant will beneficially own a majority of the outstanding voting stock of Home Products, as the surviving corporation, following the consummation of the merger, and because Mr. Tennant is a permitted holder, consummation of the merger is not expected to trigger the repurchase rights of the noteholders. This exception to the change of control provisions, which weighed in favor of the merger, was taken into account by the special committee. See The Merger Indenture beginning at page 40.

Change of control provisions under Mr. Tennant s employment agreement. Mr. Tennant s employment agreement entitles him, in the event his employment is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily within 180 days after a change of control of Home Products, to receive:

payment on the date of termination of an amount equal to the difference between (1) \$5 million and (2) the per share value of our common stock at the closing of the change of control transaction minus the exercise price per share of each stock option granted to Mr. Tennant as of the date of the employment agreement multiplied by the number of shares underlying those stock options;

payment within five days after the date of termination of an amount equal to the product of (1) three, multiplied by (2) the sum of salary and bonus earned by Mr. Tennant during each of the preceding two years divided by two; and

payment for any excise tax that may be due under section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect there to) such that after payment by Mr. Tennant of all taxes,

21

Table of Contents

interest and penalties imposed upon him due to the additional payment, he will retain from the additional payments an amount sufficient to pay the excise tax (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto).

Based on the terms of the merger, these amounts are estimated to be approximately \$8 million plus amounts for the reimbursement of any excise, income, or other taxes as described above, all of which the special committee took into account in evaluating the likelihood that third-party offers would be able to be competitive with the terms of the merger. In addition, Mr. Tennant will be entitled to receive continuing medical and other insurance benefits for the two year period immediately following his termination. Mr. Tennant has informed us that in connection with the amendment to the indenture for the notes, and solely for purposes of the merger, he has agreed to waive his right to receive these change of control benefits. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.

Limited liquidity for our stock. The special committee took into account the limited public float and low trading volume of our common stock, the small number of market makers and the lack of institutional research coverage relating to Home Products. These factors make it difficult for our stockholders to dispose of large numbers of shares without adversely affecting our stock price. In the special committee s view, these factors made the merger consideration contemplated by the merger agreement preferable to the alternative of subjecting the stockholders to the risk of declining stock performance or the risk of being unable to sell our shares without triggering a significant adverse impact on the stock price.

Fairness opinion. The special committee reviewed and adopted the opinion of its financial advisor, Mesirow, that as of June 2, 2004 and based upon and subject to the various qualifications and assumptions described in Mesirow s opinion, the consideration to be received by our stockholders in the merger was fair to the stockholders from a financial point of view. The special committee also considered the analyses presented by Mesirow to the special committee, which it reviewed as a whole, without weighing or emphasizing each analysis separately.

Costs associated with being a public company. The special committee compared the costs involved with being a public company, including the costs of filing periodic reports and complying with the proxy rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the costs of compliance with the enhanced governance and disclosure regimes under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to the benefits of being a public company. It concluded that the benefits that we and our stockholders should derive from being a public company were not being realized and did not justify continuing to incur the substantial costs associated with being public.

Extensive negotiation. The special committee also took into account the extensive negotiations between it and its financial and legal advisors, on the one hand, and JRT and its financial and legal advisors on the other hand, including the fact that the negotiations:

involved a special committee of independent and disinterested directors, who had no financial interest in the merger that was different from our stockholders generally, representing Home Products, and that the special committee retained and received advice from its own independent legal and financial advisors, and devoted extensive time and attention to, evaluating, negotiating and recommending the terms of the merger agreement;

provided Home Products with the right to provide information to, and negotiate with, a person making an unsolicited acquisition proposal;

provided Home Products with the right to terminate the merger agreement to accept a superior company proposal; and

provided our board of directors with the right to withdraw or modify its recommendation of the merger agreement and the merger if the board, in good faith after consultation with counsel, concluded that it was necessary to do so to comply with its fiduciary duties.

Table of Contents

The special committee also considered a variety of risks and other potentially negative factors concerning the merger, including the following:

the possibility that the merger would not be consummated and the resulting effects of a failed transaction;

the fact that, following the merger, our current stockholders (other than members of the JRT Group) will cease to participate in any future earnings growth or benefit from an increase in value of Home Products; and

the tax consequences to our stockholders upon their receipt of the merger consideration.

The special committee nonetheless concluded that these potentially negative factors, including the loss of opportunity to participate in future earnings growth or increase in value of Home Products, were adequately compensated for by the merger consideration and the fact that our stockholders (other than members of the JRT Group) will no longer be exposed to the business risks faced by Home Products and the risks associated with holding relatively illiquid stock and the increasing costs of being a public company.

The foregoing discussion includes all of the material factors considered by the special committee in reaching its conclusions and recommendations, but is not meant to be exhaustive. In view of the variety of factors considered in reaching its determination, the special committee did not find it practicable to, and did not, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to specific factors considered in reaching its conclusions and recommendations. In addition, individual members of the special committee may have given differing weights to different factors. The special committee s determination was made after considering all of the factors together as a whole.

Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger

Our board of directors consists of four directors, three of whom served on the special committee. At the June 2, 2004 meeting of the board, based upon the factors considered by the special committee, our board of directors concluded that these factors supported the special committee s conclusions and adopted the special committee s fairness determination. Due to his interest in the transaction, Mr. Tennant abstained from the board s determination and approval decisions. As a result, the three members of the board of directors who were participating in these decisions were the members of the special committee. The board of directors recommends that you vote FOR the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

Opinion of the Special Committee s Financial Advisor

The special committee retained Mesirow to act as its financial advisor in connection with the proposed merger. As part of its engagement, the special committee asked Mesirow to render a fairness opinion relating to the merger. On June 1, 2004, Mesirow delivered to the special committee its oral opinion, noting that such opinion would be delivered in writing the next morning, to the effect that, based upon and subject to the assumptions and qualifications stated in its opinion, the \$1.50 per share merger consideration to be received by Home Products stockholders in connection with the merger pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders.

The full text of Mesirow s written opinion, dated June 2, 2004, is attached as Appendix B to this proxy statement and is incorporated by reference. You are urged to read the entire opinion carefully to learn about the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters

considered and limits on the scope of the review undertaken by Mesirow in rendering its opinion. Mesirow s opinion relates only to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to Home Products stockholders of the per share merger consideration to be received by such stockholders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement, does not address any other aspect of the proposed merger or any related transaction and does not constitute a recommendation to any stockholder as to how that stockholder should vote with respect to the approval of the merger agreement

or the merger. The following summary of Mesirow s opinion is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion. Mesirow s opinion was directed to the special committee for its benefit and use in evaluating the fairness of the merger consideration.

In connection with Mesirow s review of the proposed merger and the preparation of its opinion, Mesirow examined:

a draft of the merger agreement;

the audited financial statements of Home Products for the three years ended December 27, 2003;

the unaudited financial statements of Home Products for the three months ended March 27, 2004;

certain internal business, operating and financial information and forecasts of Home Products, prepared by the senior management of Home Products, and certain projections of Home Products, which we refer to collectively as the projections;

information regarding publicly available financial terms of certain other change of control transactions Mesirow deemed relevant;

the financial position and operating results of Home Products compared with those of certain other publicly traded companies Mesirow deemed relevant;

existing and historical market prices and trading volumes of Home Products common stock;

the terms of the employment agreement dated May 19, 1999 between Home Products and Mr. Tennant, as amended;

Home Products annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, Home Products quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 27, 2004 and certain other publicly available information relating to Home Products and the industry in which it conducts its business; and

such other materials and information Mesirow deemed relevant.

Mesirow held discussions with members of the senior management of Home Products to discuss the foregoing. Mesirow also met with the special committee and the special committee is legal counsel to discuss the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the results of its analysis and examination. In addition, Mesirow considered other matters and performed the due diligence that it deemed relevant to its inquiry and took into account the accepted financial and investment banking procedures and considerations that it deemed relevant or appropriate.

In rendering its opinion, Mesirow assumed and relied upon, with the consent of the special committee and without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of all the information examined by or otherwise reviewed or discussed with Mesirow for purposes of its opinion, including, without limitation, the projections. Mesirow was advised by the senior management of Home Products that the projections had been reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the senior management of Home Products. In that regard, Mesirow assumed, with the consent of the special committee, that the projections will be achieved and that all material assets and

liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Home Products are as set forth in Home Products financial statements or other information made available to Mesirow. Mesirow expressed no opinion with respect to the projections or the estimates and judgments on which they were based.

Mesirow also assumed that all material governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement will be obtained without any adverse effect on Home Products or on the expected benefits of the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement and that the merger will be consummated on the terms described in the merger agreement, without any waiver of any material terms or conditions by Home Products or JRT. Furthermore, with the consent of the special committee, Mesirow assumed that the executed form of the merger agreement conforms in all material respects to the last draft of the merger agreement reviewed by Mesirow.

Table of Contents

Mesirow did not make or obtain an independent valuation or appraisal of the assets, liabilities or solvency of Home Products. Furthermore, Mesirow s opinion does not address the relative merits of the merger as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for Home Products or the effect of any other transaction in which Home Products might engage. Mesirow assumed without verification the accuracy and adequacy of the legal advice given by counsel to Home Products and by counsel to the special committee on all legal matters.

Mesirow did not express any opinion as to the price at which Home Products common stock would trade at any future time. Those trading prices could be affected by a number of factors, including but not limited to:

changes in the prevailing interest rates and other factors that generally influence the price of securities;

adverse changes in the current capital markets;

the occurrence of adverse changes in the financial condition, business, assets, results of operations or prospects of Home Products or in the product markets it serves;

any necessary actions by or restrictions of federal, state or other governmental agencies or regulatory authorities; and

timely completion of the merger on the terms and conditions that are acceptable to all parties at interest.

Mesirow s opinion was based upon economic, market, financial and other conditions existing on, and other information disclosed to Mesirow as of, the date of the opinion. Although subsequent developments may affect its opinion, Mesirow does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses performed and material factors considered by Mesirow to arrive at its opinion. Mesirow performed certain procedures, including each of the financial analyses described below, and reviewed with the special committee the assumptions upon which such analyses were based, as well as other factors. The summary does not purport to describe all of the analyses performed or factors considered by Mesirow in this regard.

Comparable Public Company Analysis

Mesirow performed a comparable public company analysis as part of its examination of the fairness of the consideration to be provided in the merger. A comparable public company analysis provides a method to estimate the value of a company based on the prices at which the common stock of other comparable companies trade in the market. A comparable public company analysis is based on the proposition that the enterprise value and the equity value of comparable companies is a useful way to estimate the value of a company. A comparable public company analysis involves dividing the enterprise value (the total shares of stock outstanding multiplied by the stock price per share plus all outstanding debt net of cash) or the equity value (the total shares of stock outstanding multiplied by the stock price per share), as the case may be, of each comparable company by relevant operating measures (for example, revenues, EBITDA, EBIT or book value) of that company to determine valuation multiples for the comparable companies. The resulting range of multiples may then be compared to corresponding multiples for the target company, which are calculated based on the proposed per share merger consideration.

Mesirow reviewed and compared certain financial information relating to Home Products to corresponding financial information, ratios and public market multiples for certain publicly traded companies with operations in the relevant industry. The comparable companies selected by Mesirow were Knape & Vogt Manufacturing Co., Lifetime Hoan Corporation, Myers Industries, Newell Rubbermaid, Inc. and Tupperware Corporation. Mesirow selected these companies because they are the publicly traded companies that engage in businesses reasonably comparable to Home Products business.

In the comparable company analysis, Mesirow calculated for the comparable company group their multiples of enterprise value to revenue, EBITDA and EBIT, and multiples of equity value to book value. EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and EBIT refers to earnings before

25

interest and taxes. LTM as used in the table below, refers to the last 12 months. The operating results and the corresponding derived multiples for the comparable companies were based on the latest 12-month period using each company s most recent available publicly disclosed financial information and closing share prices as of May 21, 2004.

Mesirow also calculated for Home Products its multiples of enterprise value to revenue, EBITDA and EBIT, and multiples of equity value to book value. Mesirow calculated the Home Products multiples based on three separate financial periods: (1) fiscal year 2003 (actual), (2) the latest 12-month period using the most recently available publicly disclosed financial information and (3) fiscal year 2004, as projected by Home Products management. In each case, the multiples were based on the proposed \$1.50 per share merger consideration.

After calculating the multiples for the comparable company group and for Home Products, as described above, Mesirow compared the range of multiples derived for the comparable company group with the three categories of multiples calculated for Home Products. Information regarding the range of multiples from Mesirow s analysis of selected comparable publicly traded companies and corresponding multiples for Home Products based on the proposed per share merger consideration is set forth in the following table:

	Com	Comparable Company		Home Products			
	Multi	Multiple Range (LTM)			Multiple at \$1.50 Per Share		
				2003		2004	
Multiple	Low	Median	High	Actual	LTM	Projected	
Enterprise Value/Revenue	0.57x	1.05x	1.45x	0.55x	0.54x	0.58x	
Enterprise Value/EBITDA	6.6x	8.9x	12.6x	7.9x	6.7x	9.2x	
Enterprise Value/EBIT	13.6x	14.1x	17.6x	17.3x	12.2x	22.9x	
Equity Value/Book Value	1.4x	2.8x	4.4x	1.9x	1.9x	NM	

None of the selected companies is identical to Home Products. Accordingly, any analysis of the selected comparable publicly traded companies necessarily involved complex consideration and judgments concerning the differences in financial and operating characteristics and other factors that would necessarily affect the analysis of trading multiples of the selected comparable publicly traded companies.

Comparable Transactions Analysis

Mesirow also performed an analysis of selected recent change of control transactions in the relevant industry based on publicly available information as part of its testing of the fairness of the consideration to be provided in the merger. A comparable transactions analysis is based on the idea that the prices paid in comparable transactions provide a basis to estimate the value of a similar company. A comparable transactions analysis involves dividing the enterprise value paid in each comparable transaction by relevant operating measures (for example, revenues, EBITDA or EBIT) for the company that was acquired to determine valuation multiples from the transaction. The resulting range of multiples may then be compared to corresponding multiples for the target company, which are calculated based on the proposed per share merger consideration.

In total, Mesirow examined 17 transactions that were chosen based on Mesirow s judgment that they were generally comparable, in whole or in part, to the proposed merger. The selected transactions were not intended to be representative of the entire range of possible transactions in the

industry. The 17 transactions examined were (target/acquirer):

DMI Furniture Inc./Flexsteel Industries, Inc.;

Lehigh Consumer Products Corp./Jarden Corp.;

Pillowtex Corp/GGST LLC;

Woodcraft Industries, Inc./Behrman Capital;

American Saw & Manufacturing Co./Newell Rubbermaid Inc.;

26

Diamond Brands Operating Corp./Jarden Corp.;

Hunt Corporation/The Berwind Company;

CBK, Ltd., LLC/Blyth Inc.;

Omega Group/Fortune Brands;

Anchor Hocking Corp./Libbey Inc.;

Brown Jordan International Inc./Winsloew Furniture;

Springs Industries, Inc./Heartland Industrial Partners, LP;

Mikasa Inc/JG Durand Industries;

McKechnie Ltd./Newell Rubbermaid Inc.;

Rubbermaid Inc./Newell Co.;

First Brands Corporation/The Clorox Company; and

Dow Chemical Dowbrands/SC Johnson & Sons Inc.

Mesirow reviewed the consideration paid in the selected comparable transactions in terms of the enterprise value of such transactions as a multiple of revenue, EBITDA and EBIT, based on the most recent publicly available information for the latest 12 months preceding each transaction date. Mesirow then compared the multiples derived in this analysis with corresponding multiples for Home Products based on three separate financial periods: (1) fiscal year 2003 (actual), (2) the latest 12-month period using the most recently available publicly disclosed financial information and (3) fiscal year 2004, as projected by Home Products management. In each case, the multiples were based on the proposed \$1.50 per share merger consideration. Information regarding the range of multiples from Mesirow s analysis of comparable transactions and corresponding multiples for Home Products based on the proposed per share merger consideration is set forth in the following table:

	Comp	Comparable Transaction		Home Products			
	Multi	Multiple Range (LTM)			Multiple at \$1.50 Per Share		
Multiple	Low	Median	High	2003 Actual	LTM	2004 Projected	
Enterprise Value/Revenue	0.41x	1.12x	2.38x	0.55x	0.54x	0.58x	
Enterprise Value/EBITDA	5.1x	7.7x	16.0x	7.9x	6.7x	9.2x	
Enterprise Value/EBIT	6.0x	9.8x	23.8x	17.3x	12.2x	22.9x	

Although Mesirow utilized the multiples implied by the selected transactions to derive the range of implied per share equity values of Home Products, none of these transactions or associated companies is identical to the merger or Home Products. Accordingly, any analysis of the selected comparable transactions necessarily involved complex considerations and judgments concerning the differences in financial and operating characteristics, parties involved and terms of their transactions and other factors that would necessarily affect the merger value of Home Products versus the merger values of the companies in the selected comparable transactions.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

As an additional step in the valuation process, Mesirow performed a discounted cash flow analysis to test the fairness of the consideration to be provided in the merger. A discounted cash flow analysis provides a method to estimate the value of a company based upon projected future cash to be generated by the company. A discounted cash flow analysis is based on the theory that the value of a company is equal to the amount of cash that it will generate in the future in excess of future expenses. In conducting a discounted cash flow analysis, the amounts of money that the company is projected to earn in the future (reflecting amounts in excess of projected

27

future expenses) are added together. Projected excess cash is then reduced, or discounted, by applying a range of discount rates to reflect the fact that the money will be received in the future and is therefore less valuable from a current point of view. The amounts generated by this calculation are then added to a range of discounted projected terminal values for the company, which are estimates of the value of the company at the end of the period for which earnings projections are available and which have been similarly discounted using a range of discount rates. The group of sums of these numbers is the range of estimated values of the company and can be compared to the amount of consideration that will be paid in the merger. If the amount of consideration to be paid in the merger is within or greater than the range of numbers calculated in the discounted cash flow analysis, this analysis would support a conclusion that the merger consideration is fair to the unaffiliated stockholders.

Mesirow utilized the projections to perform a discounted cash flow analysis of Home Products projected future cash flows for the fiscal years 2004 through 2008. Using discounted cash flow methodology, Mesirow calculated the present values of the projected cash flows for Home Products. Mesirow aggregated (1) the present value of the free cash flows over the applicable forecast period with (2) the present value of the range of terminal values. In this analysis, Mesirow assumed terminal value multiples of 7.0x to 9.0x 2008 EBITDA and discount rates of 12% to 20%. The discounted cash flow analysis conducted by Mesirow, after subtracting Home Products net debt at December 31, 2003, produced implied per share equity values for Home Products as follows:

Discount Rate	Terminal 2008 EBITDA	Implied Per Share Equity Value Range
	Multiple	
12% 20%	7.0x 9.0x	\$6.67 to \$1.20

In comparing the range of estimated values using the discounted cash flow analysis to the proposed per share merger consideration, Mesirow noted that the proposed per share merger consideration was significantly above the range of estimated values derived from this analysis. It should be noted that the discounted cash flow analysis performed by Mesirow was done to assess our market value. We also assess the value of long-lived assets in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. There are fundamental differences in these two analyses, such as the use of discounted, as opposed to undiscounted, cash flows and the inclusion of interest expense in the Mesirow analysis.

Leveraged Buyout Analysis

Mesirow also utilized a leveraged buyout analysis to test the fairness of the consideration to be provided in the proposed transaction. A leveraged buyout analysis is a means of estimating the value of a company based on how much a financial buyer would be willing to pay for the company in a transaction in which a majority of the purchase price is borrowed. A leveraged buyout analysis is based on the theory that a company s value equals the amount a potential purchaser would be willing to pay to acquire control of it. A number of assumptions underlie a leveraged buyout analysis, including assumptions as to the amount of profits, or return, the financial buyer would expect to receive from its ownership of the company (calculated as a percentage of the amount of money the financial buyer would be required to invest in the transaction), the amount of time the financial buyer would be willing to own the company before selling it to lock in the buyer s profits, and the amount of money that the financial buyer could borrow (in reliance on the credit of the company) in order to fund a portion of the purchase price in the theoretical leveraged buyout. In conducting a leveraged buyout analysis, the return that the financial buyer would receive from the transaction is estimated based on the company s projections of future profits and amounts of money that its business will generate and the estimated sales price when the financial buyer sells the business in the future. Based on the amount of profits that the financial buyer would receive from the transaction and the amount of the purchase price that the financial buyer could borrow (as opposed to paying from his or her own funds), this analysis calculates the maximum price that the financial buyer would be able to pay for the company and still receive its expected return. The maximum price represents an estimate of the value of the company that can be compared to the amount of consideration to be paid in the merger.

28

Table of Contents

Mesirow prepared a leveraged buyout analysis that was based upon the projections and assumed a hypothetical transaction date of December 31, 2003. In this analysis, Mesirow assumed the following for 2005 through 2008:

annual net sales of 3%;
gross margin consistent with 2004 estimates of 16%;
selling, general and administrative expense growth of 2% annually;
depreciation and amortization consistent with 2004 estimates of \$8.9 million;
capital expenditures held constant at \$5.0 million per year; and
working capital held constant at 10% of net sales.

After performing this analysis, assuming debt of 4.5x EBITDA, Mesirow concluded that it would be difficult for a non-strategic financial buyer to consummate a leveraged buyout transaction without a 30% to 40% discount on the purchase of Home Products notes because the transaction would result in unacceptable equity returns.

General

The preparation of an opinion regarding fairness is a complex analytic process involving various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances, and, therefore, such an opinion is not readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. The preparation of a fairness opinion does not involve a mathematical evaluation or weighing of the results of the individual analyses performed, but requires Mesirow to exercise its professional judgment, based on its experience and expertise, in considering a wide variety of analyses taken as a whole. Each of the analyses conducted by Mesirow was carried out in order to provide a different perspective on the proposed merger and add to the total mix of information available. Mesirow did not form a conclusion as to whether any individual analysis, considered in isolation, supported or failed to support an opinion about the fairness of the merger consideration. Rather, in reaching its conclusion, Mesirow considered the results of the analyses in light of each other and ultimately reached its opinion based on the results of all analyses taken as a whole. Mesirow did not place particular reliance or weight on any particular analysis, but instead concluded its analyses, taken as a whole, supported its determination. Accordingly, notwithstanding the separate factors summarized above, Mesirow believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and the factors considered by it, without considering all analyses and factors, may create an incomplete view of the evaluation process underlying its opinion. No company or transaction used in the above analyses as a comparison is directly comparable to Home Products or the merger. In performing its analyses, Mesirow made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, business and economic conditions and other matters. The analyses performed by Mesirow are not necessarily indicative of future actual values and future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by such analyses.

Mesirow is widely recognized as an investment banking firm. As part of its investment banking business, Mesirow is regularly engaged in structuring financings and the valuations of businesses and their securities in connection with mergers, acquisitions, leveraged buyout transactions, management buyouts, competitive biddings, restructuring transactions and private equity and debt placements. In the ordinary course of its business, Mesirow and its affiliates may from time to time actively trade the securities of Home Products for its own account or for

the accounts of customers, and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in these securities.

The special committee hired Mesirow based on its qualifications and expertise in providing financial advice to companies and its reputation as a widely recognized securities firm. Pursuant to a letter agreement dated December 18, 2003, Mesirow has been paid fees totaling \$300,000 for its role as financial advisor to the special committee. Under the terms of the letter agreement, in the event that Home Products is sold to a party unrelated

29

Table of Contents

to the proposed transaction, then Mesirow is entitled to an additional success fee in the amount of \$450,000. In addition, Home Products has agreed to promptly reimburse Mesirow upon request for all of Mesirow s reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with its services to the special committee under the letter agreement, including the reasonable fees and expenses of Mesirow s legal counsel. Home Products has also agreed to indemnify Mesirow against potential liabilities relating to or arising out of its engagement.

Projections

We do not, as a matter of course, make public projections as to future sales, earnings or other results. In connection with the merger, however, our management prepared and provided in December of 2003 to Mesirow the projections that are summarized below. These projections have not been updated for actual results subsequent to the year ended December 27, 2003. This information, which was not prepared with a view to public disclosures, is included in this document for the limited purpose of providing stockholders access to the financial projections considered by the special committee and by Mesirow in rendering its opinion.

The projections below are or involve forward-looking statements and are based upon a variety of assumptions, including our ability to achieve strategic goals, objectives and targets over the applicable periods. These assumptions involve judgments with respect to future economic, competitive and regulatory conditions, financial market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. Many important factors, in addition to those discussed elsewhere in this proxy statement, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These factors include our competitive environment, economic and other market conditions in which we operate and matters affecting business generally, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the projections are indicative of our future performance or that actual results will not differ materially from those in the projections set forth below. See Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward Looking Statements beginning at page 15.

We are not entitled to rely on the safe harbor protection of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the forward looking statements contained in these projections. However, in light of the uncertainties inherent in projections of any kind, the inclusion of these projections in this proxy statement should not be regarded as a representation by us, the board of directors, the special committee, or any of our or their respective advisors, agents or representatives that these projections will prove to be correct.

The financial projections set forth below include EBITDA, EBIT and EBT. We define EBITDA as net earnings (loss) before interest expense, income tax expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization, EBIT as net earnings (loss) before interest expense and income tax expense and EBT as net earnings (loss) before income tax expense. EBITDA, EBIT and EBT are non-GAAP measures and should not be considered an alternative to any other measure of performance presented in accordance with GAAP. You should not consider EBITDA, EBIT or EBT in isolation from, or as a substitute for, net earnings (loss), cash flows from operating activities and other consolidated income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP, or as a measure of profitability or liquidity. EBITDA, EBIT and EBT are presented in the projections because our management believes that they could be useful for investors in assessing projected operating performance and projected performance relative to financial obligations. In addition, EBITDA and EBIT are measures commonly used by financial analysts because of their usefulness in evaluating operating performance. EBITDA, EBIT and EBT, as used by us, are not necessarily comparable with similarly titled measures of other companies because all companies do not calculate EBITDA, EBIT and EBT in the same fashion.

This prospective financial information was not prepared with a view toward compliance with published guidelines of the SEC or the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for preparation and presentation of prospective financial information. The prospective financial information included in this proxy statement has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of, our management. Our independent registered public accountant, KPMG, LLP, has neither examined nor compiled the accompanying prospective financial information and, accordingly, KPMG, LLP does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto.

	2004 Buo	2004 Budget	
	\$	%	
Net sales	\$ 223,663	100.0%	
Gross profit	35,866	16.0%	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	29,720	13.3%	
Amortization of Intangibles	504	0.2%	
Operating Income	5,642	2.5%	
Other income (expense)	0	0.0%	
EBIT	5,642	2.5%	
Interest expense	(13,353)	(6.0%)	
EBT	(7,711)	(3.5%)	
Income tax expense	(150)	(0.1%)	
Net loss before special charges	(7,861)	(3.6%)	
Restructuring costs	(1,250)	(0.6%)	
Net loss	(\$ 9,111)	(4.2%)	
EBITDA	\$ 14,020	6.3%	
Loss per share	(\$ 1.14)		

Position of the JRT Group as to the Fairness of the Merger

The rules of the SEC may require that each member of the JRT Group express its respective belief as to the fairness of the merger agreement and the proposed merger to Home Products—unaffiliated stockholders. The JRT Group was not part of, and did not participate in the deliberations of, the special committee. Based on their belief regarding the reasonableness of the conclusions and analyses of the special committee and the board, the members of the JRT Group have adopted the analyses and conclusions underlying the special committee—s and the board of directors fairness determination described above and believe that the merger consideration is fair to our unaffiliated stockholders. In reaching this belief, the members of the JRT Group considered, in addition to the adoption of the analyses and conclusions of the special committee and the board of directors, the following factors:

the fact that Home Products had engaged various investment bankers, including Mesirow, to explore strategic alternatives and a possible sale of Home Products, and that, to the JRT Group s knowledge, these investment bankers did not identify a single viable transaction other than the merger as currently contemplated with JRT;

the relationship between the \$1.50 price per share of common stock to be paid in the merger and the recent and historical market prices of Home Products common stock. The merger price of \$1.50 per share to be paid in the merger represents approximately a 20% premium to the closing sale price of Home Products common stock on June 1, 2004, the last trading day before the public announcement on June 2, 2004, of the signing of the merger agreement and a premium of approximately 22% over the closing sale price for our shares on February 5, 2004, the date we filed a Form 8-K with the SEC announcing JRT s offer to acquire us;

the limited public float and low average daily trading volume of Home Products common stock and the lack of investment or research firms preparing research reports with respect to Home Products, all of which could be reasonably likely to adversely affect the price at which shares of Home Products common stock would trade for the foreseeable future and to preclude the stockholders of Home Products from achieving liquidity on their investment in Home Products;

the terms of the merger agreement, including the ability of the board of directors, in the exercise of its fiduciary duties to stockholders, to consider competing proposals;

31

Table of Contents

the negotiation and deliberation process conducted by the special committee that led to the approval of the merger agreement by the special committee and the board:

Mesirow s opinion as to the fairness of the merger;

the fact that under Delaware General Corporation Law, Home Products stockholders have the right to demand an appraisal of the fair value of their shares, which may be determined to be more or less than, or the same as, the per share merger consideration;

the fact that in addition to the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Home Products common stock required by Delaware law, the merger agreement allows JRT to refuse to complete the merger unless the merger also receives unaffiliated stockholder approval, which is approval of the holders of a majority of outstanding shares of common stock that are present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting either FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger, excluding shares of Home Products common stock held by members of the JRT Group; and

the overall procedural fairness of the process under which the merger agreement was negotiated and the procedural fairness of the transaction itself due to the special committee s exercise of exclusive and unlimited authority to, among other things, evaluate, negotiate and recommend the terms of the merger agreement and the extensive time and attention devoted to the transaction by the special committee throughout the negotiation process.

In reaching its beliefs as to fairness, the members of the JRT Group did not assign specific weight to particular factors, but rather considered all of the foregoing factors as a whole to support their respective beliefs that the merger is fair to the unaffiliated stockholders of Home Products. These beliefs, however, should not be construed as a recommendation to stockholders as to how they should vote on the merger. Moreover, the members of the JRT Group have not undertaken to make any specific determination to assign any particular weight to any single factor, but have conducted an overall analysis of the factors described above.

Purposes of the Merger

For us, the purpose of the merger is to allow our stockholders to realize their investment in Home Products in cash at a price that represents a premium of 20% over the closing market price of our common stock on the last trading day before announcement of the execution of the merger agreement was made. Based on the reasons set forth above under Special Factors Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger and Special Factors Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination and Recommendation; Fairness of the Merger, our board of directors believes that the merger is the best available opportunity to enhance and realize stockholder value.

The JRT Group is pursuing the merger to acquire the complete ownership of Home Products. The JRT Group believes that Home Products has positive business prospects, based upon its knowledge of Home Products business. The JRT Group believes that Home Products will have greater operating flexibility to focus on its long-term value by emphasizing growth and operating cash flow without the constraint of the public market s emphasis on quarterly earnings and without the costs associated with being a public company. The transaction has been structured as a merger in order to preserve Home Products identity, goodwill and existing contractual arrangements with third parties. The JRT Group chose to make the offer for Home Products stock now because (1) after an extended marketing process, Home Products was unable to attract an offer from an acquirer that the board of directors determined to be financially adequate, (2) Home Products has generated limited trading volume in its common stock and has not attracted any interest on the part of research analysts consequently precluding the stockholders of Home Products from achieving liquidity in their investment in Home Products, and (3) Home Products stock price has declined to a level at which the JRT Group is willing to make an offer for Home Products stock at a price that is fair to the unaffiliated stockholders of Home Products.

32

Table of Contents

Effects of the Merger

Upon completion of the merger, Home Products will be a privately held company, wholly owned by the JRT Group. Our current stockholders, other than those who are part of the JRT Group, will cease to have an ownership interest in Home Products and will not benefit from any continuing operations or growth of Home Products or from any transactions in which Home Products may be involved in the future.

Upon closing of the merger, trading in our common stock on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market will cease, and there will no longer be a public market for our common stock. Price quotations for Home Products common stock will no longer be available and the registration of our common stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 will be terminated. Accordingly, Home Products will no longer be required to file periodic reports with the SEC.

Mr. Tennant s equity ownership in Home Products, as surviving corporation, involves risk resulting from the illiquid nature of his equity and the current financial condition of Home Products. Nonetheless, if Home Products is successful, the value of such an investment could be considerably greater than the consideration paid in the merger because of the benefit from increases in the future earnings, growth or value of Home Products, if any, that will accrue to Mr. Tennant.

The primary detriments of the merger to Mr. Tennant include the following:

The risk of the inability to increase the earnings, growth and value of Home Products following the merger will be borne by Mr. Tennant; and

Following the merger, there will be no trading market for Home Products equity.

Acquiror s Plans

Following the merger, the JRT Group intends to continue to operate the business of Home Products. The JRT Group does not have any present plans or proposals that relate to or would result in an extraordinary transaction following completion of the merger involving Home Products structure or business, such as a merger, reorganization, liquidation, relocation of any operations or sale or transfer of a material amount of assets. However, Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will continue to evaluate its business and operations after the merger and intends to develop new plans and proposals that it considers to be in its best interests.

33

THE SPECIAL MEETING

Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting

We are sending this proxy statement to you as part of the solicitation of proxies by the Home Products board of directors for use at the special meeting, and any adjournment or postponement of that special meeting, to be held at our corporate headquarters located at 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632, on , 2004, at 9:00 A.M., local time. We are first mailing this proxy statement to you on or about , 2004.

Purpose of the Special Meeting

At the special meeting, our stockholders will consider and vote upon a proposal to (1) approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 2, 2004, among Home Products and JRT and (2) approve the merger of JRT with and into Home Products, with Home Products continuing as the surviving corporation. Our stockholders may also be asked to consider or transact such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors and Special Committee

Our board of directors and a special committee of independent and disinterested directors have each determined that the merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, Home Products and its stockholders. Our board of directors and the special committee have each approved the merger agreement and the merger and recommend that the stockholders vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

Who Can Vote at the Special Meeting

Only holders of record of Home Products common stock at the close of business on the record date for the special meeting, , 2004, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. At the close of business on the record date, there were shares of Home Products common stock outstanding held by approximately holders of record. Each holder of record of Home Products common stock on the record date will be entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters to be voted upon at the special meeting.

If your shares are held in street name in an account at a brokerage firm, bank or other nominee, you should provide your broker, bank or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your shares with respect to the merger proposal. If you do not do so, your broker, bank or other nominee will not be permitted to vote your shares, which will result in a broker non-vote for your shares. Broker non-votes are executed proxies returned by a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares in street name that indicate that the nominee has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares and does not have discretionary authority to vote the shares.

Quorum; Required Votes

At the special meeting, the presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the shares of Home Products common stock outstanding as of the record date will constitute a quorum for purposes of conducting business. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted as shares present for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists.

Approval of the merger proposal requires both (1) company stockholder approval, which is the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Home Products common stock outstanding as of the record date, and (2) unaffiliated stockholder approval, which is the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Home Products common stock present or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting either FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and merger, excluding shares of Home Products common stock held by members of the JRT Group. For purposes of determining company stockholder approval, an abstention, the failure to submit a vote, or a broker non-vote will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the approval of the merger agreement and merger. For purposes of determining unaffiliated stockholder approval, an abstention, the failure to vote or a broker non-vote will have the effect of neither a vote FOR nor AGAINST the merger agreement and the merger.

34

Table of Contents

Mr. Tennant, our chief executive officer, chairman of our board of directors and sole stockholder of JRT has entered into a voting agreement with us in which Mr. Tennant has agreed to vote the Home Products shares for which he has voting power in favor of the merger agreement and merger. The 467,628 outstanding shares held by Mr. Tennant represent in the aggregate approximately 5.9% of the shares of Home Products common stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of June 30, 2004. No other single stockholder of ours beneficially owns more than 17% of our outstanding common stock entitled to vote as of that date and, therefore, neither Mr. Tennant nor any single shareholder will be able to control the outcome of the vote.

Proxies; Revocability of Proxies

All shares of common stock represented by properly executed proxies received before or at the special meeting will, unless the proxies are properly revoked, be voted in accordance with the instructions indicated on those proxies. If no directions are given and the proxy is signed and returned, the proxy will be voted for the proposal to approve and adopt the merger agreement and to approve the merger. You may attend the special meeting and vote your shares in person. You also may choose to submit your proxies by any of the following methods:

Voting by Mail. If you choose to vote by mail, simply complete the enclosed proxy card, date and sign it, and return it in the postage-paid envelope provided. Your shares will be voted in accordance with the instructions in your proxy card. If you sign your proxy card and return it without marking any voting instructions, your shares will be voted for the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger.

Voting by Telephone. You can vote your shares by telephone by calling the toll-free telephone number provided on the proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week until 5:00 P.M. local time on , 2004, and the procedures are designed to authenticate votes cast by using a personal control number located on the proxy card. The procedures allow you to appoint a proxy to vote your shares and to confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote by telephone, you should not return your proxy card.

Voting by Internet. You also may vote through the Internet by signing on to the web site identified on the proxy card and following the procedures described in the web site. Internet voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, until 5:00 P.M. local time on , 2004, and the procedures are designed to authenticate votes cast by using a personal control number located on the proxy card. The procedures allow you to appoint a proxy to vote your shares and to confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote through the Internet, you should not return your proxy card.

We do not expect any matter to be brought before the special meeting other than the merger agreement and merger. If other matters are properly presented at the special meeting, the persons named in the proxy card will vote in their discretion with respect to those matters. However, if a proposal to adjourn or postpone the meeting is properly presented to permit the board of directors to further solicit proxies because there are not sufficient votes to approve the merger agreement and merger at the time of the special meeting, the persons named in the proxy card will not have discretion to vote shares voted against the merger agreement and merger in favor of adjournment or postponement to solicit additional proxies in favor of the merger agreement and merger.

If you receive more than one proxy card, it is because you hold your shares in different names. For example, you may hold some of your shares individually, some jointly with your spouse and some in trust for your children, in which case you should receive three separate proxy cards to vote. Please complete, date, sign and return all of the proxy cards.

As a Home Products stockholder of record giving a proxy, you have the power to revoke your proxy and change your vote by:

sending a written notice to our secretary prior to the special meeting, stating that you would like to revoke your proxy;

35

Table of Contents

either completing, dating, signing and mailing another proxy card and having it received by us prior to the special meeting or following the instructions given for changing your vote by telephone prior to the special meeting; or

attending the special meeting and voting in person.

Attendance at the special meeting will not, in and of itself, constitute revocation of a proxy; you must cast an actual vote. If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other fiduciary and you have directed that person to vote your shares, you must instruct that person if you want to change your vote.

Proxy Solicitation

We will pay the cost of printing and mailing this proxy statement. We may supplement the initial solicitation of proxies by mail, telephone, fax or e-mail or by personal solicitation by directors, officers or other regular employees of Home Products. No additional compensation will be paid to directors, officers or other regular employees for these services. We will request brokers, banks and other nominees holding our common stock beneficially owned by others to send this proxy statement to, and obtain proxies from, the beneficial owners of the shares and will reimburse the holders for their reasonable expenses in doing so.

You should not send in any stock certificates with your proxy card. The paying agent, , will mail a transmittal letter to you containing instructions for the surrender of your stock certificates as soon as practicable after completion of the merger.

THE MERGER

General Description of the Merger

If the stockholders approve and adopt the merger agreement and approve the merger and all other conditions to the merger contained in the merger agreement are satisfied or waived, JRT will merge with and into Home Products. All outstanding shares of common stock, including shares held by members of the JRT Group, will be converted into the right to receive \$1.50 per share, and all outstanding shares of JRT will represent shares of Home Products as the surviving corporation. As a result, JRT will cease to exist and Home Products will continue as the surviving corporation. Home Products will be a privately held company whose sole stockholder will be Mr. Tennant.

Effective Time of the Merger

The merger will be effective upon the filing of a certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in accordance with Delaware corporate law (or at such later date or time as is specified in the certificate of merger). This time is referred to as the effective time. The merger agreement provides that the filing of the certificate of merger will be made as promptly as practicable after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in the merger agreement unless another time is agreed to by Home Products and JRT and specified in the certificate of merger. We are working to complete the merger as quickly as possible after the special meeting. We cannot, however, predict exactly when the effective time will be.

Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, Directors and Officers

As of the effective time:

JRT will file a restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, which will be the certificate of incorporation of Home Products as the surviving corporation;

JRT will amend and restate the by-laws of Home Products, which will be the by-laws of Home Products as the surviving corporation;

36

Table of Contents

When the merger is completed:

the directors of JRT immediately prior to the effective time will become the initial directors of Home Products as the surviving corporation; and

the officers of JRT immediately prior to the effective time will be the initial officers of Home Products as the surviving corporation.

Payment of Per Share Merger Consideration

[] has been designated to act as the paying agent for the merger. At the effective time of the merger, JRT will deposit with the paying agent sufficient funds to pay the aggregate merger consideration. The paying agent will use the funds deposited by JRT solely to pay the merger consideration to those Home Products stockholders entitled to receive payment. After the effective date of the merger, JRT will direct the paying agent to mail to all Home Products stockholders a letter of transmittal and instructions advising Home Products—stockholders how to surrender their stock certificates in exchange for the per share merger consideration. Upon surrender of your stock certificates, together with a properly completed letter of transmittal and any other items specified by the letter of transmittal, you will be entitled to receive from the paying agent, who will deliver the per share merger consideration as promptly as practicable after the receipt of your certificate and completed letter of transmittal, the \$1.50 per share merger consideration and your stock certificates will be canceled. After the effective time of the merger, Home Products will deliver to the paying agent an electronic list of holders of unexercised Home Products stock options who have executed and delivered to Home Products option cancellation agreements. At the effective time, JRT will instruct the paying agent to deliver to each listed optionholder a cash payment equal to the product of the number of shares of Home Products common stock issuable upon the exercise of the optionholder s stock options, multiplied by the excess of \$1.50 over the per share exercise price of the options. After the effective date, Home Products, as surviving corporation, will provide updated lists of holders of Home Products options who have executed option cancellation agreements and will instruct the paying agent to deliver to them the cash payment described above.

No interest will accrue or be paid on the merger consideration, regardless of any delay in payment. In addition, all cash payments made in connection with the merger will be reduced by any applicable withholding taxes. If your stock certificates have been lost, mutilated or destroyed, you may deliver to the paying agent an affidavit and indemnity instead of your stock certificates. If you want any part of the merger consideration to be paid to someone else, your stock certificates must be properly endorsed, or otherwise in proper form for transfer, and you must pay to the paying agent any transfer or other taxes relating to the transfer, or establish to the satisfaction of the paying agent that the taxes have been paid or are not required to be paid.

Please do not forward your stock certificates to the paying agent without a letter of transmittal, and do not return your stock certificates with the enclosed proxy.

At and after the effective time, you will cease to have any rights as a Home Products stockholder other than the right to receive the per share merger consideration. At the effective time of the merger, Home Products stock ledger with respect to shares of Home Products common stock that were outstanding prior to the merger will be closed and no further registration of transfers of these shares will be made.

The paying agent will return to Home Products all cash that has not yet been distributed in payment of the merger consideration as of nine months following the effective time, plus any accrued interest, and the paying agent s duties will terminate. Thereafter, current Home Products stockholders may surrender stock certificates directly to Home Products and receive the \$1.50 per share merger consideration, without interest, less any applicable withholding taxes. However, Home Products stockholders will in no event have any greater rights against the surviving

corporation than those of general creditors of Home Products under applicable law, and none of the surviving corporation, JRT, or paying agent will be liable to you for any per share merger consideration delivered to a public official under any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law.

37

Treatment of Outstanding Stock Options

As of June 30, 2004, there were options outstanding for an aggregate of 864,216 shares of our common stock pursuant to our 1987 Stock Option Plan, our 1991 Stock Option Plan, our 1994 Stock Option Plan and our 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Of these stock options, options for an aggregate of 460,016 shares of our common stock were outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Under the provisions of this plan, at the effective time of the merger, Home Products stock options outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan will become fully exercisable. As a result, upon consummation of the merger, all of out outstanding options will be fully exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of \$2.95 (without giving effect to any option terminations prior to the effective time).

The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time of the merger, each holder of stock options with an exercise price of less than \$1.50 who has executed and delivered to us an option cancellation agreement will be entitled to receive, and Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will be obligated to pay, an amount in cash (subject to any applicable withholding of taxes) equal to the product of: (1) the number of shares of Home Products common stock that otherwise would have been issuable upon the exercise of the stock option, multiplied by (2) the excess of \$1.50 over the exercise price per share of the stock option. Options issued under this plan with an exercise price equal to or greater than \$1.50 per share for which option cancellation agreements are executed will be cancelled without any consideration being paid to their holders. Options issued under this plan for which no option cancellation agreements are executed will remain outstanding until an option cancellation agreement is executed, or they terminate or expire in accordance with their terms.

Treatment of Our Outstanding Warrants

On June 17, 1997, we issued warrants to purchase shares of our common stock to Hare & Co. and General Electric Capital Corporation. Under the terms of the warrants, Hare & Co. is entitled to purchase 45,259.4286 shares of our common stock and General Electric is entitled to purchase 33,944.5714 shares of our common stock, both with a current warrant price per share of \$5.80. Among other provisions, the warrants provide that in the event of a merger whereby cash is distributed to our stockholders in exchange for their shares, the warrants will immediately convert into the right to receive, upon exercise of the warrants, an amount equal to the per share merger consideration times the number of shares of our common stock for which the warrant was exercisable immediately prior to the merger. Because the per share price of these warrants is in excess of the \$1.50 per share merger consideration, we expect that the warrants will have no value upon completion of the merger.

Merger Financing

JRT has represented and warranted in the merger agreement that it will have sufficient funds available to it at closing of the merger to pay the merger consideration. Home Products and the JRT Group estimate that the total amount of funds required to complete the merger and the related transactions, including the payment of the aggregate merger consideration and all related fees and expenses, will be approximately \$15 million. JRT expects this amount to be provided through the proceeds of a Bank of America Business Capital (f/k/a Fleet Capital Corporation) revolver. Our current lender, Bank of America Business Capital (f/k/a Fleet Capital Corporation), which we refer to as the lender, provided a commitment letter for the revolver to JRT on March 15, 2004. We have been informed by JRT that it has not sought to arrange for alternative financing in the event for any reason the revolver described below is not available to JRT and alternative financing is unavailable, JRT will be unable to close the merger.

Under the commitment letter, the lender has committed to restructure Home Products existing senior credit facility with the lender and to provide funds sufficient to complete the merger and to pay all related fees and expenses. This commitment is subject to various conditions, including the conditions set forth below. Upon completion of the merger, all of JRT s obligations under the revolver will be assumed by Home

Products, as the surviving corporation, by operation of law.

38

Terms of the Revolver

Pursuant to the commitment letter, the lender has committed to provide a senior secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to \$50 million. The summary set forth in this section is qualified in its entirety by the actual terms of the commitment letter, which is attached as Appendix C to this proxy statement, and you are encouraged to read the commitment letter for a complete description of the lender s commitment to provide financing. The commitment letter contains the following material terms regarding the revolver:

the revolver will have a maturity date of March 31, 2008;

the revolver will be secured by a pledge of all of Mr. Tennant s equity interests in JRT (and, after the merger, Home Products and its subsidiaries), and security interests in and mortgages on substantially all material tangible and intangible assets of JRT (and, after the merger, Home Products and its subsidiaries);

until the first adjustment date referred to below, borrowings under the revolver will bear interest equal to, at Home Products option (a) the lender s prime rate plus 0.50% or (b) LIBOR (London Interbank Offer Rate) plus 2.5% plus, in either case, a commitment fee of 0.50%;

effective the first day of the first fiscal quarter immediately following the fiscal quarter in which the annual audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended on or about January 1, 2005 are delivered to lender, the interest rate will be set on each quarter based on the amount of Minimum Excess Availability (as defined in the commitment letter) as follows:

with \$30 million or more of Minimum Excess Availability, an interest rate equal to, at Home Products option (a) the lender s prime rate plus .25% or (b) LIBOR plus 2.25% plus, in either case, a commitment fee of .375%;

with more than \$20 million but less than \$30 million of Minimum Excess Availability, an interest rate equal to, at Home Products option (a) the lender s prime rate plus ..50% or (b) LIBOR plus 2.50% plus, in either case, a commitment fee of 0.50%; or

with less than \$20 million of Minimum Excess Availability, an interest rate equal to, at the borrower s option (a) the lender s prime rate plus .75% or (b) LIBOR plus 2.75% plus, in either case, a commitment fee of 0.50%.

upon an event of default under the revolver, the interest rate will increase by an additional 2.0% per annum; and

the revolver will also contain covenants typical for facilities of its type, including financial covenants.

Conditions to the Revolver

The commitment of the lender to provide the revolver described above is subject to conditions precedent customarily found in credit agreements for similar secured financings, including the following material conditions precedent:

the final terms and conditions of the merger will be satisfactory to the lender;

documentation relating to the revolver will be in form and substance satisfactory to the lender;

no event of default under the existing senior credit facility of Home Products will exist as of the closing of the revolver;

lender will be satisfied with the corporate and legal structure and capitalization of JRT, Home Products and their respective subsidiaries;

there will have occurred no material adverse change in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, performance, properties or prospects of Home Products and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since December 27, 2003;

39

Table of Contents

no action, proceeding, investigation, regulation or legislation will have been instituted, threatened or proposed before any court, governmental agency or legislative body to enjoin, restrain or prohibit, or to obtain damages in respect of, or which is related to or arises out of the revolver;

lender will be satisfied as to the existing and potential liability of Home Products and its subsidiaries with respect to any environmental matters:

lender will be satisfied with the insurance maintained by Home Products, and the lender will have received endorsements naming the lender as an additional insured under all insurance policies to be maintained with respect to the properties of Home Products and its subsidiaries;

lender will have received satisfactory written opinions of counsel for JRT;

Home Products will have, as of the funding date, excess available credit under the revolver of not less than \$15 million;

Fleet National Bank, now Bank of America, will remain the primary depository and disbursement bank of Home Products;

lender will have completed a collateral audit of Home Products accounts and inventory, and the results of such audit will be acceptable to lender;

lender will have received an appraisal of Home Products real property, equipment and other fixed assets, and the results of such appraisal will be acceptable to lender;

the holders of the requisite amount of Home Products ontes shall have consented to the merger and the amendments to the underlying documents of those notes;

the merger of JRT into Home Products will be consummated and all conditions precedent to the consummation of the merger (other than the payment of the merger consideration) will have been satisfied; and

the merger consideration and all transaction fees incurred with the consummation thereof will not exceed \$15 million.

JRT does not currently have any plans or arrangements to refinance or repay the revolver prior to its maturity date.

Conduct of the Business if the Merger is Not Completed

If the merger is not completed, our board of directors expects that Home Products will continue to operate in substantially the same manner as currently operated. No other alternative methods of operation are currently being considered. Nevertheless, our board of directors would reassess strategic alternatives potentially available to us to enhance stockholder value.

Indenture

On May 14, 1998, Home Products issued \$125 million in aggregate principal amount of the notes. During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, Home Products purchased in the open market notes with an aggregate principal amount of approximately \$8.95 million, with the result that, as of June 30, 2004, Home Products had notes outstanding in aggregate principal amount of approximately \$116.05 million.

Under the terms of the indenture, Home Products has the right to redeem the notes for certain amounts. After May 15, 2004, Home Products had the right to redeem all or part of the notes at 103.208%. To complete such a redemption, Home Products would be required to deposit the amount required to redeem the notes with the trustee or a paying agent, as well as to provide notice to the trustee, including information as to the date of redemption, the redemption price and the number of notes to be redeemed.

40

Table of Contents

Home Products, the trustee, and the holders of at least a majority of the principal amount under the indenture may generally amend the indenture without notice or consent to the other noteholders. However, the amendment of certain provisions requires the consent of all of the noteholders. These include, among others, amendments that: reduce the amount of notes whose holders must consent to an amendment, reduce the rate or extend the term for payment of interest, reduce the principal or extend the maturity of the notes, reduce the premium payable upon redemption or repurchase of the notes, change the times at which notes may be redeemed or repurchased by Home Products, or change the type of consideration to be paid for the notes.

The terms of the indenture provide for certain restrictions and limitations on the ability of Home Products to take certain actions, including incurring indebtedness, the layering of indebtedness, the making of restricted payments such as dividends or distributions with respect to Home Products common stock, the purchase or redemption of Home Products common stock, and the sale of assets or subsidiary stock.

Upon the effectiveness and as a result of the merger, Home Products, as the surviving corporation, would be in violation of various covenants under the indenture, as currently in effect, including those limiting our ability to incur additional indebtedness, repurchase shares of our common stock and undertake certain transactions with our affiliates. Home Products and the JRT have therefore negotiated with the trustee under the indenture an amended and restated indenture, and have obtained requisite approval for the amended and restated indenture from a single investor beneficially owning a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes, whom we refer to as, the majority note investor.

The amended and restated indenture relating to the notes will adjust certain economic terms for the holders of the notes and will further limit the operating flexibility of Home Products, as the surviving corporation. These adjustments and restrictions will include, the following material terms:

the interest rate under the notes will increase from $9^{5}/8\%$ to $9^{7}/8\%$:

Home Products, as surviving corporation, will not be permitted to incur additional senior debt (other than the amounts under the revolver); and

the salaries and bonuses of the officers of Home Products will be limited.

As an inducement to obtain the requisite consent under the indenture, the following was further agreed to:

the holders of the notes will receive a warrant to purchase, in the aggregate, up to 25% of the outstanding common stock of the surviving corporation (at the time of exercise) at an exercise price of \$0.01 per share;

the shares of the surviving corporation under the 25% warrant will be entitled to limited registration rights; and

Mr. Tennant will amend his existing employment agreement to reflect various amendments requested by the majority note investor, including waiving the payment required under the change of control provisions.

Under the indenture as currently in effect, each noteholder has the right to require Home Products to repurchase its notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the note, plus any accrued and unpaid interest upon a change of control. The repurchase rights will not

be triggered, however, by an acquisition of a majority of our outstanding voting stock by a permitted holder, defined in the indenture as (i) directors and officers of [Home Products] on the Issue Date [of the notes] and (ii) Chase Venture Capital Associates, L.P. and any Affiliates thereof. Because Mr. Tennant will beneficially own a majority of the outstanding voting stock of Home Products, as the surviving corporation, following the consummation of the merger, and because Mr. Tennant is a permitted holder, consummation of the merger is not expected to trigger the repurchase rights of the noteholders.

The majority note investor may decline to provide its consent to the transaction in its sole discretion. If the indenture is not amended in the manner contemplated by the amended and restated indenture, the merger will not occur.

41

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger; Potential Conflicts of Interest

In considering the recommendation of the board of directors, you should be aware that certain of Home Products executive officers and directors have interests in the transaction that are different from, or are in addition to, the interests of Home Products stockholders generally. The special committee was aware of these differing interests and considered them, among other factors, in evaluating, negotiating, and approving the merger agreement and the merger and in recommending to the board of directors that the merger agreement be adopted and approved and the merger be approved.

Mr. Tennant as a member of JRT Group. Mr. Tennant joined Home Products as chairman of the board and chief executive officer in April 1994. He was elected a director of Home Products in December 1992 and was a member of our board s compensation committee until April 1994. As of June 30, 2004, Mr. Tennant held 467,628 shares, or approximately 5.9%, of Home Products common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Mr. Tennant does not hold any options with an exercise price of less than \$1.50 per share and intends to execute option cancellation agreements for all of his outstanding 300,100 options. Upon completion of the merger, Mr. Tennant will receive approximately \$700,000 in merger consideration for his shares of common stock and no consideration for the cancellation of his stock options. Mr. Tennant will also be entitled to receive approximately \$91,821 in cash under our Executive Incentive Plan as well as additional cash amounts under our Management Incentive Plan. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.

Mr. Tennant as the sole stockholder of Home Products as surviving corporation. Mr. Tennant will continue to have an equity interest in Home Products after the merger, will participate in any future earnings, growth or losses of Home Products and will remain chief executive officer and a director of Home Products, as surviving corporation.

Mr. Tennant s employment agreement. Mr. Tennant s employment agreement entitles him, in the event his employment is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily within 180 days after a change in control of Home Products, to receive:

payment on the date of termination of an amount equal to the difference between (1) \$5 million and (2) the per share value of our common stock at the closing of the change of control transaction minus the per share exercise price of each stock option granted to Mr. Tennant as of the date of the employment agreement multiplied by the number of shares underlying those stock options;

payment within five days of the date of termination of an amount equal to the product of (1) three, multiplied by (2) the sum of salary and bonus earned by Mr. Tennant during each of the preceding two years divided by two; and

payment for any excise tax that may be due under section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto) such that after payment by Mr. Tennant of all taxes, interest and penalties imposed upon him due to the additional payment, he will retain from the additional payments an amount sufficient to pay the excise tax (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto).

Based on the terms of the merger, these amounts are estimated to be approximately \$8 million plus amounts for the reimbursement of any excise, income or other taxes as described above. In addition, Mr. Tennant is entitled to receive continuing medical and other insurance benefits for the two year period immediately following his termination. Mr. Tennant has informed us that in connection with the amendment to the indenture for the notes, and solely for purposes of the merger, he has agreed to waive his right to receive these change of control benefits.

Consideration received by executive officers and directors. Our executive officers and directors, other than Mr. Tennant, collectively own 142,717 shares of our common stock. None of our executive officers or directors hold options with an exercise price of less than \$1.50 per share and we expect all of the executive officers and directors to execute option cancellation agreements for their respective outstanding stock options. If the merger is

consummated, our directors and executive officers, other than Mr. Tennant, will therefore receive, in the aggregate, a total of approximately \$215,000 in merger consideration. The merger consideration to be received by each of our executive officers and directors is as follows:

Name	Position	Number of Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned	Aggregate Merger Consideration
James R. Tennant	Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer	467,628	\$ 701,442.00
Charles R. Campbell	Director	24,739	37,108.50
Daniel B. Shure	Director	13,301	19,951.50
Joel D. Spungin	Director	5,040	7,560.00
James E. Winslow	Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary	79,861	119,791.50
Peter Graves	Senior Vice President, Sales	9,796	14,694.00
Joseph Lacambra	Senior Vice President, Operations	0	0.00
Charles F. Avery, Jr.	Senior Vice President, Finance	9,980	14,970.00
		610,345	\$ 915,517.50

Our executive officers and directors other than Mr. Tennant will receive no consideration for the cancellation of their stock options. Our executive officers, other than Mr. Tennant will receive an additional cash amount totaling approximately \$82,409 under our Executive Incentive Plan as well as additional cash amounts under our Management Incentive Plan. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements described below.

Other executive officers employment agreements. Each of our executive officers and directors, in addition to Mr. Tennant, has executed employment agreements that entitle them to various payments in the event of a change of control. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements described below.

Continued employment of executive officers. If the merger is completed, it is expected that our executive officers will continue as executive officers of Home Products, as the surviving corporation.

Voting Agreement

In connection with the execution of the merger agreement, Mr. Tennant entered into a voting agreement with Home Products, which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix E. The 467,628 outstanding shares owned by Mr. Tennant represent in the aggregate approximately 5.9% of the shares of Home Products common stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of June 30, 2004. Pursuant to, and subject to the terms of, the voting agreement, Mr. Tennant agreed to vote his shares of Home Products common stock for which he has voting power as of the date of any stockholder action regarding the merger, in favor of the approval of the merger agreement and merger and all related transaction documents.

In connection with the voting agreement, Mr. Tennant has granted to Home Products, an irrevocable proxy for the above action. Mr. Tennant further agreed not to (1) grant any proxies or enter into any voting trust or other agreement with respect to the voting of his shares, or (2) acquire, sell, assign, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of his shares, or discuss, negotiate, or make any offer or agreement relating thereto, for the term of the voting agreement.

Employment and Other Agreements

Employment Agreements

James R. Tennant. Mr. Tennant is employed as our chairman of the board and chief executive officer pursuant to an employment agreement dated as of May 19, 1999. On December 31, 2003, Mr. Tennant s

43

employment agreement was renewed for a period of one year based on the automatic extension clause in his employment agreement. The employment agreement will continue to be extended for one-year periods unless canceled by either party in accordance with its terms. The employment agreement provides for a minimum annual base salary of \$400,000. Mr. Tennant is also entitled to receive a discretionary bonus based on Home Products—financial performance (in the form of cash and/or stock options at the discretion of the board of directors), as well as to receive incentive bonuses subject to the terms of our management incentive plans. Mr. Tennant—s employment agreement also provides for the granting of certain options to purchase common stock. If we terminate Mr. Tennant—s employment without cause (as defined in the employment agreement) or do not renew Mr. Tennant—s employment agreement for any renewal year beginning after December 31, 2004, or if Mr. Tennant terminates his employment due to our material breach (as defined in the employment agreement) Mr. Tennant will be entitled to receive a severance payment payable in 15 monthly installments, in an amount equal to three times the average salary and bonus earned during the two years immediately prior to the termination of his employment. Home Products would also be obligated to provide Mr. Tennant with medical and other insurance benefits for two years following the date of termination.

If Mr. Tennant s employment is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily within 180 days after a change in control (as defined in the employment agreement) of Home Products, by either Mr. Tennant or Home Products, Mr. Tennant is entitled to receive, instead of the severance payment described above, (1) a payment on the date of such termination in consideration for consulting services for the following twenty-four months, in an amount equal to the difference between (A) \$5 million and (B) the per share value of Home Products common stock at the closing of the event that is the culmination of the transaction(s) resulting in the change of control minus the exercise price per share of each stock option granted to Mr. Tennant as of the date of the employment agreement multiplied by the number of shares of common stock underlying each option granted and (2) a one-time payment payable in a lump sum within five business days of the date of termination, equal to the product of (A) three times (B) the sum of the amount of salary and bonus earned during each of the two years immediately prior to the change of control divided by two. In addition, Home Products would provide medical and other insurance benefits for the two year period immediately following the date of termination of employment.

Mr. Tennant s employment agreement also contains a provision requiring us to pay him an additional payment for any excise tax that may be due under section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto) such that after payment by Mr. Tennant of all taxes, interest and penalties imposed upon him due to the additional payment, he will retain from the additional payment an amount sufficient to pay the excise tax (plus interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto). He also agreed, for a period of three years after his employment is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily by either Mr. Tennant or Home Products (A) not to compete against us, and (B) unless the termination follows a change of control and is by us and without cause or by Mr. Tennant and not voluntarily, not to solicit our customers or employees.

Mr. Tennant has informed us that in connection with the amendment to the indenture for the notes, and solely for purposes of the merger, he has agreed to waive his right to receive these change of control benefits.

James E. Winslow. In October 1994, Home Products entered into an agreement with Mr. Winslow, Home Products executive vice president, chief financial officer and secretary. This agreement, as amended in May 2000, provides that if Mr. Winslow s employment is terminated by Home Products for any reason (other than for cause, death or disability or in connection with a change in control, in which event the terms of the Retention and Non-Competition Agreement described below will govern), he is entitled to a severance payment equal to twice his average yearly salary and bonus compensation paid to him over the preceding two fiscal years.

On January 28, 2000, Home Products entered into a Retention and Non-Competition Agreement with Mr. Winslow. The agreement provides that if Mr. Winslow remains with Home Products for 180 days following a change in control of Home Products, such as the merger, or is terminated without cause, dies or is reassigned to an area outside the metropolitan area where he is currently employed before the end of such period, Mr. Winslow

44

Table of Contents

will receive a payment equal to twice his average yearly salary and bonus compensation paid to him over the preceding two fiscal years. Additionally, Mr. Winslow agreed that he will not compete against Home Products or solicit its customers or employees for a period of one year after the termination of his employment with Home Products, and Home Products agreed to pay Mr. Winslow an additional \$100,000 in 12 monthly installments upon a change in control in consideration for this agreement.

Joseph Lacambra. On August 23, 2001, Home Products entered into an employment arrangement with Mr. Lacambra, Home Products Senior Vice President, Operations. This employment arrangement includes a severance agreement providing that if Mr. Lacambra is terminated without cause by Home Products, Mr. Lacambra will be entitled to six months of his annual base salary paid out over a six month period.

In addition, on January 28, 2000, Home Products entered into a Retention Agreement with Mr. Lacambra. The agreement, as amended on January 17, 2002, provides that if Mr. Lacambra remains with Home Products for 180 days following a change in control, such as the merger, or is terminated without cause, dies or is reassigned to an area outside the metropolitan area where he is currently employed before the end of such period, he will receive a payment of \$96,732.50. Additionally, Mr. Lacambra agreed that he will not compete against Home Products or solicit its customers or employees for a period of six months after the retention period.

Peter Graves. On January 28, 2000, Home Products entered into a Retention Agreement with Mr. Graves, our senior vice president, sales. The agreement, as amended on January 17, 2002, provides that if Mr. Graves remains with Home Products for 180 days following a change in control, such as the merger, or is terminated without cause, dies or is reassigned to an area outside the metropolitan area where he is currently employed before the end of such period, he will receive a payment of \$155,000. Additionally, Mr. Graves agreed that he will not compete against Home Products or solicit its customers or employees for a period of six months after the retention period.

Charles F. Avery, Jr. In August 1998, Home Products entered into an employment offer with Mr. Avery, our senior vice president, finance. This employment offer included a severance agreement providing that if Mr. Avery is terminated without cause by Home Products, he will be entitled to a minimum of six months of his annual base salary.

In addition, on January 28, 2000, Home Products entered into a Retention Agreement with Mr. Avery. The agreement, as amended on January 17, 2002, provides that if Mr. Avery remains with Home Products for 180 days following a change in control, such as the merger, or is terminated without cause, dies or is reassigned to an area outside the metropolitan area where he is currently employed before the end of such period, Mr. Avery will receive a payment of \$71,500. Additionally, Mr. Avery agreed that he will not compete against Home Products or solicit its customers or employees for a period of six months after the retention period.

Other Agreements

Executive Incentive Plan. Our executive officers participate in our Executive Incentive Plan. The purpose of this plan is to make available to the participants a portion of their total compensation in the form of an incentive opportunity for attaining a return on capital employed goal determined by the compensation committee of the board of directors at the beginning of the plan year.

While the plan provides annual incentive opportunity, it also provides longer-term incentives to enhance stockholder value. One-half of the total award is paid to participants in cash following the end of the plan year, while the remainder is deferred as phantom stock units whose value is tied to the performance of our common stock. The value of deferred phantom stock units is generally paid out over three years, subject to a

vesting schedule and only in the event that the recipient remains an employee on each vesting date, in the form of cash or cash and common stock.

After year s end, the compensation committee reviews our performance prior to determining the final incentive awards. There were no 2003 incentive awards paid to any executive officer under the plan.

In the event of a change of control transaction, such as the merger, each participant in the plan is entitled to receive, if the targeted return is met, a prorated cash payment for the year in which the change of control takes

45

Table of Contents

place and all unvested phantom stock units immediately vest and, together with accumulated vested but unpaid phantom stock units, are payable in cash within 10 days of the closing of the change of control transaction. If the merger is consummated, we will be obligated to pay approximately \$174,230 to our executive officers under the change of control provisions of this plan.

Management Incentive Plan. Our executive officers also participate in our Management Incentive Plan along with certain key employees. Under this plan, participants are eligible to earn an annual incentive award based on the attainment of pre-approved goals. Participants are assigned a target incentive award stated as a percentage of their salary, based on attainment of predetermined financial and economic goals. The goals consist of (1) earnings performance goals expressed as EBITDA, and (2) for key employees, a discretionary performance goal with respect to specific performance objectives established at the beginning of the year. For achievement above or below the performance goals, the amount of the total award increases or decreases above or below the target incentive award.

The 2003 performance goal set by the compensation committee for executive officers was the attainment of a minimum level of EBITDA. After the year end, the committee reviewed our performance and each of the participating executives prior to payment of the incentive awards. No 2003 incentive awards were paid to our executive officers under this plan.

In the event of a change of control transaction, such as the merger, a prorated incentive award for the year in which the change of control takes place will be paid to the participants based on our performance as of the date of the change of control transaction as compared to the performance goals.

Estimated Fees and Expenses of the Merger

Generally, except as described below, upon the termination of the merger agreement, each party will be responsible for its own expenses, whether or not the merger is consummated. Home Products has agreed to pay all out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the amendment of the indenture for our notes, including the reasonable fees and expenses of JRT s counsel, the fees and expenses of the noteholders and their counsel, and the fees and expenses of our counsel with respect to the amendment, subject to a dollar limitation of \$550,000.

Home Products has also agreed to reimburse JRT for its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the proposed merger, up to a maximum of \$550,000 less any amounts already paid or reimbursed to cover expenses of the amendment to the indenture described above, if we terminate the merger agreement because our board of directors has received a company takeover proposal that the special committee determines is a superior company proposal. See The Merger Agreement Acquisition Proposals and The Merger Agreement Termination of the Merger Agreement beginning at pages 57 and 58, respectively.

The estimated total fees and expenses to be incurred by Home Products and by JRT in connection with the merger are as follows:

Description	Amount
	
Fees and Expenses of Home Products:	
Financial advisory fees and expenses*	\$

Legal fees and expenses (transactional)	\$
Accounting fees and expenses	\$
SEC filing fee	\$ 1,510
Printing and mailing costs	\$
Fees and Expenses of JRT:	
Legal fees and expenses	\$
Paying agent fees and expenses	\$
TOTAL	\$

Table of Contents

* Does not include the amount payable to Sawaya Segalas & Co., LLC, as set forth below.

Upon Mesirow s delivery of its fairness opinion to the special committee, Home Products was obligated to pay, and did pay, Mesirow a fee of \$300.000.

JRT has retained to act as the paying agent in connection with the merger. The paying agent will receive reasonable and customary compensation for its services in connection with the merger, plus reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses, and as the surviving corporation, Home Products will indemnify the paying agent against certain liabilities and expenses in connection therewith, including liabilities under the federal securities laws.

If the merger is completed, Home Products will be obligated to pay a fee to Sawaya Segalas & Co., LLC, a New York investment bank, in connection with services rendered pursuant to an engagement letter dated April 23, 2002 between us and Sawaya Segalas. Sawaya Segalas was engaged to identify potential buyers of our business. Although the engagement was terminated in September 2003, the engagement letter provides that if, within 18 months after the engagement is terminated, we enter into a sale, merger, consolidation or other business combination transaction, Sawaya Segalas is entitled to receive a fee equal to what it would have received if the engagement letter had not been terminated. The engagement letter provides that this fee will be in an amount equal to 0.85% of (1) the total amount to be paid in merger consideration, (2) any make-whole amount paid to the noteholders with respect to the notes, (3) any make-whole amount paid to Mr. Tennant in connection with his employment agreement and (4) the amount of any debt or equity securities redeemed or remaining outstanding in connection with the transaction.

The expense of soliciting proxies from Home Products stockholders, as well as preparing and mailing the notice of special meeting, the proxy statement and the proxy cards, will be paid by Home Products.

Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

Consequences for our stockholders

The following is a summary of United States federal income tax consequences of the merger relevant to beneficial holders of Home Products common stock. The discussion is for general information only and does not purport to consider all aspects of federal income taxation that might be relevant to beneficial holders of Home Products common stock. The discussion is based on current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, existing, proposed and temporary regulations promulgated thereunder, rulings, administrative pronouncements and judicial decisions, changes to which could materially affect the tax consequences described in this proxy statement and could be made on a retroactive basis. The discussion applies only to beneficial holders of our common stock in whose hands shares are capital assets and may not apply to beneficial holders who acquired their shares pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options or other compensation arrangements with us or hold their shares as part of a hedge, straddle or conversion transaction or who are subject to special tax treatment under the Internal Revenue Code (such as dealers in securities, insurance companies, other financial institutions, regulated investment companies, tax-exempt entities, S corporations and taxpayers subject to the alternative minimum tax). In addition, this discussion does not discuss the federal income tax consequences to a beneficial holder of our common stock who, for United States federal income tax purposes, is a non-resident alien individual, a foreign corporation, a foreign partnership or a foreign estate or trust, nor does it consider the effect of any state, local or foreign tax laws.

The receipt of cash for our common stock in the merger will be a taxable transaction for United States federal income tax purposes. In general, a beneficial holder who receives cash in exchange for shares pursuant to the merger will recognize gain or loss for federal income tax purposes equal to the difference, if any, between the amount of cash received and the beneficial holder s adjusted tax basis in the shares surrendered for cash pursuant to the merger. Gain or loss will be determined separately for each block of shares (i.e., shares acquired at the same cost in a single transaction) surrendered for cash pursuant to the merger. The gain or loss will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the beneficial holder s holding period for such shares is more than one year at the time of consummation of the merger.

47

Table of Contents

Backup withholding at a 28% rate may apply to cash payments a beneficial holder of shares receives pursuant to the merger. Backup withholding generally will apply only if the beneficial holder fails to furnish a correct taxpayer identification number, or otherwise fails to comply with applicable backup withholding rules and certification requirements. Each beneficial holder should complete and sign the substitute Form W-9 that will be part of the letter of transmittal to be returned to the paying agent in order to provide the information and certification necessary to avoid backup withholding, unless an applicable exemption exists and is otherwise proved in a manner acceptable to the paying agent. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowable as a refund or credit against a beneficial holder s United States federal income tax liability, provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

Because individual circumstances may differ, each beneficial holder of shares is urged to consult such beneficial holder s own tax advisor as to the particular tax consequences to such beneficial holder of the merger, including the application and effect of state, local, foreign and other tax laws.

Consequences for the JRT Group and Home Products, as the surviving corporation

The merger of JRT with and into Home Products will be treated for federal income tax purposes as either a purchase by JRT s stockholder of the common stock of Home Products or a redemption by Home Products of its common stock. JRT, being a transitory entity formed for the purpose of effecting the transaction, will be disregarded and will not have any federal income tax consequences as a result of the merger. The purchase of the common stock of Home Products by JRT, as effected through the merger, will not result in the recognition of any taxable gain or loss by JRT. To the extent the merger is treated as a purchase by the JRT stockholder, such stockholder will have a basis in the shares of common stock of Home Products purchased in the transaction equal to the amount paid for those shares. The holding period for those shares of common stock will commence on the date of the purchase of the shares of common stock pursuant to the merger. To the extent the merger is treated as a redemption, JRT stockholder s basis in the shares of the surviving entity will be equal to the basis in JRT immediately prior to the merger.

The federal income tax attributes of Home Products will carry over to the surviving entity in the merger, except that the right of Home Products, as the surviving entity, to use net operating losses and certain other tax deductions or credits following the transaction will be subject to limitation in the manner set forth in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code as a result of the change in ownership. This limitation is expected to severely limit Home Products ability to utilize the tax attributes.

Accounting Treatment

For accounting and financial reporting purposes, the merger will be accounted for as a purchase.

Regulatory Filings and Approvals

Home Products and JRT do not believe that any governmental filings are required with respect to the merger other than (i) the filing of the certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, (ii) filings with the SEC and NASDAQ and (iii) tax returns and related tax documents. Home Products and JRT do not believe that they are required to make a filing with the Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, although each agency has the authority to challenge the merger on antitrust grounds before or after the merger is completed.

Appraisal Rights

Under Delaware law, if you do not wish to accept the cash payment provided for in the merger agreement, you have the right to dissent from the merger and to receive payment in cash for the fair value of your Home Products common stock. Home Products stockholders electing to exercise appraisal rights must comply with the provisions of Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law in order to perfect their rights. Home Products will require strict compliance with the statutory procedures.

The following is intended as a brief summary of the material provisions of the Delaware statutory procedures required to be followed by a stockholder in order to dissent from the merger and perfect appraisal rights. This summary, however, is not a complete statement of all applicable requirements and is qualified in its entirety by reference to Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, the full text of which appears in Appendix D to this proxy statement.

Section 262 requires that stockholders be notified that appraisal rights will be available not less than 20 days before the special meeting to vote on the merger. A copy of Section 262 must be included with such notice. This proxy statement constitutes our notice to our stockholders of the availability of appraisal rights in connection with the merger in compliance with the requirements of Section 262. If you wish to consider exercising your appraisal rights, you should carefully review the text of Section 262 contained in Appendix D to this proxy statement because failure to timely and properly comply with the requirements of Section 262 will result in the loss of your appraisal rights under Delaware law.

If you elect to demand appraisal of your shares, you must satisfy each of the following conditions:

You must deliver to Home Products a written demand for appraisal of your shares before the vote with respect to the merger is taken. This written demand for appraisal must be in addition to, and separate from, any proxy or vote abstaining from or voting against approval and adoption of, the merger agreement and approval of the merger. Voting against or failing to vote for approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger by itself does not constitute a demand for appraisal within the meaning of Section 262.

You must not vote in favor of approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger. A vote in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger, by proxy or in person, will constitute a waiver of your appraisal rights with respect to the shares so voted and will nullify any previously filed written demands for appraisal.

If you fail to comply with either of these conditions and we complete the merger, you will be entitled to receive the cash payment for your shares of Home Products common stock as provided for in the merger agreement, and you will have no appraisal rights with respect to your shares of Home Products common stock.

All demands for appraisal should be addressed to the secretary at Home Products International, Inc., 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632 before the vote on the merger is taken at the special meeting, and should be executed by, or on behalf of, the record holder of the shares of Home Products common stock. The demand must reasonably inform Home Products of the identity of the stockholder and the intention of the stockholder to demand appraisal of his, her or its shares.

To be effective, a demand for appraisal by a holder of Home Products common stock must be made by, or in the name of, the registered stockholder and cannot be made by the beneficial owner if he or she does not also hold the shares of record. The beneficial holder must, in such cases, have the registered owner submit the required demand in respect of those shares.

If shares are owned of record in a fiduciary capacity, such as by a trustee, guardian or custodian, execution of a demand for appraisal should be made in that capacity; and if the shares are owned of record by more than one person, as in a joint tenancy or tenancy in common, the demand should be executed by or for all joint owners. An authorized agent, including an authorized agent for two or more joint owners, may execute the demand for appraisal for a stockholder of record; however, the agent must identify the record owner or owners

Table of Contents

and expressly disclose the fact that, in executing the demand, he or she is acting as agent for the record owner. A record owner, such as a broker, who holds shares in street name as a nominee for others, may exercise his or her right of appraisal with respect to the shares held for one or more beneficial owners, while not exercising this right for other beneficial owners. In that case, the written demand should state the number of shares as to which appraisal is sought. Where no number of shares is expressly mentioned, the demand will be presumed to cover all shares held in the name of the record owner.

If you hold your shares of Home Products common stock in a brokerage account or in other nominee form and you wish to exercise appraisal rights, you should consult with your broker or the other nominee to determine the appropriate procedures for the making of a demand for appraisal by the nominee.

Within 10 days after the completion of the merger, the surviving corporation must give written notice that the merger has become effective to each Home Products stockholder who has properly filed a written demand for appraisal and who did not vote in favor of the merger. At any time within 60 days after the completion of the merger, any stockholder who has demanded an appraisal has the right to withdraw the demand and to accept the cash payment specified by the merger agreement for his or her shares of Home Products common stock. Within 120 days after the consummation of the merger, either the surviving corporation or any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of Section 262 may file a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the fair value of the shares held by all stockholders entitled to appraisal. The surviving corporation has no obligation to file such a petition in the event there are dissenting stockholders. Accordingly, the failure of a stockholder to file such a petition within the period specified could nullify the stockholder s previously written demand for appraisal.

If a petition for appraisal is duly filed by a stockholder and a copy of the petition is delivered to the corporation surviving the merger, the corporation surviving the merger will then be obligated, within 20 days after receiving service of a copy of the petition, to provide the Chancery Court with a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded an appraisal of their shares. After notice to dissenting stockholders, the Chancery Court is empowered to conduct a hearing upon the petition, and to determine those stockholders who have complied with Section 262 and who have become entitled to the appraisal rights provided thereby. The Chancery Court may require the stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares to submit their stock certificates to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with that direction, the Chancery Court may dismiss the proceedings as to that stockholder.

After determination of the stockholders entitled to appraisal of their shares of Home Products common stock, the Chancery Court will appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger, together with a fair rate of interest. When the value is determined, the Chancery Court will direct the payment of such value, with interest thereon accrued during the pendency of the proceeding, if the Chancery Court so determines, to the stockholders entitled to receive the same, upon surrender by such holders of the certificates representing those shares.

In determining fair value, the Chancery Court is required to take into account all relevant factors. You should be aware that the fair value of your shares as determined under Section 262 could be more than, the same as, or less than the value that you are entitled to receive under the terms of the merger agreement.

Costs of the appraisal proceeding may be imposed upon the surviving corporation and the stockholders participating in the appraisal proceeding by the Chancery Court as the Chancery Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon the application of a stockholder, the Chancery Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including reasonable attorneys fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all shares entitled to appraisal. Any stockholder who had demanded appraisal rights will not, after the consummation of the merger, be entitled to vote shares subject to that demand for any purpose or to receive payments of dividends or any other distribution with respect to those shares, other than with respect to payment as of a

record date prior to the

50

Table of Contents

consummation of the merger; however, if no petition for appraisal is filed within 120 days after the consummation of the merger, or if the stockholder delivers a written withdrawal of his or her demand for appraisal and an acceptance of the terms of the merger within 60 days after the consummation of the merger, then the right of that stockholder to appraisal will cease and that stockholder will be entitled to receive the cash payment for shares of his, her or its Home Products common stock pursuant to the merger agreement. Any withdrawal of a demand for appraisal made more than 60 days after the consummation of the merger may only be made with the written approval of the surviving corporation and must, to be effective, be made within 120 days after the consummation of the merger.

In view of the complexity of Section 262, Home Products stockholders who may wish to dissent from the merger and pursue appraisal rights should consult their own legal advisors.

Delisting and Deregistration of Home Products Stock after the Merger

If the merger is completed, Home Products common stock will be delisted from the NASDAQ SmallCap Market and will be deregistered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Home Products will no longer be required to file periodic reports or make the disclosures under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Certain Legal Matters

On June 3, 2004, a complaint was filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware against us, our board of directors and JRT. The complaint purports to be filed by a stockholder and alleges that in entering into the merger agreement, our board of directors breached their fiduciary duties of loyalty, due care and good faith. The complaint, which includes a request for a declaration that the action be maintained as a class action, seeks, among other relief, injunctive relief enjoining the merger from being consummated. We and our board of directors believe the complaint is without merit and intend to vigorously contest this lawsuit.

On June 4, 2004, a complaint was filed in the Chancery Division of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois against us and our directors. The complaint purports to be filed by a stockholder and alleges that in entering into the merger agreement, our board of directors breached their fiduciary duties of loyalty, due care, independence, good faith and fair dealing. The complaint, which includes a request for a declaration that the action be maintained as a class action, seeks, among other relief, injunctive relief enjoining the merger from being consummated. We and our board of directors believe the complaint is without merit and intend to vigorously contest this lawsuit.

Neither Home Products nor JRT is aware of any license or regulatory permit that appears to be material to the business of Home Products that might be adversely affected by the merger, nor are they aware of any approval or other action by a domestic or foreign governmental, administrative or regulatory agency or authority required for the merger to occur that is not described in this proxy statement. Should any such approval or other action be required, Home Products and JRT presently contemplate that such approval or other action will be sought. While Home Products and JRT do not presently intend to delay the merger pending the outcome of any such matter (unless otherwise described in this proxy statement), there can be no assurance:

that any such approval or other action, if needed, would be obtained or would be obtained without substantial conditions; or

that failure to obtain the approval or other action might not result in consequences adverse to our business.

51

THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following summary of the merger agreement describes the material terms of the merger agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete copy of the merger agreement attached as Appendix A to this proxy statement and incorporated in this proxy statement by reference. We urge you to read the merger agreement carefully and in its entirety.

Company material adverse effect means any state of facts, change, development, effect, condition or occurrence that is material and adverse to the business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations of Home Products and our subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or that materially impairs our ability to perform our obligations under the merger agreement or consummate the merger; provided, however, that none of the following shall be deemed in themselves, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and neither of the following will be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a company material adverse effect: any change or effect that results from (A) conditions affecting the consumer housewares manufacturing industry generally or (B) any change in the trading price or volume of our common stock, in and of itself. An increase in the price of resin used by us in our business by less than 12.5% from the date of the merger agreement will not, in and of itself, constitute a company material adverse effect.

Representations and Warranties

The merger agreement contains customary representations and warranties relating to, among other things:

corporate organization and similar matters with respect to each of Home Products and JRT;

subsidiaries for each of Home Products and JRT;

the common stock of Home Products subsidiaries being duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and free of preemptive rights, except to the extent that would not have or result in a company material adverse effect;

the common stock of Home Products subsidiaries being owned by Home Products or by Home Products and one of its subsidiaries, free and clear of all pledges, liens, charges, mortgages, encumbrances and security interests of any kind or nature whatsoever, except to the extent that would not have or result in a company material adverse effect;

possession by Home Products of all governmental franchises, licenses, permits, authorizations and approvals necessary to conduct our business and to hold and lease our properties, such that failure to possess such items would not result in a company material adverse effect;

qualification to do business in each necessary jurisdiction on the part of Home Products, to the extent that failure to do so would not have a company material adverse effect;

capital structure for each of Home Products and JRT;

authorization and performance of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by it, and execution, delivery and enforceability of the merger agreement with respect to each of Home Products and JRT;

required consents, approvals, orders and authorizations of governmental authorities and third parties relating to the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by Home Products, except as would not have a company material adverse effect;

required consents, approvals, orders and authorizations of governmental authorities and third parties relating to the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated on the part of JRT;

documents that Home Products has filed with the SEC, the accuracy of the financial statements and other information contained in such documents;

52

Table of Contents

no other voting agreements on the part of Home Products, except for the agreement with Mr. Tennant, executed June 2, 2004 and attached to this proxy statement as Appendix E;

no undisclosed liabilities that would have a company material adverse effect;

Home Products and JRT s engagement of, and payment of fees to, brokers, investment bankers and financial advisors, and amount of fees payable to other advisors by Home Products and JRT in connection with the merger agreement and the merger;

accuracy of information supplied by JRT or any member of the JRT Group and Home Products in connection with this proxy statement;

accuracy of information supplied by JRT or any member of the JRT Group and Home Products in connection with the Schedule 13E-3 to be filed with this proxy statement;

approval of the transaction by the board of directors of Home Products;

the receipt of a fairness opinion by the special committee from Mesirow;

no violation of any of the provisions of the charter documents as a result of the execution of the merger agreement or the consummation of the merger, on the part of JRT and Home Products;

no violation of certain laws, judgments and agreements for Home Products and JRT as a result of the execution of the merger agreement and the consummation of the merger, except to the extent that, in the case of Home Products, would not have a company material adverse effect, or in the case of JRT, would not have a material adverse effect on JRT;

Home Products and the board of directors of Home Products taking action to render the rights agreement inapplicable to the merger and the merger agreement;

the absence of business operations carried on by JRT prior to the execution of the merger agreement;

receipt by JRT of commitments for financing sufficient for the acquisition of shares of Home Products stock and related expenses; and

JRT s absence of actual knowledge that any representation or warranty of Home Products in the merger agreement is not true and correct.

Mr. Tennant executed a certificate dated as of June 2, 2004, representing and warranting that, to his actual knowledge, the representations and warranties of Home Products in the merger agreement were true, correct and complete in all respects as of its date.

Conditions to Consummation of the Merger

Home Products and JRT. Home Products and JRT s obligations to effect the merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of various conditions, including the following:

Holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Home Products common stock, along with holders of a majority of shares present or represented by proxy at the special meeting and voting either FOR or AGAINST the merger agreement and merger that are not held by any member of the JRT Group, must approve and adopt the merger agreement and approve the merger;

No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order or decree issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition that has the effect of preventing the consummation of the merger may be in effect;

No suit, action or proceeding asserted by any governmental entity challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement may be pending or threatened;

53

Table of Contents

The representations and warranties of Home Products and JRT set forth in the merger agreement must be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of the merger agreement and as of the date of completion of the merger;

Home Products must have purchased a fully prepaid tail policy under Home Products existing directors and officers liability insurance policy, which provides for aggregate coverage of at least \$15 million and is effective for six years after completion of the merger, see Indemnification and Insurance beginning at page 56; and

Each party must have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under the merger agreement at or prior to closing of the merger.

Home Products. Our obligation to consummate the merger is further subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions, any of which may be waived in whole or part by us:

JRT must have provided to us a certificate, signed by an authorized officer, certifying compliance with the conditions set forth in the merger agreement; and

JRT must have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by JRT under the merger agreement at or prior to the closing of the merger.

JRT. The obligations of JRT to consummate the merger are further subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions, any of which may be waived in whole or part by JRT:

We must have provided to JRT a certificate, signed by an authorized officer, certifying compliance with the conditions set forth in the merger agreement;

We must have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by us under the merger agreement at or prior to the closing of the merger; and

No development or occurrence having a company material adverse effect will have occurred and be continuing since the date of the merger agreement.

In addition, JRT will be obligated to consummate the merger only if there is no pending suit, action or proceeding by any governmental entity or other third party asserting non-frivolous claims which, if successful, would prevent:

the completion of the merger;

JRT from owning the shares of Home Products, as surviving corporation; or

JRT from operating any material part of the business of Home Products, as surviving corporation and its subsidiaries.

Amendment, Extension and Waiver

The merger agreement may be amended in writing, signed by both parties, by action taken or authorized by their respective boards of directors at any time before the required stockholder approval has been obtained. After the merger agreement has been adopted and approved by Home Products stockholders, any amendment to the merger agreement that would, under applicable law, require further approval of our stockholders will not be effective unless approved by our stockholders.

At any time prior to the effective time, both Home Products and JRT may (1) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party in connection with the merger agreement, (2) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement, or (3) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained in the merger agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any extension or waiver will be valid only if set forth in a writing signed by the waiving party.

Stock Options

As of June 30, 2004, there were options outstanding for an aggregate of 864,216 shares of our common stock pursuant to our 1987 Stock Option Plan, our 1991 Stock Option Plan, our 1994 Stock Option Plan and our 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Of these stock options, options for an aggregate of 460,016 shares of our common stock were outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan. Under the provisions of this plan, at the effective time of the merger, Home Products stock options outstanding pursuant to the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan will become fully exercisable. As a result, upon consummation of the merger, all of our outstanding options will be fully exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of \$2.95 (without giving effect to any option terminations prior to the effective time).

The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time of the merger, each holder of stock options with an exercise price of less than \$1.50 who has executed and delivered to us an option cancellation agreement will be entitled to receive, and Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will be obligated to pay, an amount in cash (subject to any applicable withholding of taxes) equal to the product of: (1) the number of shares of Home Products common stock that otherwise would have been issuable upon the exercise of the stock option, multiplied by (2) the excess of \$1.50 over the exercise price per share of the stock option. Options issued under this plan with an exercise price equal to or greater than \$1.50 per share for which option cancellation agreements are executed will be cancelled without any consideration being paid to their holders. Options issued under this plan for which no option cancellation agreements are executed will remain outstanding until an option cancellation agreement is executed, or they terminate or expire in accordance with their terms.

Interim Operations

During the period beginning on the date of the merger agreement until the effective time of the merger, we have agreed that we will conduct our business in the ordinary course, including operating in compliance with applicable laws and making all required filings with the SEC.

We have agreed that, until the effective time or unless JRT consents in writing, we:

will not amend the rights agreement;

will not redeem any rights under the rights agreement;

will not take any action with respect to the rights agreement, unless our board of directors makes a good faith determination that action is necessary to comply with its fiduciary duties;

will promptly set a record date and convene and hold a meeting of our stockholders for purposes of obtaining the required stockholder approvals of the merger agreement and merger, and our board of directors will recommend approval of the merger, subject to our ability to engage in third party negotiations or accept a superior company proposal;

will promptly prepare and file this proxy statement and Schedule 13E-3 with the SEC;

will use our reasonable best efforts to mail this proxy statement to our stockholders as promptly as practicable;

will furnish JRT with copies of any of our securities filings pursuant to the requirements of federal or state securities law; and

take all action necessary to ensure that no state takeover statute or similar regulation becomes applicable to the merger.

JRT agreed that, prior to the effective time, it will not conduct any business or make any investments other than as contemplated in the merger agreement. JRT further agreed that it would not incur any indebtedness other than as necessary for the consummation of the merger.

55

Table of Contents

JRT further agreed to cause all shares of common stock that it or any member of the JRT Group owns to be voted in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement. Home Products agreed that, unless our board of directors withdraws or modifies its recommendation regarding approval of the merger in a manner adverse to JRT, we will cause all shares that are voted at the direction of our board of directors or its members to be voted in favor of the adoption of the merger agreement.

Home Products and JRT have both agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to take all actions, and to cooperate with each other in doing all things advisable to expeditiously consummate the merger, including, among other things:

not taking any action that is reasonably likely to result in any representation or warranty made in the merger agreement becoming untrue or any condition to closing not being satisfied;

obtaining all necessary actions, consents and waivers from applicable governmental entities and the making of all necessary registrations and filings;

obtaining all necessary consents or waivers from third parties;

defending against any lawsuit or other legal proceeding seeking to challenge the merger agreement or consummation of the merger; and

executing and delivering any additional documents necessary to consummate the merger.

Indemnification and Insurance

The merger agreement provides that all of our obligations related to any rights of indemnification and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the merger that exist in favor of Home Products directors or officers as provided in our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, and any of our existing indemnification agreements in effect as of the date of the merger agreement, will be fulfilled and honored by Home Products, as the surviving corporation, after the merger, and will continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. JRT has agreed to cause Home Products, as the surviving corporation, to ensure that the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Home Products, as the surviving corporation, will contain provisions with respect to liability, indemnification and advancement of expenses that are at least as favorable as currently in effect for a period of six years from the effective time.

We agreed to purchase, prior to the effective time of the merger, a fully prepaid tail policy under our existing directors and officers liability insurance policy. This tail policy will provide for aggregate coverage of at least \$15 million and be effective for six years after the effective time of the merger. If the surviving corporation or any of its successors or assigns consolidates or merges and is not the surviving entity after such a transaction, or transfers all or substantially all of its assets, then proper provision must be made so that the successor or assigns of the surviving corporation assume the obligations of the directors and officers liability insurance. JRT and Home Products further agreed that if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether arising before or after the effective time of the merger, is made against any person covered by our directors and officers liability insurance, then the indemnification provisions of the merger agreement will continue in effect until the final disposition of the claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

Employee and Termination Benefits

Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, JRT will cause Home Products, as the surviving corporation, to provide compensation and benefits for 90 days following the effective time to our employees, other than those employees terminated for cause. These benefits will be at least as favorable to our employees as the benefits we provided before the effective time. Under the merger agreement, JRT or Home Products, as the surviving corporation, to the extent allowable by its providers, will waive all pre-existing conditions, exclusions and waiting periods with respect to participation and coverage requirements for any compensation or benefit plan of

56

Table of Contents

the surviving corporation that our employees may be eligible to participate in. Under the new compensation and benefit plans of the surviving corporation, our employees will receive credit for amounts already paid before the effective date of the merger for deductibles, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket payments under our compensation and benefits plans, and the plans of the surviving corporation, will take into account the service accrued by our employees for the purposes of participating in any benefit plans or vesting credit at the surviving corporation.

Acquisition Proposals

We have agreed to certain limitations on our ability to take action regarding other acquisition proposals. Except as set forth below, we have agreed:

not to enter into any agreement with respect to any company takeover proposal;

prior to the approval of the merger agreement by our stockholders, not to furnish to any person any information with respect to a company takeover proposal, except pursuant to a confidentiality agreement and after proper notice of the company takeover proposal has been provided to JRT;

not to withdraw or modify, or propose publicly to withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to JRT, the board of directors recommendation of the merger and the merger agreement, unless our board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that it is necessary to do so to comply with the board of directors fiduciary duties;

not to approve any letter of intent, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement or similar agreement relating to a company takeover proposal; and

to promptly give notice to JRT, orally and in writing, of any company takeover proposal made to the special committee, including the identity of the party making the company takeover proposal and the material terms of the company takeover proposal.

If, however, prior to obtaining the approval of our stockholders, we receive a superior company proposal, then our board of directors may approve and recommend the superior company proposal and cause us to terminate the merger agreement and concurrently enter into a definitive agreement providing for the implementation of the superior company proposal if all of the following four conditions have been satisfied.

The special committee has determined in good faith that the company takeover proposal constitutes a superior company proposal;

At least three days prior to terminating the merger agreement, we must have provided written notice to JRT of the special committee s determination;

JRT shall not have made, within three business days of receipt of our notice, a binding written offer to acquire Home Products that causes the special committee to no longer be able to determine in good faith that the superior company proposal remains a superior company proposal; and

We must have reimbursed JRT for all reasonable out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred by JRT in connection with the merger and the merger agreement through the date of termination up to a maximum reimbursement of \$550,000, less any amounts already paid or reimbursed for expenses incurred in connection with amending our indenture.

Nothing in the merger agreement prohibits our board of directors from disclosing to our stockholders a position with respect to a transaction proposal by a third party to the extent required under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2, or from making disclosure to our stockholders that, based on advice of outside counsel, our board of directors or the special committee determines in good faith is required under applicable law.

Termination of the Merger Agreement

The merger agreement may be terminated, and the merger may be abandoned, at any time prior to the closing of the merger under the following circumstances:

by mutual written consent of Home Products and JRT;

by either party if the merger has not closed on or before October 31, 2004, unless the failure to close the merger is caused by a material breach of the merger agreement by the terminating party;

by either party if a governmental entity or a court of competent jurisdiction issues an order or injunction prohibiting the consummation of the merger and the order or injunction is final and nonappealable; and

by either party, if at a duly held meeting the required stockholder approvals are not obtained, provided, however, JRT may not terminate for this reason if the members of the JRT Group did not vote their shares in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and approval of the merger at the special meeting. We may not terminate the merger agreement for this reason unless the members of our board voted all shares for which they could direct the vote in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement and the approval of the merger.

JRT may terminate the merger agreement if:

at any time before or after the vote our stockholders, we breach or fail to perform in any material respect any of our representations, warranties or covenants contained in the merger agreement, which breach or failure to perform:

would cause a condition to JRT s obligation to effect the merger to be unsatisfied, and

cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after we have been given written notice of the breach;

our board of directors withdraws or modifies, or proposes publicly to withdraw or modify, its recommendation to our stockholders regarding the merger in a manner adverse to JRT;

our board of directors amends the rights agreement or takes any action with respect to, or makes any determination under, the rights agreement to comply with its fiduciary duties and, as a result of such amendment, redemption, action or determination, any person other than JRT or any of its affiliates is permitted to become an acquiring person (as defined in the rights agreement); or

prior to obtaining the required stockholder approvals, we enter into a definitive agreement to implement a company takeover proposal.

Home Products may terminate the merger agreement if:

at any time before or after the approval of the merger agreement by our stockholders, JRT breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in the merger agreement, which breach or failure to perform cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after we have given written notice to JRT of the breach; or

prior to obtaining the required approvals of the merger agreement by our stockholders, our board of directors has received a superior company proposal and each of the four required conditions for terminating the merger agreement in favor of a superior company proposal has been satisfied, in which case our board of directors may approve and recommend the superior company proposal and cause us to terminate the merger agreement. See Acquisition Proposals beginning at page 57.

Payment of Fees and Expenses

Generally, upon the termination of the merger agreement, each party will be responsible for its own expenses, whether or not the merger is consummated. Home Products has agreed, however, to pay all out-of-

58

Table of Contents

pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the amendment of the indenture for its notes, including the reasonable fees and expenses of JRT s counsel, the fees and expenses of the noteholders and their counsel, and the fees and expenses of our counsel with respect to the amendment, subject to an aggregate dollar limitation of \$550,000.

Home Products has also agreed to reimburse JRT for its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the proposed merger, up to a maximum of \$550,000, less any amounts already paid or reimbursed to cover expenses of the amendment to the indenture described above, if we terminate the merger agreement because our board of directors has received a company takeover proposal that the special committee determines is a superior company proposal.

59

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Our selected consolidated financial data as of, and for, the five fiscal years ended December 27, 2003, are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. They should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, including the notes thereto, and Item 1. Business and Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, which is attached as Appendix F and incorporated by reference to this proxy statement and contains a discussion of business combinations and dispositions of business assets that materially affected the comparability of the information set forth below and material uncertainties that could cause future results to differ from such information.

Figaal Voor End

		Fiscal Year-End			
	2003	2002	2001	2000	1999
		(in thousands, except share data)			
Statement of Operations Data:					
Net sales	\$ 233,602	\$ 249,192	\$ 249,721	\$ 297,048	\$ 294,297
Cost of goods sold	197,560	190,705	188,299	235,144	209,641
Special charges (income), net		(106)	(414)	1,920	8,589
Gross profit	36.042	58,593	61,836	59.984	76,067
Selling, general and administrative expenses	29,801	30,729	36,910	39,382	40,420
Amortization of intangible assets	503	505	3,190	5,350	5,425
Restructuring and other charges (income), net	(1,245)	(1,303)	(480)	10,482	5,966
Asset impairment charges		567		53,348	
Other nonrecurring charges					445
Operating profit (loss)	6,983	28,095	22,216	(48,578)	23,811
Interest expense	(13,653)	(13,823)	(18,284)	(22,363)	(20,271)
Other income (expense), net	2,204	559	14,023	(467)	542
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	(4,466)	14,831	17,955	(71,408)	4,082
Income tax expense	(6,871)	(527)	(975)	(103)	(2,072)
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (11,337)	\$ 14,304	\$ 16,980	\$ (71,511)	\$ 2,010
Earnings (loss) per common share basic	\$ (1.42)	\$ 1.83	\$ 2.24	\$ (9.77)	\$ 0.27
Earnings (loss) per common share diluted	\$ (1.42)	\$ 1.73	\$ 2.19	\$ (9.77)	\$ 0.26
	As of Fiscal Year-End				
	2003	2002	2001	2000	1999

	2003	2002	2001	2000	1999
			(in thousands)		
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Data:					
Working capital	\$ 19,714	\$ 30,569	\$ 9,010	\$ 18,626	\$ 33,012
Property, plant and equipment, net	32,812	37,189	42,631	55,881	67,258
Goodwill and other intangible assets	74,360	74,863	76,375	116,833	172,177
Total assets	180,275	203,518	187,343	265,652	343,906
Revolving line of credit and other current debt	9,969	158	158	6,558	5,571
Long-term obligations (net of current debt)	120,578	129,621	130,447	215,051	221,334
Stockholders equity (deficit)	6,341	17,467	2,820	(14,497)	56,622
Cash provided by operating activities	443	8,796	23,326	17,706	14,615

60

MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

Set forth below is information concerning directors and executive officers as of the record date.

Name	Age	Position
	—	
James R. Tennant	51	Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
Charles R. Campbell	64	Director
Daniel B. Shure	46	Director
Joel D. Spungin	65	Director
James E. Winslow	49	Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Peter Graves	47	Senior Vice President, Sales
Joseph Lacambra	63	Senior Vice President, Operations
Charles F. Avery, Jr.	39	Senior Vice President, Finance

James R. Tennant joined us as chairman of the board and chief executive officer in April 1994. Mr. Tennant was elected a director in December 1992 and was a member of our board of directors until April, 1994. From 1982 to 1994, Mr. Tennant was division president of True North Communications, an international marketing services company.

Charles R. Campbell has served as a director since September 1994. Since 1996, Mr. Campbell has been a principal with the Everest Group, a management consulting firm. From 1995 to 1996, Mr. Campbell was president of C. R. Campbell & Associates, a management consulting firm. From 1985 to 1995, Mr. Campbell was senior vice president, chief financial and administrative officer of Federal Signal Corporation, a diversified manufacturer of capital goods. Mr. Campbell is a director of Federal Signal Corporation, a publicly held company.

Daniel B. Shure has served as a director since December 1994. Since 1988, Mr. Shure has been president and chief executive officer of Strombecker Corporation, an international toy manufacturer and distributor. From February 2002, Mr. Shure has also served as chairman of the board of Strombecker Corporation. Mr. Shure is a director of several privately held companies.

Joel D. Spungin has served as a director since September 1996. Since 1995, Mr. Spungin has been managing partner of DMS Enterprises, a management advisory and investment company. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Spungin was chairman emeritus of United Stationers, Inc. From 1981 to 1995, Mr. Spungin was employed by United Stationers, Inc., a publicly held company, in various capacities with his final position being chairman of the board and chief executive officer. Mr. Spungin is a director of AAR Corporation and Vita Foods, Inc. Mr. Spungin has advised the board of directors that he intends to resign as a director no later than December 31, 2004.

James E. Winslow was named executive vice president in October 1996. Mr. Winslow joined us as chief financial officer and senior vice president in November 1994. In 1994, Mr. Winslow was executive vice president and chief financial officer of Stella Foods, Inc. From 1983 to 1994, Mr. Winslow was employed by Wilson Sporting Goods Co. in various capacities, his final position being vice president and chief financial officer.

Peter Graves has served as our senior vice president, sales since January 2004. Mr. Graves served as our senior vice president, sales and marketing from April 2001 until January 2004. From June 1999 until April 2001, Mr. Graves was our senior vice president, marketing. Mr. Graves has served in various other capacities since joining us in 1981, including vice president, sales and marketing from 1997 to June 1999.

Joseph Lacambra has served as our senior vice president, operations since June 1999. Mr. Lacambra joined us as vice president, operations in November 1997.

Charles F. Avery, Jr. has served as our senior vice president, finance since January 2000. Mr. Avery joined us as vice president, finance in August, 1998. From 1987 to 1998, Mr. Avery worked in the audit and business advisory practice at Arthur Andersen LLP.

61

Officers serve at the discretion of the board of directors, except as provided in the employment agreement of Mr. Tennant. There are no family relationships among any of the foregoing executive officers.

Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders and Management

The following table sets forth certain information as of June 30, 2004 (unless otherwise noted) with respect to the beneficial ownership of our issued and outstanding common stock by:

each stockholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock;

each director:

each executive officer; and

all of the directors and executive officers as a group.

The beneficial ownership of common stock set forth in this table is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, shares of common stock subject to options or warrants held by that person that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004 are considered outstanding, while these shares are not considered outstanding for purposes of computing percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes below, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and investment power as to all shares beneficially owned, subject to community property laws where applicable.

	Total Shares	Percent of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Beneficially Owned	Class
J.P. Morgan Partners (SBIC), LLC ⁽¹⁾	1,274,472	16.2%
Samstock/SIT, LLC and Zell General Partnership, Inc.(2)	664,000	8.4
Palmyra Capital Advisors, LLC.(3)	430,700	5.5
Dimensional Fund Advisors, Inc ⁽⁴⁾	417,050	5.3
Charles R. Campbell ⁽⁵⁾	64,739	*
Daniel B. Shure ⁽⁶⁾	67,885	*
Joel D. Spungin ⁽⁷⁾	62,155	*
James R. Tennant ⁽⁸⁾	667,728	8.2
James E. Winslow ⁽⁹⁾	136,211	1.7
Peter Graves ⁽¹⁰⁾	57,712	*
Joseph Lacambra ⁽¹¹⁾	38,750	*

Charles F. Avery, $Jr.^{(12)}$ 47,479 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (8 persons)⁽¹³⁾ 1,142,659 13.4

- (1) As reported in a statement on Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 17, 2004 by J.P. Morgan Partners (SBIC), LLC (formerly known as Chase Venture Capital Associates, LLC), a Delaware limited liability company whose principal business office is located at 1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10020.
- (2) As reported in a statement on Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on January 11, 2002 by Samstock/SIT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (Samstock/SIT), and Zell General Partnership, Inc., an Illinois corporation (ZGP). The sole member of each of Samstock/SIT and ZGP is Sam Investment

62

^{*} Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

- Trust, an Illinois trust (SIT), formed for the benefit of Samuel Zell and members of his family. The sole trustee of SIT is Chai Trust Company, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company. Samstock/SIT has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 650,720 shares and ZGP has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 13,280 shares. The principal business office of Samstock/SIT and ZGP is located at Two North Riverside Plaza, Suite 600, Chicago, Illinois 60606.
- (3) As reported in a statement on Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on April 7, 2004 by Palmyra Capital Advisors, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and registered investment adviser, the Michael and Leigh Anne Baxter Living Trust (the Baxter Trust), and Michael F. Baxter (the Manager). Palmyra Capital Advisors, LLC has discretionary authority to buy, sell, and vote such shares for its investment advisory clients. Manager s and Trust s beneficial ownership is indirect as a result of the Manager s position with, and the Baxter Trust s ownership interest in, Palmyra Capital Advisors, LLC. The principal business office of each of the reporting persons is 11111 Santa Monica Blvd., Suite 1500, Los Angeles, California 90025.
- (4) As reported in a statement on Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 6, 2004 by Dimensional Fund Advisors, Inc. (DFA), DFA beneficially owns 417,050 shares as a result of acting as an investment adviser for registered investment companies. DFA and the various accounts to which it is an adviser have shared power to vote and dispose of all such shares. DFA expressly disclaims that it is in fact the beneficial owner of such shares. DFA s address is 1299 Ocean Avenue, 11th floor, Santa Monica, California 90401.
- (5) Includes 40,000 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Campbell upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004.
- (6) Includes 40,000 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Shure upon exercise of options and 14,584 shares of common stock deferred pursuant to our 1999 Directors Restricted Stock Plan. Also includes 2,500 shares held by Mr. Shure s children with respect to which Mr. Shure disclaims beneficial ownership.
- (7) Includes 40,000 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Spungin upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004 and 17,115 shares of common stock deferred pursuant to our 1999 Directors Restricted Stock Plan.
- (8) Includes 200,100 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Tennant upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004. Excludes 61,214 phantom stock units deferred under our Executive Incentive Plan that will be paid in cash upon consummation of the merger. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.
- (9) Includes 56,350 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Winslow upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004. Excludes 22,972 phantom stock units deferred under our Executive Incentive Plan that will be paid in cash upon consummation of the merger. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.
- (10) Includes 47,916 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Graves upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004. Excludes 10,182 phantom stock units deferred under our Executive Incentive Plan that will be paid in cash upon consummation of the merger. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.
- Includes 38,750 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Lacambra upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004. Excludes 12,595 phantom stock units deferred under our Executive Incentive Plan that will be paid in cash upon consummation of the merger. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.
- Includes 37,500 shares of common stock that may be purchased by Mr. Avery upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004. Excludes 9,190 phantom stock units deferred under our Executive Incentive Plan that will be paid in cash upon consummation of the merger. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.
- (13) Includes 500,616 shares of common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after June 30, 2004 and 31,699 shares of common stock deferred pursuant to our 1999 Directors Restricted Stock Plan. Excludes 116,153 phantom stock units deferred under our Executive Incentive Plan that will be paid in cash upon consummation of the merger. See The Merger Employment and Other Agreements beginning at page 43.

Stock Purchases by Us and Our Directors and Executive Officers

During the past two years, there were no purchases of our stock by us, our directors or our executive directors.

63

PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Our shares are traded on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market under the trading symbol HOMZ. The following table sets forth the closing high and low prices for the common stock as reported on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market for the indicated periods.

	High	Low
Fiscal Year Ending January 1, 2004		
First Quarter	\$ 1.62	\$ 1.08
Second Quarter	1.49	1.17
Fiscal Year Ended December 27, 2003		
First Quarter	\$ 5.03	\$ 2.25
Second Quarter	3.13	2.00
Third Quarter	2.43	1.20
Fourth Quarter	1.91	1.00
Fiscal Year Ended December 28, 2002		
First Quarter	\$ 4.19	\$ 1.90
Second Quarter	5.45	3.31
Third Quarter	4.75	2.98
Fourth Quarter	4.75	2.52

The merger consideration of \$1.50 per share represents (1) a premium of approximately 20% over the \$1.25 closing sale price for our shares on June 1, 2004, the last trading day before the announcement of execution of the merger agreement, (2) a premium of approximately 22% over the \$1.23 closing sale price for our shares on February 5, 2004, the date we filed a Form 8-K with the SEC, announcing JRT s offer to acquire Home Products and (3) a premium of approximately 17% over the \$1.28 average closing sale price for our shares for the 30 days prior to the announcement of execution of the merger agreement.

As of the record date, there were shares of our common stock outstanding held by approximately holders of record, with approximately underlying beneficial owners.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we currently anticipate that all of our future earnings, if any, will be retained for use in the operation and expansion of our business.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mr. Jeffrey Rubenstein, a director of ours from September 1986 until his resignation on November 7, 2003, is the executor and trustee of certain trusts that lease a facility to us. In addition, Mr. Rubenstein is a partner in a law firm that is our primary outside general counsel. Mr. Rubenstein is responsible for overseeing all legal work performed by the law firm on our behalf. Until his resignation, Mr. Rubenstein was also a member of the compensation committee of the board of directors. Until August 13, 2002, Mr. Rubenstein was also a member of the audit committee of the board of directors. Payments made to his law firm were \$150,000 in 2003, \$331,000 in 2002 and \$455,000 in 2001.

The trusts referred to above own our Chicago headquarters, manufacturing and distribution facility. We lease the facility from the trusts under a lease that expires in July 2020. We have options to extend the lease as

64

Table of Contents

well as an option to purchase the facility. The lease was last amended in October 1998. The board of directors has approved the lease and its amendments. Lease payments made to the trusts were \$922,000 in 2003, \$909,000 in 2002 and \$848,000 in 2001.

We believe that the terms of all transactions with Mr. Rubenstein s law firm and the trusts are equivalent to the terms that would be obtained in arms length transactions. In accordance with revised NASDAQ listing standards, we have adopted a policy to conduct an appropriate review of all related party transactions (as defined in NASDAQ rules) for potential conflict of interest situations on an ongoing basis and to require all such related party transactions to be approved by our audit committee comprised solely of independent and disinterested directors.

INFORMATION ABOUT JRT

JRT, a Delaware corporation, is a privately held company that was formed solely for the purpose of effectuating the merger agreement and other transactions contemplated thereby. Mr. Tennant is the sole stockholder of JRT. As of June 30, 2004, JRT did not own any of our capital stock and had no business, operations or assets.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

If the merger is completed, there will be no public participation in any future meetings of our stockholders. If, however, the merger is not completed, our stockholders will continue to be entitled to attend and participate in our stockholder meetings. Stockholder proposals for the 2005 annual meeting, to be held if the merger is not consummated, must have been received by our secretary no later than December 27, 2004, which is 120 calendar days prior to the anniversary of the mailing date of the proxy materials for our 2004 annual meeting of stockholders, and must be in compliance with applicable laws and regulations in order to be considered for possible inclusion in the proxy statement and form of proxy for the 2005 annual meeting.

Proxies appointed by management will use their discretionary authority to vote the shares they represent as the board of directors may recommend at our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders if a stockholder raises a proposal that is not to be included in Home Products proxy materials for such meeting and Home Products does not receive proper notice of such proposal at its principal executive offices by March 12, 2005, which is the date 45 days prior to the anniversary of the mailing date of the proxy materials for our 2004 annual meeting of stockholders.

If the date of the 2005 annual meeting of stockholders is changed by more than 30 days from the date of the 2004 annual meeting of stockholders, notice of any such stockholder proposals must be received by Home Products a reasonable time before Home Products solicits proxies for the 2005 annual meeting of stockholders. If notice of any such proposal is timely received, the proxy holders may exercise discretionary authority with respect to such proposal only to the extent permitted by applicable SEC rules. Any proposal must in any circumstance be, under law, an appropriate subject for stockholder action in order to be brought before the meeting.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002 have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent registered public accountants, as stated in their report included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, which is incorporated by reference in this proxy statement.

65

Table of Contents

OTHER MATTERS

You should rely only on the information contained in this proxy statement to vote your shares at the special meeting. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different from what is contained in this proxy statement. This proxy statement is dated , 2004. You should not assume that the information contained in this proxy statement is accurate as of any date other than that date, and the mailing of this document to stockholders is not intended to create any implication to the contrary. Unless explicitly stated otherwise, the information contained in each of the documents incorporated by reference in this proxy statement is as of its filing date (except, in each case, for information therein specifically as of a certain date).

Our board of directors does not intend to bring before the special meeting of stockholders any matters other than those set forth in this proxy statement and has no present knowledge that any other matters will or may be brought before the special meeting of stockholders by others. If, however, any other matters properly come before the special meeting of stockholders, it is the intention of the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy to vote the proxies in accordance with their judgment.

66

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

As a public company, we are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. In addition, because the merger may be considered to be a going private transaction, we have filed a Rule 13E-3 Transaction Statement on Schedule 13E-3 with respect to the merger. The Schedule 13E-3, the exhibits to the Schedule 13E-3 and such reports, proxy statements and other information contain additional information about us. Each exhibit to the Schedule 13E-3 will be made available for inspection and copying at our executive offices during regular business hours by any stockholder (or a representative of a stockholder as so designated in writing).

Our stockholders may read and copy the Schedule 13E-3 and any other reports, statements or other information filed by us at the SEC s public reference room located at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference room. Our filings with the SEC are also available at the web site maintained by the SEC located at: http://www.sec.gov.

The fairness opinion of Mesirow is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix B. The fairness opinion of Mesirow is also available for inspection and copying by our stockholders (or a representative of a stockholder so designated in writing) at our principal offices at 4501 West 47th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632 during regular business hours.

Home Products has supplied all information contained in this proxy statement relating to Home Products, its subsidiaries and its directors, executive officers and affiliates, and JRT has supplied all information contained in this proxy statement relating to JRT and its equityholders and affiliates.

No provisions have been made in connection with the merger to grant stockholders access to our corporate files or the corporate files of JRT, or to obtain counsel or appraisal services for stockholders at our expense or the expense of JRT.

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference information into this proxy statement. This means that we can disclose important information by referring to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this proxy statement. This proxy statement may update and supersede the information incorporated by reference. We specifically incorporate by reference into this proxy statement:

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, attached hereto as Appendix F;

Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 27, 2004, attached hereto as Appendix G; and

Our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 5, 2004.

Our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2, 2004.

Any references, however, to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and safe harbor protection for forward-looking statements in those reports are specifically not incorporated by reference into this proxy statement.

67

Table of Contents

This proxy statement does not constitute an offer to sell or to buy, or a solicitation of an offer to sell or to buy, any securities, or the solicitation of a proxy, in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom it is not lawful to make any offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

By Order of the Board of Directors

James E. Winslow

Executive Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer

and Secretary

, 2004

68

Appendix A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

Dated as of June 2, 2004

by and between

JRT ACQUISITION, INC.

and

HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICI E I	THE MERGER	A-1
Section 1.01		A-1 A-1
Section 1.02	e	A-2
Section 1.02	ě	A-2
Section 1.03		A-2
	Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws	A-2
Section 1.05		A-2
Section 1.00		A-2 A-2
Section 1.07	Officers	11-2
ARTICLE II	EFFECT ON CAPITAL STOCK; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES	A-3
	Effect on Capital Stock	A-3
Section 2.02	Exchange of Certificates	A-4
ARTICLE II	I REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	A-7
Section 3.01	Organization, Standing and Power	A-7
Section 3.02	Company Subsidiaries; Equity Interests	A-7
Section 3.03	Capital Structure	A-8
Section 3.04	Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability	A-9
Section 3.05	No Conflicts; Consents	A-10
Section 3.06	SEC Documents; Undisclosed Liabilities	A-11
Section 3.07	Information Supplied	A-11
Section 3.08	Brokers	A-12
Section 3.09	Opinion of Financial Advisor	A-12
ARTICLE IV	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ACQUIRER	A-12
Section 4.01		A-12
Section 4.02		A-12
Section 4.03	-	A-13
Section 4.04		A-13
Section 4.05		A-14
Section 4.06	Brokers	A-14
Section 4.07	Financing	A-14
Section 4.08	Company Representations	A-15
ARTICLE V	COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS	A-15
Section 5.01	Conduct of Business by the Company	A-15
Section 5.02	Company Takeover Proposals	A-15
ARTICLE V	I ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS	A-16
	Preparation of Proxy Statement; Stockholders Meeting	A-16
	Reasonable Best Efforts; Notification	A-18
	Stock Options	A-18
Section 6.04		A-18
Section 6.05	Indemnification	A-19
Section 6.06	Fees and Expenses	A-20
Section 6.07	Public Announcements	A-21
Section 6.08	Transfer Taxes	A-21
Section 6.09	Rights Agreements; Consequences if Rights Triggered	A-21
Section 6.10		A-21
Section 6.11	Section 16 Matters	A-21
	Conveyance Taxes	A-21

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		Page
Section 6.13	Acquirer	A-22
Section 6.14	Employee and Termination Benefits	A-22
ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS PRECEDENT		A-23
Section 7.01	Conditions to Each Party s Obligation to Effect the Merger	A-23
Section 7.02	Conditions to Obligations of Acquirer	A-23
Section 7.03		A-24
Section 7.04		A-24
ARTICLE V	III TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER	A-24
Section 8.01	Termination	A-24
Section 8.02	Effect of Termination	A-26
Section 8.03	Amendment	A-26
Section 8.04	Extension: Waiver	A-26
Section 8.05	Procedure for Termination, Amendment, Extension or Waiver	A-26
ARTICLE IX	GENERAL PROVISIONS	A-27
Section 9.01	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties	A-27
Section 9.02	•	A-27
Section 9.03	Definitions	A-28
Section 9.04	Interpretation; Disclosure Letter	A-30
Section 9.05	*	A-31
Section 9.06	•	A-31
Section 9.07	Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries	A-32
Section 9.08	•	A-32
Section 9.09	Assignment	A-32
Section 9.10	e	A-32

ii

TABLE OF DEFINITIONS

Acquirer	Preamble
Acquirer Expenses	Section 8.05
Acquirer Group	Section 9.03
Acquirer Material Adverse Effect	Section 9.03
Adverse Recommendation Change	Section 5.02
Affiliate	Section 9.03
Agreement	Preamble
Appraisal Shares	Section 2.01
Certificate	Section 2.01
Certificate of Merger	Section 1.03
Closing	Section 1.02
Closing Date	Section 1.02
Company	Preamble
Company Benefit Plan	Section 9.03
Company Board	Preamble
Company By-laws	Section 3.01
Company Capital Stock	Section 3.03
Company Charter	Section 3.01
Company Common Stock	Section 2.01
Company Disclosure Letter	Section 3.01
Company Employees	Section 6.14
Company Financial Statements	Section 3.06
Company Material Adverse Effect	Section 9.03
Company Preferred Stock	Section 3.03
Company Rights	Section 3.03
Company Rights Agreement	Section 3.03
Company SEC Documents	Section 3.06
Company Stockholder Approval	Section 3.04
Company Stockholders Meeting	Section 6.01
Company Stock Options	Section 2.01
Company Stock Plan	Section 9.03
Company Subsidiaries	Section 3.01
Company Takeover Proposal	Section 9.03
Competition Laws	Section 9.03
Consent	Section 3.05
DGCL	Section 1.01
Distribution Date	Section 3.05
ERISA	Section 9.03
Effective Time	Section 1.03
Employee welfare benefit plans	Section 9.03
Exchange Act	Section 3.05
Exchange Fund	Section 2.02
GAAP	Section 3.06
Governmental Entity	Section 3.05
HSR Act	Section 9.03
Indemnified Person	Section 6.05
Indenture	Section 6.06
Indenture Amendment Expenses	Section 6.06
Judgment	Section 3.05
Law	Section 3.05

TABLE OF DEFINITIONS

(continued)

Liens	Section 3.02
Merger	Preamble
Merger Consideration	Section 2.01
New Company Plans	Section 6.14
Outside Date	Section 8.01
Paying Agent	Section 2.02
Per Share Merger Consideration	Section 2.01
Permitted Lien	Section 9.03
Person	Section 9.03
Proprietary Rights	Section 9.03
Proxy Statement	Section 3.05
Representative	Section 9.03
Restated Acquirer Certificate	Section 1.05
Restated Acquirer By-Laws	Section 1.05
Schedule 13E-3	Section 3.05
SEC	Section 3.05
Section 262	Section 2.01
Securities Act	Section 3.06
Special Committee	Preamble
Subsidiary	Section 9.03
Superior Company Proposal	Section 9.03
Surviving Corporation	Section 1.01
Taxes	Section 9.03
Transactions	Section 1.01
Transfer Taxes	Section 6.08
Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval	Section 6.01
Voting Company Debt	Section 3.03

iv

Table of Contents

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER dated as of June 2, 2004 (this <u>Agreement</u>), by and between JRT Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation (<u>Acquirer</u>), and Home Products International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the <u>Company</u>). Certain defined terms are as defined below in Section 9.03.

WHEREAS, a Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the <u>Special Committee</u>) has unanimously determined that the terms and conditions of the merger of Acquirer with and into the Company (the <u>Merger</u>), and the other Transactions contemplated by this Agreement, are fair to, and in the best interest of, the Company s stockholders, and has unanimously approved this Agreement and resolved to recommend that the Board of Directors of the Company (together with the Special Committee, the <u>Company Board</u>) approve this Agreement and recommend that the Company s stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company has determined that the terms of the Merger and the other Transactions are fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company s stockholders, and has approved this Agreement and resolved to recommend that the Company s stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Acquirer has approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, Acquirer and the Company desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger; and

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, James R. Tennant is entering into a voting agreement with the Company (the <u>Voting Agreement</u>).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

Section 1.01 <u>The Merger</u>. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the <u>DGC</u>L), Acquirer shall be merged with and into the Company at the Effective Time (as defined in Section 1.03). At the Effective Time, the separate corporate existence of Acquirer shall cease, and the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation (the <u>Surviving Corporation</u>) and shall succeed to and assume all the rights and obligations of Acquirer in accordance with the DGCL. The Merger and the other transactions contemplated herein are referred to in this Agreement collectively as the Transactions.

Section 1.02 <u>Closing</u>. The closing (the <u>Closing</u>) of the Merger shall take place at the offices of Vedder, Price, Kaufman & Kammholz, P.C., 222 North LaSalle Street, Suite 2400, Chicago, Illinois 60601 at 9:00 a.m., Chicago time, on the business day following the satisfaction (or, to the extent permitted by Law (as defined in Section 3.05(a)), waiver by the applicable party or parties of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the time of the Closing but subject to the satisfaction (or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by the applicable party or parties) of such conditions), or at such other time and date as the Acquirer and Company shall agree in writing. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the <u>Closing Date</u>.

Section 1.03 <u>Effective Time</u>. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall prepare, and on the Closing Date or as soon as practicable thereafter the Company shall file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, a certificate of merger in form reasonably satisfactory to Acquirer (the <u>Certificate of Merger</u>) executed in

A-1

Table of Contents

accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL and shall make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL. The Merger shall become effective at such time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, or at such other time as Acquirer and the Company shall agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger (the time the Merger becomes effective being the <u>Effective Time</u>).

Section 1.04 Effects. The Merger shall have the effects on the Company and Acquirer as set forth in the DGCL, including in Section 259 thereof. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time all the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Acquirer shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and Acquirer shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 1.05 <u>Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws</u>. Acquirer shall file a restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the <u>Restated Acquirer Certificate</u>), which shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended (subject to the restrictions and limitations contained in Section 6.05 of this Agreement) as provided therein and by applicable Law. Acquirer shall amend and restate its by-laws as of the Effective Time (the <u>Restated Acquirer By-laws</u>), which shall be the by-laws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended (subject to the restrictions and limitations contained in Section 6.05 of this Agreement) as provided therein and by applicable Law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company shall have the reasonable right to review and comment upon the Restated Acquirer Certificate and Restated Acquirer By-laws prior to the Effective Time with respect to the provisions relating to Section 6.05.

Section 1.06 <u>Directors</u>. The directors of Acquirer immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, as the case may be.

Section 1.07 Officers. The officers of Acquirer immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified, as the case may be.

ARTICLE II

EFFECT ON CAPITAL STOCK; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

Section 2.01 <u>Effect on Capital Stock</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Company (the <u>Company Common Stock</u>) or any shares of capital stock of Acquirer:

(a) <u>Capital Stock of Acquirer</u>. Each issued and outstanding share of capital stock of Acquirer shall be converted into and become one fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation.

(b) <u>Cancellation of Treasury Stock</u>: <u>Acquirer-Owned Stock</u>. Each issued and outstanding share of Company Common Stock that is (i) held in the treasury of the Company, or (ii) owned by the Acquirer shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no cash or other consideration shall be delivered or deliverable in exchange therefor.

(c) <u>Conversion of Company Common Stock</u>. (i) Subject to Sections 2.01(b) and 2.01(d), each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (together with any Company Rights, if still outstanding) shall be converted into the right to receive, in exchange for such share of Company Common Stock, an amount of cash, without interest, equal to \$1.50 (the <u>Per Share Merger Consideration</u>).

A-2

Table of Contents

- (ii) The cash payable upon conversion of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to this Section 2.01(c) is referred to collectively as the Merger Consideration. As of the Effective Time, all such shares of Company Common Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate representing any such shares of Company Common Stock (a Certificate) shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive Merger Consideration upon surrender of such certificate in accordance with Section 2.02, without interest.
- (d) Appraisal Rights. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, shares of Company Common Stock that are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that are held by any person, other than any member of the Acquirer Group, who is entitled to demand and properly demands appraisal of such shares pursuant to, and who complies in all respects with, Section 262 of the DGCL (Section 262) and who, as of the Effective Time, shall not have effectively withdrawn or otherwise forfeited appraisal rights (collectively, the Appraisal Shares) shall not be converted into Merger Consideration as provided in Section 2.01(c), but rather the holders of Appraisal Shares shall be entitled to payment in accordance with Section 262; provided, however, that if any such holder shall fail to perfect or otherwise shall waive, withdraw or lose the right to appraisal under Section 262, then the right of such holder to be paid in accordance with Section 262 shall cease and such Appraisal Shares shall be deemed to have been converted as of the Effective Time into, and to have become exchangeable solely for the right to receive, the Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 2.01(c). At the Effective Time, the Appraisal Shares shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and each holder of Appraisal Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the fair value of such shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 262. The Company shall give prompt notice to Acquirer of any demands received by the Company for appraisal of any shares of Company Common Stock, together with copies of any correspondence or filings related thereto, and Acquirer shall have the right to participate in and direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Acquirer, make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any
- (e) <u>Stock Options</u>. Each outstanding and unexercised option to purchase shares of Company Common Stock issued under any Company Stock Plan (collectively, the <u>Company Stock Options</u>), whether vested or unvested, as to which an option cancellation agreement (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Company and Acquirer) has been delivered prior to the Effective Time, shall terminate and be canceled as of the Effective Time. In consideration for the cancellation thereof, each person, other than any member of the Acquirer Group, who holds an exercisable Company Stock Option (including options which, by their terms, become exercisable as a result of the Transactions hereby) shall be entitled to receive, in consideration therefor, a cash payment on or promptly after the Closing Date (the <u>Cancellation Consideration</u>) equal to the product of (i) the excess, if any, of the Per Share Merger Consideration over the per share exercise price of such Company Stock Option, multiplied by (ii) the aggregate number of shares of Company Common Stock then subject to such Company Stock Option.
- (f) <u>Certain Adjustments</u>. If, during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time or earlier termination of this Agreement, shares of Company Common Stock are changed into a different number or class of shares by reason of any stock split, division or subdivision of shares, stock dividend, reverse stock split, consolidation of shares, reclassification, recapitalization or other similar transaction, then the Merger Consideration applicable to such shares of Company Common Stock shall be appropriately adjusted.

Section 2.02 Exchange of Certificates.

(a) <u>Paying Agent</u>. Prior to the Effective Time, Acquirer shall select a bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to the Company to act as paying agent (the <u>Paying Agent</u>) for the payment of the Merger Consideration upon surrender of Certificates. At the Effective Time, Acquirer shall directly provide to the Paying Agent all the cash necessary to pay for the shares of Company Common Stock that were converted into the right

Table of Contents 152

A-3

Table of Contents

to receive Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 2.01(c) and the amount of Cancellation Consideration payable to holders of Company Stock Options pursuant to Section 2.01(e) (such cash being hereinafter referred to as the <u>Exchange Fund</u>).

- (b) Exchange Procedure. (i) As promptly as practicable after the Effective Time (but in any event no later than five Business Days after the Paying Agent receives an electronic copy of the Company s stock records as of the Effective Time, suitable for the Paying Agent s use, from the Company s transfer agent), Acquirer shall instruct the Paying Agent to mail to each holder of record of Certificates whose shares were converted into the right to receive Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 2.01(c), a letter of transmittal reasonably acceptable to Acquirer and the Company, and instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Paying Agent, together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed, and such other documents as may reasonably be required by the Paying Agent, the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor, and the Paying Agent shall deliver in accordance with the letter of transmittal as promptly as practicable, the amount of cash into which the shares of Company Common Stock theretofore represented by such Certificate shall have been converted pursuant to Section 2.01(c), and the Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Company Common Stock that is not registered in the transfer records of the Company, payment may be made to a person other than the person in whose name the Certificate so surrendered is registered, if such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer and the person requesting such payment shall pay any transfer or other Taxes (as defined in Section 9.03) required by reason of the payment to a person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the satisfaction of Acquirer that such Tax has been paid or is not applicable. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 2.02(b)(i), each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender the amount of cash, without interest, into which the shares of Company Common Stock theretofore represented by such Certificate have been converted pursuant to Section 2.01. No interest shall be paid or accrue on the cash payable upon surrender of any Certificate.
- (ii) Upon the Effective Time, the Company shall deliver to the Paying Agent an electronic listing, suitable for the Paying Agent s use, of each holder of Company Stock Options who has not previously exercised his or her Company Stock Options and who has executed and delivered an option cancellation agreement. Prior to or at the Effective Time, Acquirer shall instruct the Paying Agent to deliver the Cancellation Consideration due each such holder in accordance with Section 2.01(e) as promptly as practicable following the Effective Time, but in no event later than five Business Days thereafter. Following the Effective Time, upon the execution and delivery of an option cancellation agreement by any holder of Company Stock Options, the Surviving Corporation shall provide the Paying Agent with an electronic listing suitable for the Paying Agent s use with respect to such holder, and shall instruct the Paying Agent to deliver the Cancellation Consideration due such holder in accordance with Section 2.01(e) as promptly as practicable, but in no event later than five Business Days after the Paying Agent receives such listing. Payment of the Cancellation Consideration shall be net of any required withholding taxes, and no interest shall be paid or accrue thereon.
- (c) No Further Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock. The Merger Consideration paid in accordance with the terms of this Article II upon conversion of any shares of Company Common Stock shall be paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such shares of Company Common Stock and after the Effective Time there shall be no further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation of shares of Company Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, any Certificates formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock are presented to the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent for any reason, they shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this Article II.
- (d) <u>Termination of Exchange Fund</u>. Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to the holders of Certificates formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options for 9 months after the Effective Time shall be delivered to Surviving Corporation and any holder of Certificates

A-4

Table of Contents

formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options who has not by then complied with this Article II shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation for payment on such holder s Certificates formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options of Merger Consideration or Cancellation Consideration.

- (e) No Liability. None of Acquirer, the Company or the Paying Agent shall be liable to any person in respect of any cash from the Exchange Fund delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. If any Certificate formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock has not been surrendered prior to the date on which the Merger Consideration in respect of such Certificate would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Entity (as defined in Section 3.05(b)), any such Merger Consideration in respect of such Certificate shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of the Surviving Corporation, free and clear of all claims or interest of any person previously entitled thereto.
- (f) Investment of Exchange Fund. The Paying Agent shall invest any cash included in the Exchange Fund, as directed by Acquirer, on a daily basis. Pending payment of such funds to the holders of Certificates formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock or the holders of Company Stock Options, such funds will be held and shall be invested by the Paying Agent as Acquirer directs (so long as such directions do not impair the rights of the holders of Certificates formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options) in the direct obligations of the United States, obligations for which the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged to provide for the payment of principal and interest or commercial paper rated of the highest quality by Moody s Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor s. The Exchange Fund shall not be used except as provided in this Agreement. Any interest and other income resulting from such investments shall be paid to the Surviving Corporation. Any losses resulting from such investments shall be the sole responsibility of Acquirer and shall not in any way limit the obligations of Acquirer to holders of Certificates formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options.
- (g) <u>Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates</u>. If any Certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of a customary affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if reasonably required by Acquirer, the posting by such person of a bond in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Corporation may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Paying Agent will deliver in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Merger Consideration pursuant to this Article II.
- (h) Withholding Rights. The Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, as applicable, shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Merger Consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any former holder of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options such amounts as the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, as the case may be, may be required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Code, or any provision of state, local or foreign tax law. To the extent withheld by the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, such withheld amounts shall be timely paid to the appropriate Governmental Entity and shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the former holder of Company Common Stock or Company Stock Options in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.
- (i) <u>Termination of Agreement</u>. In the event this Agreement is terminated prior to the Effective Time, Acquirer shall, or shall cause the Paying Agent to promptly return any Certificates theretofore submitted or delivered to the Paying Agent, without charge to the person who submitted such Certificates.

A-5

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company represents and warrants to Acquirer that, except to the extent set forth in any of the Company s SEC Documents filed after December 31, 2001 and except as set forth in the letter dated as of the date of this Agreement from the Company to Acquirer (the <u>Company Disclosure Letter</u>):

Section 3.01 Organization, Standing and Power. The Company and each of its subsidiaries (the <u>Company Subsidiaries</u>) (a) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is organized, (b) has full corporate or other power, as the case may be, and authority to transact its business as presently conducted, (c) possesses all governmental franchises, licenses, permits, authorizations and approvals necessary to enable it to own, lease or otherwise hold its properties and assets and to conduct its business as presently conducted, and (d) is duly qualified to do business in each jurisdiction where the nature of its business or the ownership or leasing of its properties make such qualification necessary, except in the case of clauses (c) and (d) above for failures which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have or result in a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company has made available to Acquirer and its Representatives (as defined in Section 9.03) true and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation of the Company, as amended through the date of this Agreement (as so amended, the <u>Company Charter</u>), and the by-laws of the Company, as amended through the date of this Agreement (as so amended through the date of this Agreement.

Section 3.02 Company Subsidiaries; Equity Interests. Section 3.02 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, as of the date of this Agreement, a list of each Company Subsidiary and its jurisdiction of organization. All the outstanding shares of capital stock of each Company Subsidiary (a) are duly authorized and have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable, as applicable, and free of preemptive rights and (b) are owned by the Company, by another Company Subsidiary or by the Company and another Company Subsidiary, free and clear of all pledges, liens, charges, mortgages, encumbrances and security interests of any kind or nature whatsoever (collectively, Liens), except in the case of subsections (a) and (b) for failures which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have or result in a Company Material Adverse Effect. There are no Contracts (as defined in Section 3.05(a)) or arrangements with respect to the ownership, voting or disposition of any shares of stock of any Company Subsidiary.

Section 3.03 Capital Structure. (a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 15,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock and 500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the Company Preferred Stock), and together with the Company Common Stock, the Company Capital Stock). At the close of business on June 2, 2004, (i) 7,873,664 shares of Company Common Stock were issued and outstanding, (ii) 822,394 shares of Company Common Stock were held by the Company in its treasury, (iii) 864,216 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to outstanding Company Stock Options, (iv) 151,610 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to future awards under the Company s 1999 Directors Restricted Stock Plan and the Company s Executive Incentive Plan, (v) 953,963 additional shares of Company Common Stock were available for issuance under the Company Stock Plans, (vi) 79,204 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to outstanding warrants held by GE Capital Corporation and Hare & Company, (vii) 394,861 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance under the Company s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, (viii) no shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for and subject to issuance in connection with the rights (the Company Rights) issued pursuant to the Rights Agreement dated as of May 21, 1997, between the Company and ChaseMellon Shareholder Services L.L.C., as Rights Agent (the Company Rights Agreement) and (ix) no shares of Company Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding. Except as set forth above, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, no other shares of Company Capital Stock were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding.

(b) Section 3.03(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list, as of the close of business on June 2, 2004, of all outstanding Company Stock Options and all other rights, if any, issued or

A-6

Table of Contents

granted by the Company to purchase or receive Company Capital Stock or stock in any Company Subsidiary, the number of shares subject thereto, the grant dates and exercise prices thereof and the names of the holders thereof. The Company has made available to Acquirer and its Representatives true and complete copies of all option agreements governing Company Stock Options. During the period from January 1, 2004 to the date of this Agreement, there have been no issuances by the Company of shares of Company Capital Stock other than issuances of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of Company Stock Options outstanding on such date pursuant to the terms thereof.

- (c) All outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock are, and all such shares that may be issued prior to the Effective Time will be when issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to or issued in violation of any purchase option, call option, right of first refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or any similar right under any provision of the DGCL, the Company Charter, the Company By-laws or any Contract to which the Company is a party or otherwise bound.
- (d) There are no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which holders of Company Common Stock may vote (Voting Company Debt). Except for the Company Stock Options and the Company Rights, there are no options, warrants, calls, rights, convertible or exchangeable securities, phantom stock rights, stock appreciation rights, stock-based performance units, profit participation rights, rights of repurchase, other rights (other than rights that may have arisen under a Company Stock Plan) linked to the price of Company Capital Stock, or commitments, Contracts, arrangements or undertakings of any kind to which the Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them is bound (i) obligating the Company or any Company Subsidiary to issue, deliver, sell or grant, or cause to be issued, delivered, sold or granted additional shares of capital stock or other voting securities or equity interests in, or any security convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for any capital stock of or other voting security or equity interest in, the Company or any Company Subsidiary or any Voting Company Debt, or (ii) obligating the Company or any Company Subsidiary to issue, grant, extend or enter into any such option, warrant, call, right, security, unit, commitment, Contract, arrangement or undertaking. There are not any outstanding contractual obligations of the Company or any Company Subsidiary. The Company has made available to Acquirer and its Representatives a true and complete copy of the Company Rights Agreement, as amended to the date of this Agreement.
- (e) Except for the Voting Agreement, neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to any voting agreement, irrevocable proxy or other agreement with respect to the voting of the Company Capital Stock.

Section 3.04 <u>Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability</u>. (a) The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the Transactions in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, subject, in the case of the consummation of the Merger to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval (as defined in Section 3.04(c)) and the filing of the Certificate of Merger as required by the DGCL. The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation by the Company of the Transactions in accordance with the terms of this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to approve this Agreement or to consummate the Transactions, subject, in the case of the consummation of the Merger, to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval and the filing of the Certificate of Merger as required by the DGCL. The Company has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and, assuming due execution and delivery hereof by Acquirer, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium and other similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors rights and to general equity principles.

A-7

Table of Contents

- (b) The Special Committee, at a meeting duly called and held, duly adopted unanimous resolutions (i) determining that the terms and conditions of the Merger and the other Transactions are fair to, and in the best interest of, the Company s stockholders, (ii) approving this Agreement, (iii) recommending that the Board of Directors of the Company approve this Agreement, and (iv) recommending that the Board of Directors of the Company resolve to recommend that the Company s stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger.
- (c) The Board of Directors of the Company, at a meeting duly called and held, duly adopted resolutions (i) determining that the terms of the Merger and the other Transactions are fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company s stockholders, (ii) approving this Agreement, and (iii) recommending that the Company s stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger. Such resolutions and the previous actions taken by the Company Board are sufficient to render inapplicable the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL to (A) this Agreement, (B) the Merger and (C) the other Transactions. No other state takeover statute or similar statute or regulation applies or purports to apply to the Company with respect to this Agreement, the Merger or any other Transaction.
- (d) The only vote of holders of any class or series of Company Capital Stock necessary to approve and adopt this Agreement, approve the Merger and consummate the Merger is the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Company Common Stock (the <u>Company Stockholder Approval</u>). The affirmative vote of the holders of Company Capital Stock, or any of them, is not necessary to consummate any Transaction other than the Merger.

Section 3.05 No Conflicts; Consents. (a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company does not, and the consummation by the Company of the Transactions will not, (i) violate any statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation (Law) or any judgment, order or decree (Judgment), in each case applicable to the Company or by which its property is bound, (ii) violate the certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or comparable organizational document) of the Company or any Company Subsidiary, or (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or give others any rights of termination or cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any of the properties or assets of the Company or any Company Subsidiary under any provision of any contract (whether written or oral), lease, license, indenture, note, bond, agreement, permit, concession, franchise or other instrument (other than a Company Benefit Plan) or permit to which the Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets is bound, except in the case of clauses (i) and (iii) for violations, breaches or defaults which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have or result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization (<u>Consent</u>) of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or permit from, any domestic or foreign (whether national, federal, state, provincial, local or otherwise) government or any court of competent jurisdiction, administrative agency or commission or other governmental authority or instrumentality, domestic or foreign (each, a <u>Governmental Entity</u>) is required to be obtained or made by the Company or any Company Subsidiary in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company or the consummation of the Transactions, the failure of which to submit or obtain would, individually or in the aggregate, have or result in a Company Material Adverse Effect, other than (i) the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the <u>SEC</u>) of (A) a proxy statement relating to the adoption of this Agreement by the Company s stockholders (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the <u>Proxy Statement</u>), (B) a Transaction Statement on Schedule 13E-3 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the <u>Schedule 13E-3</u>) and (C) such reports under Sections 13 and 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the <u>Exchange</u> Act), as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions, (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of the other jurisdictions in which the Company is qualified to do business, (iii) such filings as may be required in connection with the Taxes described in Section 6.08, (iv) such filings as may be required under the rules and regulations of

A-8

Table of Contents

The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc., (v) requirements, if any, under Competition Laws, (vi) applicable state securities or blue sky laws and the securities laws of any foreign country or (vii) such other items required solely by reason of the participation of Acquirer or its stockholders or affiliates in the Transactions.

(c) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company and the Company Board shall have taken such action necessary to (i) render the Company Rights inapplicable to (A) this Agreement, (B) the Merger and (C) the other Transactions, and (ii) ensure that (A) neither of Acquirer nor any of its stockholders, affiliates or associates is or will become an Acquiring Person (as defined in the Company Rights Agreement) by reason of this Agreement, the Merger or any other Transaction and (B) a Distribution Date (as defined in the Company Rights Agreement) shall not occur by reason of this Agreement, the Merger or any other Transaction.

Section 3.06 <u>SEC Documents; Undisclosed Liabilities</u>. (a) The Company has filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by the Company with the SEC since January 1, 2003 (the <u>Company SEC Documents</u>).

- (b) As of its respective date, each Company SEC Document complied as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the <u>Securities Act</u>), as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder applicable to such Company SEC Document, and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent modified or corrected prior to the date hereof by a subsequently filed Company SEC Document. The consolidated financial statements (the <u>Company Financial Statements</u>) of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents comply in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto, were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (<u>GAAP</u>) (except, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly presented the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments).
- (c) Other than as disclosed in the Company Financial Statements (including the notes thereto), as of the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise), other than (i) liabilities or obligations incurred since March 27, 2004 in the ordinary course of business, (ii) liabilities and obligations relating to, or incurred in connection with, the Transactions, and (iii) liabilities and obligations which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have or result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.07 <u>Information Supplied</u>. (a) At the time the Proxy Statement is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or at the time it is first mailed to stockholders of the Company, neither the Proxy Statement, as amended or supplemented nor the Schedule 13E-3, as amended or supplemented will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except that no representation or warranty is made by the Company in this Section 3.07(a) with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein about Acquirer, any other member of the Acquirer Group or their Representatives, or based on information supplied by Acquirer, any other member of the Acquirer Group or their Representatives for inclusion or incorporation by reference in such documents.

(b) Each document required to be filed by the Company with the SEC or required to be distributed or otherwise disseminated by the Company to the Company s stockholders in connection with the Merger and the other Transactions and any amendments or supplements thereto, when filed, distributed or disseminated, as applicable, will comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act

A-9

Table of Contents

and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, except that no representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein about Acquirer, any other member of the Acquirer Group or their Representatives, or based on information supplied by Acquirer, any other member of the Acquirer Group or their Representatives for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.

Section 3.08 <u>Brokers</u>. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person, other than Mesirow Financial, Inc., the fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Company, is entitled to any broker s, finder s, financial advisor s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company other than by any member of the Acquirer Group.

Section 3.09 Opinion of Financial Advisor. Mesirow Financial, Inc. has delivered an executed opinion to the Company Board, dated the date of this Agreement, to the effect that, as of such date and subject to the qualifications and limitations stated therein, the Merger Consideration is fair from a financial point of view to the holders of Company Common Stock. The Company has delivered a true and complete copy of such executed opinion to Acquirer concurrently with the execution of this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ACQUIRER

Acquirer represents and warrants to the Company that:

Section 4.01 <u>Organization, Standing and Power</u>. Acquirer is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware and has the requisite corporate power and authority to conduct its business as presently conducted. Acquirer has made available to the Company true and complete copies of its certificate of incorporation and by-laws, as amended to date.

Section 4.02 <u>Acquirer</u>. (a) Since the date of its incorporation, Acquirer has not carried on any business or conducted any operations other than the execution of this Agreement, the performance of its obligations hereunder and matters ancillarly thereto. Acquirer has no subsidiaries.

(b) The authorized capital stock of Acquirer consists of 3,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, all of which have been validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and are owned free and clear of any Lien.

Section 4.03 <u>Authority</u>; <u>Execution and Delivery</u>; <u>Enforceability</u>. Acquirer has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the Transactions in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, subject, in the case of the consummation of the Merger, to the filing of the Certificate of Merger as required by the DGCL. The execution and delivery by Acquirer of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Acquirer and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Acquirer are necessary to approve this Agreement or to consummate the Transactions, subject, in the case of the Merger, to the filing of the Certificate of Merger as required by the DGCL. The Board of Directors and stockholders of the Acquirer have duly and unanimously adopted resolutions approving this Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions. Acquirer has duly executed and

delivered this Agreement, and, assuming due execution and delivery hereof by the Company, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Acquirer, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium and other similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors rights and to general equity principles.

Section 4.04 No Conflicts: Consents. The execution and delivery by Acquirer of this Agreement does not, and the consummation by Acquirer of the Transactions will not (i) violate any Law or Judgment in each case applicable to Acquirer or any other member of the Acquirer Group or by which any of their respective property is

A-10

Table of Contents

bound, (ii) violate the certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or comparable organizational documents) of Acquirer, or (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination or cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any of the properties or assets of Acquirer pursuant to, any provision of any contract (whether written or oral), lease, license, indenture, note, bond, agreement, permit, concession, franchise or other instrument or permit to which Acquirer is a party or by which any of its properties or assets is bound, except in the case of clauses (i) and (ii) for failures which would not have or result in an Acquirer Material Adverse Effect. No Consent of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or permit from any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Acquirer in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement thereby or the consummation of the Transactions, other than (i) the filing with the SEC of (A) the Schedule 13E-3 and (B) such reports under Sections 13 and 16 of the Exchange Act, as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions, (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, (iii) requirements, if any, under Competition Laws, and (iv) such filings as may be required in connection with the Taxes described in Section 6.08.

Section 4.05 <u>Information Supplied</u>. (a) At the time the Proxy Statement is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or at the time it is first mailed to stockholders of the Company, the Proxy Statement, as amended or supplemented, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except that this representation and warranty is made by Acquirer in this Section 4.05(a) solely with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied by Acquirer, any other member of the Acquirer Group or their Representatives for inclusion or incorporation by reference in such documents. The Schedule 13E-3, at the time it is filed with the SEC or at any time it is amended or supplemented, if applicable, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except that no representation or warranty is made by Acquirer in this Section 4.05(a) with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied solely by the Company or its Representatives for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement or Schedule 13E-3 will, at the time any such document is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or at the time it is first mailed to the Company s stockholders, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading.

(b) The Schedule 13E-3 (other than portions of the Schedule 13E-3 attributable to the Company), and any amendments or supplements thereto, when filed, will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, except that no representation or warranty is made by Acquirer with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied solely by the Company or its Representatives for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.

Section 4.06 <u>Brokers</u>. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person, other than Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Acquirer, is entitled to any broker s, finder s, financial advisor s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Merger and the other Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Acquirer or any other member of the Acquirer Group.

Section 4.07 <u>Financing</u>. As of the date of this Agreement, Acquirer has received, and has provided to the Company copies of, written commitments (which, as of the date of this Agreement, have not expired or been cancelled, terminated, rescinded, amended or otherwise modified) from financial institutions to provide, in the

A-11

Table of Contents

aggregate, monies sufficient for the acquisition of the shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.01(c) of this Agreement and the cancellation of Company Stock Options pursuant to Section 2.01(e) of this Agreement, and all expenses associated with any of the foregoing (including, but not limited to, applicable broker fees and expenses), and Acquirer will have such monies available to it upon the Closing.

Section 4.08 <u>Company Representations</u>. Acquirer has no actual knowledge that any of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement are not true and correct in accordance with their respective terms as of the date hereof, and Acquirer has no actual knowledge of any errors in, or omissions from, the Company Disclosure Letter. Acquirer shall be deemed to have waived any claimed breach of any representation or warranty of which any member of the Acquirer Group has actual knowledge as of the date hereof.

ARTICLE V

COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Section 5.01 <u>Conduct of Business by the Company</u>. Except for matters contemplated by this Agreement, from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, the Company shall, and shall cause each Company Subsidiary to, conduct its business in light of the existing circumstances in the ordinary course, including operating in compliance with Law and making all required filings with the SEC.

- (a) Other Actions. Except as otherwise permitted by Section 5.02, the Company, on the one hand, and Acquirer and any other member of the Acquirer Group, on the other hand, shall not, and shall not permit any of their subsidiaries or affiliates to, take any action that would, or that is reasonably likely to, result in (i) any of the representations and warranties of such party set forth in this Agreement becoming untrue, other than for such failures to be true and correct that, individually or in the aggregate, have not resulted and are not reasonably likely to result in the condition in Section 7.02(a) (in the case of the Company) or Section 7.03(a) (in the case of Acquirer) not being satisfied or (ii) any condition to the Merger set forth in Article VII not being satisfied.
- (b) <u>Designated Representative of Acquirer</u>. If any consent is required of Acquirer pursuant to this Agreement, James R. Tennant is hereby designated as the authorized representative of Acquirer for such purposes. Acquirer may change its authorized representative by giving notice to the Company pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 9.02.

Section 5.02 <u>Company Takeover Proposals</u>. (a) The Company shall not, nor shall it authorize or permit any Company Subsidiary to, nor shall it authorize or permit any of its or any Company Subsidiary s Representatives to, (i) enter into any agreement with respect to any Company Takeover Proposal (as defined in Section 5.02(e) below), except (A) in accordance with Section 8.05(b) below (and after compliance with all the procedures set forth therein) or (B) a confidentiality agreement in accordance with this Section 5.02(a) or (ii) furnish to any person any information with respect to a Company Takeover Proposal, except, prior to obtaining each of the Company Stockholder Approval and the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval (as defined in Section 6.01(b)), pursuant to a confidentiality agreement and subject to compliance with Section 5.02(c) below.

(b) The Company Board shall not (i) withdraw or modify in a manner adverse to Acquirer, or propose publicly to withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to Acquirer, the recommendation by the Company Board of this Agreement or the Merger, in each case unless the Company Board determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that it is necessary to do so to comply with its fiduciary duties (any such withdrawal, modification or proposal being referred to herein as an <u>Adverse Recommendation Change</u>), (ii) approve any letter of intent,

agreement in principle, acquisition agreement or similar agreement relating to any Company Takeover Proposal or (iii) approve or recommend, or propose publicly to approve or recommend, any Company Takeover Proposal. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, the Company Board receives a Superior Company Proposal (as defined in Section 5.02(e) below), then

A-12

Table of Contents

the Company Board may, in accordance with Section 8.05(b) below (including the notice provisions and the payment of the fee therein), approve and recommend such Superior Company Proposal and cause the Company to terminate this Agreement and concurrently (or substantially contemporaneously) enter into a definitive agreement providing for the implementation of such Superior Company Proposal.

(c) The Company promptly shall advise Acquirer orally and in writing of any Company Takeover Proposal made to the Special Committee or a member thereof, or to a Representative of the Special Committee of which a member of the Special Committee becomes aware, the identity of the person making any such Company Takeover Proposal and the material terms of any such Company Takeover Proposal. The Company shall keep Acquirer informed of the status (including any change to the material terms) of any such Company Takeover Proposal or inquiry.

(d) Nothing contained in this Section 5.02 shall prohibit the Company from taking and disclosing to its stockholders a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9 or Rule 14e-2(a) of the SEC or from making any disclosure to the Company s stockholders if, in the good faith judgment of the Special Committee, after consultation with outside counsel, failure to so disclose would be inconsistent with its obligations under applicable Law, it being understood that if any such disclosure constitutes an Adverse Recommendation Change, Acquirer shall have the rights provided in the event of an Adverse Recommendation Change.

ARTICLE VI

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

Section 6.01 Preparation of Proxy Statement; Stockholders Meeting. (a) As promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, (i) Acquirer will provide the Company with all information with respect to the Acquirer Group as is reasonably necessary or advisable for inclusion in the Proxy Statement, (ii) the Company shall prepare and, after obtaining the approval of Acquirer, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, file with the SEC the Proxy Statement in preliminary form, and (iii) the Company and Acquirer shall prepare the Schedule 13E-3. Without limiting the foregoing, each of the Company and Acquirer will take all reasonable steps necessary or advisable to enable the Proxy Statement and the Schedule 13E-3 to be filed with the SEC no later than June 25, 2004. Each of the Company and Acquirer shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to respond as promptly as practicable to any comments of the SEC with respect thereto. Each of the Company and Acquirer shall notify the other promptly of the receipt of any comments from the SEC or its staff and of any request by the SEC or its staff for amendments or supplements to the Proxy Statement or the Schedule 13E-3 or for additional information and shall supply the others with copies of all correspondence between it or any of its Representatives, on the one hand, and the SEC or its staff, on the other hand, with respect to the Proxy Statement or the Schedule 13E-3, as applicable. Absent any temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order or decree issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition or notification by the SEC of the commencement of an SEC review of the preliminary Proxy Statement, the Company shall file with the SEC the definitive Proxy Statement as soon as reasonably practicable following the filing of the preliminary Proxy Statement with the SEC (but not earlier than the 10th calendar day following the filing of the preliminary Proxy Statement), and shall cause the mailing of the definitive Proxy Statement to the stockholders of the Company to occur as promptly as practicable thereafter. If at any time prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval there shall occur any event that should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement or the Company or Acquirer shall otherwise reasonably determine that any amendment or supplement should be made to the Proxy Statement in accordance with applicable Law, the Company shall as promptly as practicable prepare and mail to its stockholders such an amendment or supplement. Prior to responding to any comments of the SEC with respect to the Proxy Statement, the Company (i) shall provide Acquirer an opportunity to review and comment on such document or response, and (ii) shall consider in good faith for inclusion in such document or response all comments reasonably proposed by Acquirer.

A-13

Table of Contents

- (b) The Company shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, establish a record date for and duly call, and as promptly as reasonably practicable after the mailing of the definitive Proxy Statement pursuant to Section 6.01, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of its stockholders (the Company Stockholders Meeting) to obtain (i) the Company Stockholder Approval and (ii) the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger by the holders of the majority of shares of Company Common Stock present or represented by proxy at such meeting that is not held by any member of the Acquirer Group voting for and against such approval (treating for this purpose holders who have delivered, prior to the Company obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, written demands for appraisal in accordance with Section 262(d) of the DGCL and who, as of such time, shall not have effectively withdrawn or otherwise forfeited appraisal rights as voting no) (such approval, the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval). The Company shall, through the Company Board and in the Proxy Statement, recommend to its stockholders that they give each of the Company Stockholder Approval and the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, except to the extent that the Company Board shall have withdrawn or modified its recommendation of this Agreement or the Merger as permitted by Section 5.02(b). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company agrees that its obligations pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 6.01(b) shall not be affected by (i) the commencement, public proposal, public disclosure or communication to the Company of any Company Takeover Proposal or (ii) the withdrawal or modification by the Company Board of its approval or recommendation of this Agreement or the Merger.
- (c) Acquirer shall cause all shares of Company Common Stock owned by Acquirer or any other member of the Acquirer Group to be voted in favor of the approval and adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Merger. Unless the Company Board shall have made an Adverse Recommendation Change, the Company shall cause all shares which are voted at the direction of the Company Board or its members to be voted in favor of the adoption of this Agreement.
- (d) If the Company is unable to obtain a quorum of its stockholders at such time, (i) the Company may extend the date of the Company Stockholders Meeting by no more than 30 days and the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts during such 30-day period to obtain such a quorum as soon as practicable, and (ii) the Company may delay the Company Stockholders Meeting to the extent (and only to the extent) the Company determines in good faith that such delay is required by applicable law or to comply with written or verbal comments made by the SEC with respect to the Proxy Statement. Such 30 day period shall constitute the 30 day written notice period for purposes of Section 8.01(c)(i).

Section 6.02 Reasonable Best Efforts; Notification. (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, unless, to the extent permitted by Section 5.02(b), the Company Board approves or recommends a Superior Company Proposal, each of the parties hereto shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other party in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the Merger and the other Transactions, including (i) the obtaining of all necessary actions or nonactions, Consents and waivers from Governmental Entities and the making of all necessary registrations and filings (including filings with Governmental Entities, if any) and the taking of all reasonable steps as may be necessary to obtain a Consent or waiver from, or to avoid an action or proceeding by, any Governmental Entity, (ii) the obtaining of all necessary Consents or waivers from third parties, (iii) the defending of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation of any of the Transactions, including seeking to have any stay, order or injunction entered by any court or other Governmental Entity vacated or reversed and (iv) the execution and delivery of any additional instruments necessary to consummate the Transactions and to fully carry out the purposes of this Agreement. In connection with and without limiting the foregoing, the Company and the Company Board shall (i) take all action necessary to ensure that no state takeover statute or regulation becomes applicable to any Transaction or this Agreement and (ii) if any state takeover statute or similar statute or regulation becomes applicable to any Transaction or this Agreement, take all action necessary to ensure that the Merger and the other Transactions may be consummated as promptly as practicable on the

A-14

Table of Contents

terms contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise to minimize the effect of such statute or regulation on the Merger and the other Transactions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and its Representatives shall not be prohibited under this Section 6.02 from taking any action permitted by Sections 5.02(b) or (d). Acquirer will use its reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Company, at the Company s reasonable request, in the performance of the Company s obligations in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above.

Section 6.03 <u>Stock Options</u>. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company and Acquirer shall cooperate in an effort to obtain an option cancellation agreement executed by each holder of a Company Stock Option in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Acquirer and to the Company.

Section 6.04 Competition Laws. Each of Acquirer and the Company will (i) make any filings required of such party under Competition Laws with respect to the Merger and the other Transactions as soon as reasonably practicable or as otherwise required after the date of this Agreement; (ii) comply at the earliest reasonably practicable date with any request under the HSR Act for additional information, documents or other materials received by such party from the Federal Trade Commission, the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice or any other Governmental Entity in respect of such filings or the Merger and the other Transactions; (iii) promptly notify the other of (A) the receipt of any comments on, or any request of amendments or supplements to, any such filings or information, documents, or other materials by any Governmental Entity or official, and (B) any other communications from or with any Governmental Entity with respect to the Merger; and (iv) cooperate with the other party in connection with making any filing under Competition Laws and in connection with any filings, conferences or other submissions related to resolving any investigation or other inquiry by any such Governmental Entity under Competition Laws with respect to the Merger and the other Transactions, including (A) supplying the other with information which may be required to effectuate any such filings or applications, (B) keeping the other party apprised of the status of matters relating to the completion of the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement and working cooperatively in connection with obtaining any consents from any Governmental Entity, (C) not participating in any meeting with any Governmental Entity unless it consults with the other party in advance, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Entity, and (D) providing copies of all such documents and correspondence to the non-filing party and its advisors prior to filing and, if requested, to accept all reasonable additions, deletions or changes suggested in connec

Section 6.05 <u>Indemnification</u>. (a) From and after the Effective Time, Acquirer will cause the Surviving Corporation to fulfill and honor in all respects the indemnification obligations of the Company pursuant to the Company Charter, the Company By-laws and any indemnification or similar agreement to which the Company is a party, each as in effect on the date hereof, with respect to each present and former Person who serves or served as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or any Company Subsidiary at any time at or before the Effective Time (each, together with such Person s heirs, executors or administrators, an <u>Indemnified Person</u>).

- (b) Without limiting the generality of Section 6.05(a) above, the certificate of incorporation and by-laws of the Surviving Corporation (including the Restated Acquirer Certificate and the Restated Acquirer By-laws) shall contain provisions with respect to exculpation from liability, indemnification and advancement of expenses that are at least as favorable to the Indemnified Persons as those contained in the Company Charter and the Company By-laws as in effect on the date hereof, which provisions shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified for a period of six years from the Effective Time in any manner that would adversely affect the rights of the Indemnified Persons who, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were directors and officers of the Company, unless such modification is required by law.
- (c) Prior to the Closing, the Company shall purchase a fully prepaid tail policy under the Company s existing directors and officers liability insurance policy with American International Group, Inc., such tail policy to (i) provide for aggregate coverage of at least \$15,000,000, (ii) be effective for a period of six years commencing on the Effective Time, and (iii) otherwise be on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Special Committee. Until the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall maintain such policy in full force and effect, shall not amend or otherwise modify such policy or take any action that

A-15

Table of Contents

would result in the cancellation, termination, amendment or modification of such policy, and shall continue to honor its obligations under such policy.

- (d) If the Surviving Corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its assets to any Person, then and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation or its assets assume the obligations set forth in this Section 6.05.
- (e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) is made against any Indemnified Person, the provisions of this Section 6.05 shall continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit proceeding or investigation.
- (f) This Section 6.05 shall survive the consummation of the Merger. Acquirer shall cause Surviving Corporation to reimburse all expenses, including reasonable attorneys fees and expenses, incurred by any Person to enforce the obligations of the Surviving Corporation under this Section 6.05. Notwithstanding Section 9.07, this Section 6.05 is intended to be for the benefit of and to grant third party rights to Indemnified Persons, whether or not parties to this Agreement, and each of the Indemnified Persons shall be entitled to enforce the covenants contained herein. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur to the Indemnified Persons in the event that any of the provisions of this Section 6.05 were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that each of the Indemnified Persons shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions (without the necessity of posting any bond or other security) to prevent breaches of this Section 6.05 and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Section 6.05 in any Illinois state court or any Federal court located in Chicago, Illinois, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.
- (g) The covenants contained in this Section 6.05 shall not be deemed exclusive of other rights to which an Indemnified Person is entitled, whether pursuant to Law, contract or otherwise.

Section 6.06 <u>Fees and Expenses</u>. (a) Except as otherwise provided below and in Section 8.05, all fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger and the other Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated.

(b) Subject to the dollar limitation set forth in Section 8.05(b), all out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the amendment of the Company s indenture with its \$\frac{9}{8}\$ subordinated bondholders (the <u>Indenture</u>), including the reasonable fees and expenses of Acquirer s counsel, the fees and expenses of the bondholders and their counsel, and the fees and expenses of the Company s counsel with respect to such amendment (collectively, the <u>Indenture Amendment Expenses</u>) shall be paid by the Company, provided that Acquirer has delivered to the Special Committee invoices and other supporting documentation with respect to such Indenture Amendment Expenses.

Section 6.07 <u>Public Announcements</u>. Acquirer and all other members of the Acquirer Group, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, shall consult with each other before issuing, and provide each other the opportunity to review and comment upon, any press release or other public statements with respect to the Merger and the other Transactions and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to such consultation, except as may be required by applicable Law, court process or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. Further, Acquirer and all other members of the Acquirer Group, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, will consult with each other before holding any press conferences, analyst calls or other meetings or discussions with respect to the Transactions.

Section 6.08 $\underline{\text{Transfer Taxes}}$. All stock transfer, real estate transfer, documentary, stamp, recording and other similar Taxes (including interest, penalties and additions to any such Taxes) ($\underline{\text{Transfer Taxes}}$) incurred in

A-16

Table of Contents

connection with the Transactions shall be paid by the Surviving Corporation, and the Company shall cooperate with Acquirer in preparing, executing and filing any returns with respect to such Transfer Taxes.

Section 6.09 <u>Rights Agreements</u>; <u>Consequences if Rights Triggered</u>. Except as approved in writing by Acquirer or contemplated by this Agreement, the Company Board shall not (i) amend the Company Rights Agreement, (ii) redeem the Company Rights or (iii) take any action with respect to, or make any determination under, the Company Rights Agreement, in each case, unless the Company Board determines in good faith, after compliance with applicable provisions of this Agreement and after consultation with outside counsel, that such action is necessary to do so to comply with its fiduciary duties.

Section 6.10 <u>Delisting</u>. Acquirer and Company agree to cooperate with each other in taking, or causing to be taken, all actions necessary to delist the Company Common Stock from the NASDAQ SmallCap Market as of, or promptly after, the Effective Time.

Section 6.11 Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, Acquirer and Company shall take such steps as may be required and permitted to cause the Transactions, including any disposition of Company Capital Stock by each individual who is or will be subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Company, to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act.

Section 6.12 <u>Conveyance Taxes</u>. Acquirer and Company shall cooperate in the preparation, execution and filing of all returns, questionnaires, applications or other documents regarding any real property transfer or gains, sales, use, transfer, value added, stock transfer or stamp taxes, any transfer, recording, registration or other fees or any similar taxes which become payable in connection with the Transactions that are required or permitted to be filed on or before the Effective Time. All such taxes will be paid by the party bearing the legal responsibility for such payment; provided, however, that, as between Acquirer and Company, the Company shall pay on behalf of those Persons holding Company Common Stock immediately prior to the Effective Time any transfer or similar Taxes payable by such Person in connection with the Merger.

Section 6.13 <u>Acquirer</u>. Prior to the Effective Time, Acquirer shall not conduct any business or make any investments other than as specifically contemplated by or in furtherance of this Agreement, or incur or guarantee any indebtedness other than as necessary for the consummation of the Transactions.

Section 6.14 Employee and Termination Benefits. (a) Acquirer shall cause the Surviving Corporation, through 90 days after the Effective Time, to provide compensation and benefits to the employees of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries (other than those employees terminated for cause) as of the Effective Time (Company Employees) that are, in the aggregate, no less favorable than those provided to Company Employees as of the Effective Time. Any former Company Employees who receives any compensation or benefits as of the Effective Time shall continue to receive such compensation and benefits for the lesser of such 90 day period and the period of time provided for under the Company s relevant benefit plans as of the Effective Time. With respect to any compensation, severance, termination, benefit, welfare and similar plans or arrangements in which Company Employees first become eligible to participate, on or after the Effective Time (the New Company Plans), the Surviving Corporation or Purchaser shall, to the extent allowable by its third party providers: (i) waive all pre-existing conditions, exclusions and waiting periods with respect to participation and coverage requirements applicable to Company Employees under any health and welfare New Company Plans in which such Company Employee may be eligible to participate after the Effective Time, and deductibles, coinsurance or maximum out-of-pocket payments made by such Company Employee during the applicable plan year in which such Company Employee first participates in the applicable New Company Plan occurs shall reduce the amount of deductibles, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket payments under the New Company Plans; provided, that, for purposes of deductibles, coinsurance and out-of-pocket payments, such Company Employee was enrolled under the Company Benefit Plans immediately prior to the effective time of coverage in the New Company Plans, and (ii) recognize service of Company Employees accrued prior to the Effective Time for purposes of eligibility to participate and vesting credit (and levels of benefits) in any New Company Plan in

A-17

Table of Contents

which such Company Employee may be eligible to pa	rticipate after the Effective	Time, to the extent such servi-	ce would have been taken into
account under the applicable Company Benefit Plans			

- (b) From and after the Effective Time, Acquirer shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor and assume, in accordance with their terms, all existing employment and severance agreements between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and any Company Employee and all benefits or other amounts earned or accrued to the extent vested or which becomes vested in the ordinary course, through the Effective Time, under all Company Benefit Plans.
- (c) In the event of any termination of any Company Benefit Plan, (i) terminated Company or Surviving Corporation employees and their qualified beneficiaries will have the right to continued coverage under group health plans of the Surviving Corporation as required by Code Section 4980B(f) and ERISA Sections 601 through 609.

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

Section 7.01 <u>Conditions to Each Party</u> s <u>Obligation to Effect the Merger</u>. The respective obligation of each party hereto to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) Stockholder Approval. The Company shall have obtained the Company Stockholder Approval and the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval.
- (b) No Injunctions or Restraints. No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or Law preventing the consummation of the Merger, or preventing Acquirer from owning the shares of the Surviving Corporation or from operating any material part of the business of the Surviving Corporation and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, shall be in effect; provided, however, that prior to asserting this condition, the applicable party shall have used its reasonable efforts to prevent the entry of any such injunction or other order and to appeal as promptly as possible any such injunction or other order that may be entered.
- (c) <u>HSR Act</u>. The waiting period (including any extension thereof) applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the HSR Act (or under any other Competition Laws) shall have expired or been terminated.
- (d) No Governmental Restriction. There shall not be any pending or threatened suit, action or proceeding asserted by any Governmental Entity challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the Merger or any of the other Transactions, the effect of which restraint or prohibition if obtained would cause the condition set forth in Section 7.01(b) to not be satisfied.

Section 7.02 <u>Conditions to Obligations of Acquirer</u>. The obligations of Acquirer to effect the Merger are further subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. The representations and warranties of the Company in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case on and as of such earlier date).
- (b) <u>Performance of Obligations of the Company</u>. The Company shall have performed in all material respects any obligation and complied in all material respects with any agreement or covenant of the Company to be performed or complied with by it under this Agreement prior to or at the time of the Closing.
- (c) <u>Company Certificate</u>. The Company shall have furnished a certificate, signed by an authorized officer, certifying compliance with the conditions set forth in Sections 7.02(a) and (b).

A-18

Table of Contents

- (d) No Litigation. There shall be no pending suit, action or proceeding that advances non-frivolous claims against Acquirer, the Company or any Company Subsidiary that seeks any equitable relief which, if successful, would prevent (i) the consummation of the Merger, (ii) Acquirer from owning the shares of the Surviving Corporation or (iii) Acquirer from operating any material part of the business of the Surviving Corporation and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (e) Company Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred and be continuing a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 7.03 <u>Conditions to Obligation of the Company</u>. The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is further subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. The representations and warranties of Acquirer in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case on and as of such earlier date).
- (b) <u>Performance of Obligations of Acquirer</u>. Acquirer shall have performed in all material respects any obligation of Acquirer and complied in all material respects with any agreement or covenant of Acquirer, as the case may be, to be performed or complied with by it under this Agreement prior to or at the time of the Closing.
- (c) <u>Acquirer Certificate</u>. Acquirer shall have furnished a certificate, signed by an authorized officer, certifying compliance with the conditions set forth in Sections 7.03(a) and (b).

Section 7.04 <u>Frustration of Closing Conditions</u>. Neither the Company, on the one hand, nor Acquirer, on the other hand, may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in Article VII to be satisfied if such failure was caused primarily by the failure of the Company, on the one hand, or Acquirer or any other member of the Acquirer Group, on the other hand, to use commercially reasonable efforts to consummate the Merger and the other Transactions, as required by and subject to Section 6.02.

ARTICLE VIII

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

Section 8.01 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated at any time:

(a) prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, by mutual written consent of the Acquirer and the Company;

(b) prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, by either Acquirer or the Company:

(i) if the Merger does not occur on or before October 31, 2004 (the <u>Outside Date</u>), unless the failure to consummate the Merger is the result of a material breach of this Agreement by the party seeking to terminate this Agreement;

(ii) if any Governmental Entity issues an order or injunction or takes any other action permanently enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger and such order, injunction or other action shall have become final and nonappealable, unless such order, injunction or other action is the result of a material breach of this Agreement by the party seeking to terminate this Agreement; provided, however, that prior to seeking to terminate, such party shall have used its commercially reasonable effects to prevent such order, injunction or other action and to appeal as promptly as practicable any such orders, injunctions or other actions; or

A-19

Table of Contents

- (iii) if, upon a vote at a duly held meeting to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, as the case may be, the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, as the case may be, is not obtained; provided, however, that this Agreement may not be terminated by any party hereto pursuant to this Section 8.01(b)(iii) if such party is then in breach of Section 6.01(c);
- (c) (i) prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, by Acquirer if the Company breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.01 or Section 7.02, and (B) cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after the giving of written notice to the Company of such breach; or
- (ii) prior to obtaining each of the Company Stockholder Approval and the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, by Acquirer (A) in the event an Adverse Recommendation Change has occurred, (B) if, pursuant to Section 6.09 and without the written approval of Acquirer, the Company Board amends the Company Rights Agreement, redeems the Company Rights or takes any action with respect to, or makes any determination under, the Company Rights Agreement to comply with its fiduciary duties and, as a result of such amendment, redemption, action or determination, any person other than Acquirer or any of its affiliates is permitted to become an Acquiring Person (as currently defined in the Company Rights Agreement) or (C) the Company enters into any definitive agreement to implement a Company Takeover Proposal;
- (d) (i) prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, by the Company if Acquirer breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days after the giving of written notice to Acquirer of such breach; or
- (ii) prior to obtaining each of the Company Stockholder Approval and the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval by the Company in accordance with Section 8.05(b); provided, however, that the Company shall have complied with all provisions thereof, including the notice provisions therein.

Section 8.02 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement by either the Company or Acquirer as provided in Section 8.01, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect, without any liability or obligation on the part of Acquirer or the Company, other than the provisions of Section 3.08, Section 4.06, Section 4.07, Section 6.05, this Section 8.02, Section 8.05 and Article IX, which provisions shall survive such termination, and except to the extent that such termination results from the willful and material breach by a party of any representation, warranty or covenant set forth in this Agreement.

Section 8.03 <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval or the Unaffiliated Stockholders Approval, as the case may be; provided, however, that after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, there shall be made no amendment or waiver that by applicable Law requires further approval by the stockholders of the Company without the further approval of such stockholders. Subject to Section 9.04, this Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

Section 8.04 Extension: Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties hereto may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement or (c) subject to the proviso of Section 8.03, waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained in this Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only

if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party. Any

A-20

Table of Contents

failure or delay by any party hereto to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

Section 8.05 <u>Procedure for Termination</u>, <u>Amendment</u>, <u>Extension or Waiver</u>. (a) A termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01, an amendment of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.03 or an extension or waiver pursuant to Section 8.04 shall, in order to be effective, require in the case of Acquirer or the Company, action by its Board of Directors or the duly authorized designee of its Board of Directors.

(b) Prior to obtaining Company Stockholder Approval and so long as the Company is in compliance with Section 5.02, the Company may terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01(d)(ii) if (i) the Company Board has received a Company Takeover Proposal, (ii) the Special Committee shall have determined in good faith that such Company Takeover Proposal constitutes a Superior Company Proposal, (iii) at least three (3) days prior to such termination, the Company notifies Acquirer in writing of the determination described in clause (ii) above, which notice shall describe all material terms of such Company Takeover Proposal; (iv) Acquirer shall not have made, within three (3) business days of receipt of such notice referred to in clause (iii) above, a binding written offer to acquire the Company that causes the Special Committee to no longer be able to determine in good faith that such Superior Company Proposal remains a Superior Company Proposal, (v) the Company concurrently (or substantially contemporaneously), enters into a definitive agreement providing for the implementation of such Superior Company Proposal and (vi) the Company has paid (or contemporaneously pays) Acquirer for all reasonable out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred by Acquirer through the date of such termination, whether incurred prior to, concurrently with, or subsequent to, the execution of this Agreement, in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction and the amendment and restatement of the Indenture (collectively, including the Indenture Amendment Expenses, the Acquirer Expenses), which Acquirer Expenses shall be limited to \$550,000 less the amount of any Acquirer Expenses previously paid or reimbursed to Acquirer by the Company for purposes of Sections 8.05(b) and (c); provided that Acquirer has delivered to the Special Committee invoices and other reasonable supporting documentation with respect to such Acquirer Expenses (and, in such case, the Company shall not be obligated to make any other payments to Acquirer, its stockh

(c) In the event the Agreement is terminated by Acquirer pursuant to Section 8.01(c), the Company shall promptly pay to Acquirer the Acquirer Expenses, provided that Acquirer has delivered to the Special Committee invoices and other reasonable supporting documentation with respect to such Acquirer Expenses (and, in such case, the Company shall not be obligated to make any other payments to Acquirer, its stockholders or its affiliates).

(d) Any fee due under this Section 8.05 shall be paid by wire transfer of same-day funds on the date of termination of this Agreement or the next business day if the date of termination of this Agreement is not a business day.

ARTICLE IX

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 9.01 <u>Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties</u>. None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time. This Section 9.01 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the parties hereto which by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time.

Section 9.02 Notices. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications given or made under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made (i) as of the date delivered if delivered personally or by a nationally recognized overnight

courier service or (ii) on the date confirmation of receipt (or, the first business day following such receipt if the date is not a business day) of

A-21

transmission by facsimile (with a confirming copy of such communication to be sent as provided in clause (i)), and, in each case to the parties at the following addresses or facsimile number (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice, except that notices of changes of address shall be effective upon receipt):

(a) if to Acquirer, to

JRT Acquisition, Inc.

c/o Home Products International, Inc.

4501 West 47th Street

Chicago, IL 60632

Attention: James R. Tennant

Fax: 773-890-0523

with a copy to:

Vedder, Price, Kaufman & Kammholz, P.C.

222 North LaSalle Street

Chicago, IL 60601

Attention: Michael A. Nemeroff, Esq.

Fax: 312-609-5005

(b) if to the Company, to

Home Products International, Inc.

4501 West 47th Street

Chicago, IL 60632

Attention: Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Fax: 773-890-0523

Edgar Filing: HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form PREM14A
with a copy to:
Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman
525 West Monroe Street
Chicago, IL 60661
Attention: Maryann A. Waryjas, Esq.
Mark D. Wood, Esq.
Fax: 312-902-1061
Section 9.03 <u>Definitions</u> . For purposes of this Agreement:
(a) Acquirer Group shall mean Acquirer, James R. Tennant, any other equity holder of Acquirer and any Affiliate of any of the foregoing (with respect to Mr. Tennant, solely in his capacity as a member of the Acquirer Group and not in his capacity as a director or officer of the Company).
(b) Acquirer Material Adverse Effect means any state of facts, change, development, effect, condition or occurrence that adversely affects Acquirer s ability to obtain the funds necessary to consummate the Merger, or that otherwise materially impairs the ability of Acquirer to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the Merger;
(c) An affiliate of any person means another person who directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, o is under common control with, such first person. For the purposes of this Agreement, (i) no member of the Acquirer Group is an affiliate of the Company and (ii) the Company is not an affiliate of member of the Acquirer Group.
A-22

Table of Contents

- (d) Company Benefit Plan means any collective bargaining agreement or any bonus, employee pension benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA)), employee welfare benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), deferred compensation, incentive compensation, stock ownership, stock purchase, stock option, phantom stock, retirement, vacation, severance, disability, death benefit, hospitalization, medical or other plan, arrangement or understanding providing benefits to any current or former employee, officer or director of the Company or any Company Subsidiary.
- (e) Company Material Adverse Effect means any state of facts, change, development, effect, condition or occurrence that is material and adverse to the business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or that materially impairs the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement or consummate the Merger; provided, however, that none of the following shall be deemed in themselves, either alone or in combination, to constitute, and none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Company Material Adverse Effect: any change or effect that results from (A) conditions affecting the consumer housewares manufacturing industry generally or (B) any change in the trading price or volume of Company Common Stock, in and of itself. The parties hereby agree that an increase in the price of resin (as set forth in The Plastics News trade publication) used by the Company in its business by less than 12.5% from the date of this Agreement shall not, in and of itself, constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (f) Company Stock Plan means the Company s (i) 1994 Stock Option Plan, (ii) 1991 Stock Option Plan, (iii) 1987 Stock Option Plan, (iv) 1999 Performance Incentive Plan, (vi) 1999 Director s Restricted Stock Plan, and (vii) any other stock option plan of the Company or any Company Subsidiary which issued options to purchase shares of the Company to officers, employees or directors of the Company, in each case as amended through the date of this Agreement.
- (g) Company Takeover Proposal means (i) any proposal or offer for a merger, consolidation, dissolution, recapitalization or other business combination involving the Company or (ii) any proposal or offer to acquire in any manner, directly or indirectly, over 20% of the outstanding equity securities or consolidated total assets of the Company, in each case other than the Transactions.
- (h) Competition Laws means statutes, rules, regulations, orders, decrees, administrative and judicial doctrines, and other Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization, lessening of competition or restraint of trade, and includes the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the HSR Act) and, to the extent applicable, equivalent Laws of the European Union or the Member States thereof, Canada and any other country in which the Company or any Company Subsidiary has operations or derives revenue.
- (i) Permitted Lien means (i) Liens as reflected on the Company s December 27, 2003 balance sheet, including the notes thereto, included in the Company Financial Statements, (ii) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable, or, if due (A) not delinquent, or (B) being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings during which collection or enforcement is stayed (iii) statutory Liens securing payments not yet due, including carriers , warehouseman s, mechanics , materialmen s, repairmen s or other similar Liens, (iv) pledges or deposits in connection with workers compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security legislation, (v) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business, (vi) title retention or security interests under conditional sales contracts and equipment leases with third parties entered into in the ordinary course of business, (vii) Liens relating to purchase money obligations, and (viii) Liens, if any, as, individually or in the aggregate, would not have or result in a Company or Acquirer Material Adverse Effect, as applicable.
- (j) A person means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, company, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, Governmental Entity or other entity.

A-23

Table of Contents

- (k) A Representative of any person means any officer, director or employee of, or any investment banker, attorney or other advisor or representative of, such person; provided, however, that for the purpose of this Agreement, James R. Tennant is not a Representative of the Company.
- (l) A subsidiary of any person means another person, an amount of the voting securities or other voting ownership or voting partnership interests of which is sufficient to elect at least a majority of its Board of Directors or other governing body (or, if there are no such voting interests, 50% or more of the equity interests of which) is owned directly or indirectly by such first person.
- (m) Superior Company Proposal means any proposal made by a third party to acquire, directly or indirectly, including pursuant to a tender or exchange offer, a merger, a consolidation, a liquidation or dissolution, a recapitalization, a purchase of warrants or otherwise, more than 50% of the Company Common Stock or all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Company subsidiaries, taken as a whole, on terms which the Special Committee determines in good faith to be more favorable to the holders of Company Common Stock than the Transaction (after consultation with a financial advisor), taking into account all the terms and conditions of such proposal and this Agreement (including any proposal by Acquirer to amend the terms of the Transaction).
- (n) Taxes includes all forms of taxation imposed by any domestic or foreign (whether national, federal, state, provincial, local, or otherwise) Governmental Entity, including income, franchise, property, sales, use, excise, employment, unemployment, payroll, social security, estimated, value added, ad valorem, transfer, recapture, withholding and other Taxes of any kind, including all interest, penalties and additions thereto.

Section 9.04 Interpretation; Disclosure Letter. (a) When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, Exhibit or Schedule, such reference shall be to a Section of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words includes or including are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words without limitation. The word hereof, herein, hereby and hereunder and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The words date hereof shall refer to the date of this Agreement. The term or is not exclusive. The word extent in the phrase to the extent shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase shall not mean simply if. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms. Any agreement or instrument defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such agreement or instrument as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented. References to a person are also to its permitted successors and assigns.

(b) Company may update or amend the Company Disclosure Letter prior to the Closing Date; provided however, if any such update or amendment discloses a breach or default under this Agreement which results in Section 7.02(a) not being satisfied, Acquirer may terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01(c)(i).

Section 9.05 <u>Severability</u>. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced as a result of any applicable Law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the Transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the Transactions are fulfilled to the extent possible.

Section 9.06 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to the other parties. Each party hereto need not sign the same

A-24

Table of Contents

counterpart. This Agreement, and each other agreement or instrument entered into in connection herewith or therewith or contemplated hereby or thereby, and any amendments hereto or thereto, to the extent signed and delivered by means of a facsimile machine, shall be treated in all manner and respects and for all purposes as an original agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. At the request of any party hereto or to any such agreement or instrument, each other party hereto or thereto shall re-execute original forms thereof and deliver them to all other parties. No party hereto or to any such agreement or instrument shall raise the use of a facsimile machine to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through the use of a facsimile machine as a defense to the formation or enforceability of this Agreement or any such agreement or instrument, and each such party forever waives any such defense.

Section 9.07 Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement, taken together with the Company Disclosure Letter, (a) constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with respect to the Transactions and (b) except for the provisions of Article II and Section 6.05 (which are intended to be for the benefit of the persons covered thereby and may be enforced by such persons only following the Effective Time), are not intended to confer upon any person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies.

Section 9.08 <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof.

Section 9.09 <u>Assignment</u>. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties. Any purported assignment without such consent shall be void. Subject to the preceding sentences, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 9.10 Enforcement; Waiver of Jury Trial. (a) The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties hereto shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in any Illinois state court or any Federal court located in Chicago, Illinois, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. In addition, each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any Illinois state court or any Federal court located in Chicago, Illinois for the purposes of any suit, action or other proceedings arising out of this Agreement or any Transaction (and each party agrees that no such suit, action or proceeding arising out of to this Agreement or any Transaction shall be brought by it or any of its affiliates except in such courts). Each party hereto further agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, service of any process, summons, notice or document by U.S. registered mail to such party s respective address set forth above shall be effective service of process for any suit, action or proceeding in Illinois with respect to any matters to which it has submitted to jurisdiction in this Section 9.10. Each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally waives (and agrees not to plead or claim) any objection to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of this Agreement or any Transaction in any Illinois State court or any Federal court located in Chicago, Illinois, or that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

(b) Each party hereto hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any suit, action or proceeding directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this Agreement or any Transaction. Each party hereto, (i) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such party would not, in the event of any suit, action or proceeding, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (ii) acknowledges that it and the other

Table of Contents

parties hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement by, among other things the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 9.10(b).

[Signature page follows.]

A-26

Table of Contents

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Acquirer and the Company have duly executed this Agreement and Plan of Merger of the date first written above.

JRT Acquisition, Inc.

By: /s/ James R. Tennant

Name: James R. Tennant

Title: CEO

Home Products International, Inc.

By: /s/ James E. Winslow

Name: James E. Winslow Title: Executive VP & CFO

A-27

Table of Contents

Appendix B

June 2, 2004

Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Home Products International, Inc.

4501 West 47th Street

Chicago, IL 60632

You have requested our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of the outstanding shares of common stock (collectively the Stockholders) of Home Products International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company), of \$1.50 per share in cash, without interest (the Per Share Merger Consideration) to be received by the Stockholders pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 2, 2004 (the Merger Agreement) by and between JRT Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Acquirer) and the Company. Pursuant to the terms of and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Acquirer will be merged with and into the Company (the Merger) and each share of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Company (the Company Common Stock) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, together with any Company Rights (as such term is defined in the Merger Agreement), if still outstanding (other than shares held in the treasury of the Company or owned by the Acquirer and other than shares issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger that are held by any person, other than any member of the Acquirer Group (as such term is defined in the Merger Agreement), who is entitled to demand and properly demands appraisal of such shares pursuant to, and who complies in all respects with, Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and who, as of the effective time of the Merger, has not effectively withdrawn or otherwise forfeited appraisal rights), will be converted into the right to receive, in exchange for such share of Company Common Stock, the Per Share Merger Consideration upon consummation of the Merger.

In connection with our review of the proposed Merger and the preparation of our opinion herein, we have examined:

- (a) a draft of the Merger Agreement dated June 1, 2004;
- (b) the audited financial statements of the Company for the three years ended December 31, 2003;
- (c) the unaudited financial statements of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2004;
- (d) certain internal business, operating and financial information and forecasts of the Company, prepared by the senior management of the Company, and certain projections of the Company (collectively, the Forecasts);
- (e) information regarding publicly available financial terms of certain other change of control transactions we deemed relevant;

(f)

the financial position and operating results of the Company compared with those of certain other publicly traded companies we deemed relevant;

- (g) current and historical market prices and trading volumes of the common stock of the Company;
- (h) the terms of the Employment Agreement dated as of May 19, 1999 between the Company and James R. Tennant, as amended; and
- (i) the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2004 and certain other publicly available information on the Company and the industry in which it conducts its business.

We have also held discussions with members of senior management of the Company to discuss the foregoing, have considered other matters and performed such due diligence which we have deemed relevant to our inquiry and have taken into account such accepted financial and investment banking procedures and considerations as we have deemed relevant.

B-1

Table of Contents

Special Committee of the Board of Directors

June 2, 2004

Page 2 of 3

In rendering our opinion, we have with your consent assumed and relied, without independent verification, upon the accuracy and completeness of all the information examined by or otherwise reviewed or discussed with us for purposes of this opinion, including, without limitation, the Forecasts. We have not made or obtained an independent valuation or appraisal of the assets, liabilities or solvency of the Company. We have been advised by the senior management of the Company that the Forecasts have been reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the senior management of the Company. In that regard, we have assumed, with your consent, that (i) the Forecasts will be achieved and (ii) all material assets and liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company are as set forth in the Company s financial statements or other information made available to us. We express no opinion with respect to the Forecasts or the estimates and judgments on which they are based. Our opinion does not address the relative merits of the Merger as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for the Company or the effect of any other transaction in which the Company might engage. Our opinion herein is based upon economic, market, financial and other conditions existing on, and other information disclosed to us as of, the date of this letter. It should be understood that, although subsequent developments may affect this opinion, we do not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm this opinion. We have assumed without verification the accuracy and adequacy of the legal advice given by counsel to the Company and by counsel to the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company on all legal matters. We have assumed that all material governmental, regulatory, or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement will be obtained without any adverse effect on the Company or on the expected benefits of the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement. We have assumed that the Merger will be consummated on the terms described in the Merger Agreement, without any waiver of any material terms or conditions by the Company or Acquirer. We have assumed, with your consent, that the executed form of the Merger Agreement conforms in all material respects to the last draft of the Merger Agreement reviewed by us.

Mesirow Financial, Inc. is a nationally recognized securities firm. As part of our investment banking business, we are regularly engaged in structuring financings and the valuations of businesses and their securities in connection with mergers, acquisitions, leveraged buyout transactions, negotiated underwritings, competitive biddings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, and private placements. In the ordinary course of our business, we and our affiliates may from time to time actively trade the securities of the Company for our own account or for the accounts of customers, and accordingly may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities. We have acted as the investment banker to the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with the Merger and will receive a fee from the Company for our services, including rendering this opinion. In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify us against certain liabilities arising out of our engagement.

We are expressing no opinion herein as to the price at which the Company Common Stock will trade at any future time. Such trading price may be affected by a number of factors, including but not limited to (i) changes in prevailing interest rates and other factors which generally influence the price of securities, (ii) adverse changes in the current capital markets, (iii) the occurrence of adverse changes in the financial condition, business, assets, results of operations or prospects of the Company or in the product markets it serves, (iv) any necessary actions by or restrictions of federal, state or other governmental agencies or regulatory authorities, and (v) timely completion of the Merger on terms and conditions that are acceptable to all parties at interest.

Our investment banking services and our opinion were provided for the use and benefit of the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with its consideration of the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Our opinion is limited to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Stockholders of the Per Share Merger Consideration in connection with the Merger, and we do not address the merits of the underlying decision by the Company to engage in the Merger. This opinion does not constitute a

Table of Contents

Special Committee of the Board of Directors

June 2, 2004

Page 3 of 3

recommendation to any Stockholder as to how such Stockholder should vote with respect to the proposed Merger. It is understood that this letter may not be disclosed or otherwise referred to without our prior written consent, except that this opinion may be included in its entirety in the Schedule 13E-3 and related proxy materials filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and, if applicable, mailed to the Stockholders by the Company with respect to the Merger.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion as investment bankers that, as of the date hereof, the Per Share Merger Consideration to be received by the Stockholders in the Merger pursuant to the Merger Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Stockholders.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Mesirow Financial, Inc. MESIROW FINANCIAL, INC.

B-3

Table of Contents Appendix C March 15, 2004 James Tennant Chairman and CEO JRT Acquisition, Inc. 4501 W. 47th Street Chicago, IL 60632 Dear Jim: We are pleased to inform you that Fleet Capital Corporation (FCC or the Agent) has approved the underwriting of \$50,000,000 in Senior Credit

We are pleased to inform you that Fleet Capital Corporation (FCC or the Agent) has approved the underwriting of \$50,000,000 in Senior Credit Facilities (the Facilities) to the Borrower (as defined in the attached Summary of Terms and Conditions) (the Transaction). The Facilities would be provided upon the general terms and conditions set forth in the attached Summary of Terms and Conditions (the Term Sheet) and fee letter (the Fee Letter). The terms and conditions set forth in the Term Sheet and in the Fee Letter are hereby incorporated into this letter, including, without limitation, the Conditions Precedent as set forth in the Term Sheet. Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Fee Letter and the Term Sheet. Please note, however, that this letter, the Fee Letter and the Term Sheet do not constitute a commitment to make the Facilities available. Any such commitment would be subject to the terms and conditions of a definitive credit agreement and other loan documents

By accepting this letter, JRT Acquisition agrees to reimburse FCC for all reasonable out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred in connection with the due diligence, underwriting, closing, and syndication of the Facilities outlined herein, whether or not such Facilities are consummated.

This letter, including without limitation the Term Sheet and Fee Letter, is intended to be indicative of the principal terms of the Facilities and does not purport to specify all of the terms, conditions, representations and warranties, covenants and other provisions that will be contained in the final loan documents for the Facilities. Further, as stated above this letter is not a commitment to make the Facilities available.

FCC is delivering this letter to you in reliance upon the accuracy of all information furnished to FCC by you or on your behalf and with the understanding that you will not disclose the contents of this letter or FCC s involvement or interest in providing financing for the proposed transaction to any third party (including, without limitation, any financial institutions), without FCC s prior written consent, other than to the board of directors of HOMZ, applicable governmental and regulatory authorities, your advisors and officers and the management and partners or members on a need-to-know basis. You agree to inform all such persons who receive information concerning FCC or this commitment that such information is confidential and may not be disclosed to any other person. FCC reserves the right to review and approve all material that you or the Borrower prepare that contain FCC s name or describe FCC s interest in providing the financing as described herein.

By executing this letter, you agree, whether or not the proposed credit facility closes, to indemnify and hold harmless FCC, each Lender (as defined in the Term Sheet) and each of their affiliates and their officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors (each an Indemnified Party) from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities and expenses (including without limitation, reasonable fees and expenses of FCC s counsel) that may be incurred by or assessed or awarded against any Indemnified Party, in each case arising out of or in connection with or by reasons of, or in connection with the preparation for a defense of any investigation, litigation or proceeding arising out of, related to or in connection with this transaction, you, Borrower or any of yours or its subsidiaries and any of the other transactions contemplated by this letter, except to the extent such claim, damage, loss, liability or expense is found in a final, nonappealable judgment by court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from such Indemnified Party s gross negligence or willful misconduct. You agree that in any action arising from an alleged breach of this letter, the only damages that may be sought are only those which are direct and reasonably foreseeable as the probable result of any breach hereof and any right to indirect, special or punitive damages or lost anticipated profits is hereby waived.

C-1

Table of Contents

James Tennant

March , 2004

Page 2

This letter and the Term Sheet and Fee Letter attached hereto supersede all prior discussions, indications of interest and proposals previously delivered to JRT Acquisition. Unless extended in writing by FCC, in its discretion, this letter shall expire upon the first to occur of: (a) 5:00 p.m., Central Standard Time on March 19, 2004, unless JRT Acquisition shall have executed and delivered a copy of this letter, including without limitation the Term Sheet and Fee Letter, to the attention of the undersigned prior to that date and time; or (b) 5:00 p.m., Central Standard Time on August 31, 2004, unless the transactions contemplated and described by this letter and the Term Sheet are consummated on or before that date. Expiration of this letter shall not affect the obligations of JRT Acquisition to pay any fees, costs, expenses or other amounts provided for herein or in any other agreements entered into between JRT Acquisition and FCC.

(Signature Page Follows)

C-2

Table of Contents
James Tennant
March , 2004
Page 3
(Signature Page to Letter)
We appreciate the opportunity to participate in the above described financings.
Sincerely,
/s/ Fleet Capital Corporation
Agreed and Accepted:
JRT Acquisition, Inc.
By: /s/ James R. Tennant
Title: President
Title. Hesiteit
Date: 3/16/04
C.3

FLEET CAPITAL CORPORATION

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED TERMS AND CONDITIONS

SENIOR SECURED CREDIT FACILITIES

March 15, 2004

The following terms and conditions of the proposed facility are for discussion purposes only and do not constitute a commitment on the part of Fleet Capital Corporation (Agent). Any commitment is subject to final negotiation of term and conditions following appropriate due diligence. This letter is not assignable by operation of law or otherwise without Agent s prior written consent.

Borrower: For purposes of this Summary of Proposed Terms and Conditions, the term Borrower shall mean (x) prior to the merger (the Merger) of JRT Acquisition, Inc. (JRT Acquisition) into Home Products International (HOMZ), JRT Acquisition and (y) after the consummation of the Merger, Home Products International North America, Inc. (HPNA), a wholly owned subsidiary of HOMZ. JRT Acquisition is or is to be a wholly formed corporation to be owned by James Tennant. After the consummation of the Merger, HOMZ would be a privately held corporation owned by James Tennant and certain other senior executives of HOMZ and/or HPNA. Administrative Agent and Lender: Fleet Capital Corporation (Fleet or Agent). \$50,000,000 in a Revolving Credit Facility (Revolver). The Revolving Credit Facility Senior Credit Facility: will include a letter of credit facility subline of \$6,000,000. Term: Through March 31, 2008. Purpose: To refinance HPNA s existing senior line with Agent, to finance an intercompany loan from HPNA to HOMZ which will be used to pay the merger consideration due in connection with the Merger and to provide working capital for ongoing operations. Availability under the Revolving Credit Facility will be determined by reference to a Revolving Credit Facility: borrowing base equal to the sum of: (i) 85% of the value of eligible accounts receivable. Except as provided below, eligible accounts would be determined in a manner consistent with the existing Loan Agreement (as amended); plus (ii) the lesser of (a) 60% of the value of eligible raw material and finished goods inventory and (b) \$25,000,000. Eligible inventory would be determined in a manner consistent with the existing Loan Agreement (as amended); plus

Table of Contents 199

C-4

(iii) the amount, as of the closing date, of the Fixed Asset Component under the existing Loan Agreement (said amount as increased or decreased as provided below is hereinafter referred to as the Fixed Asset Component). The Fixed Asset Component shall be subject to a one-time reload option to increase its amount to \$15 million. The Fixed Asset Component will continue to be amortized over seven years for the portion relating to M&E and ten years for the portion relating to real estate.

The amount of any outstanding letters of credit will be blocked from availability under the Revolving Credit Facility. The foregoing notwithstanding, the \$15,000,000 limitation on eligible accounts where KMart is the account debtor contained in the existing Loan Agreement shall be eliminated so long as KMart s senior debt is rated Ba2/BB or better by each of Moody s and S&P respectively. If such senior debt is rated below Ba2/BB-, then the \$15,000,000 limitation would be reinstated.

Interest Rates:

From the Closing Date until the first adjustment date referred to below, the interest rate would be as follows:

Base Rate Margin*	LIBOR Margin	Commitment Fee
.50%	2.50%	.50%

Thereafter, effective the first day of the first fiscal quarter immediately following the fiscal quarter in which the annual audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended on or about December 31, 2004 are delivered to Agent, the interest rate would be set as currently provided in the existing Loan Agreement (as amended) on each quarter based on Minimum Excess Availability levels as reflected below:

	Base Rate* LIBOR		Commitment	
Minimum Excess Availability	Margin	Margin	Fee	
\$30 million or greater	.25%	2.25%	.375%	
\$20 million ≤\$30 million	.50%	2.50%	.50%	
Less than \$20 million	.75%	2.75%	.50%	

^{*}Fleet National Bank Prime Rate

Interest based on the Base Rate shall be payable monthly in arrears. Interest Periods for LIBO Rate borrowings shall be one, two, three or six months, as selected by the Borrower. Interest based on the LIBO Rate shall be payable in arrears on the earlier of (A) the last day of the applicable Interest Period or (B) monthly. Each LIBO Rate borrowing shall be in an amount of \$1,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$100,000 in excess thereof, and in each case shall be made on not less than three business days notice. Borrower would not be permitted to have more than four LIBO Rate advances outstanding at one time. All payments and collections would be deemed applied to the outstanding loans one business day after receipt of such payments by Agent in immediately available funds.

Table of Contents No loan may be converted or continued as a LIBO Rate loan at any time when an event of default has occurred and is continuing. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default under the loan agreement and at the option of Agent or Required Lenders, the Applicable Margin on all obligations owing under the loan documentation shall increase by 2% per annum over the rate otherwise applicable. The loan agreement shall include standard protective provisions for such matters as increased costs, funding losses, illegality, change of laws (including those related to capital adequacy of banks) and withholding taxes consistent with the terms and conditions of the existing Loan Agreement (as amended). Commitment and Closing Fee: As provided in the Fee Letter. Commitment Fee: As provided in the pricing grid set forth above. Letter of Credit Fees: Applicable Revolving Credit Facility LIBOR margin on the face amount of letters of credit outstanding, payable monthly in arrears for stand-by letters of credit and a fee schedule to be negotiated for documentary letters of credit. Closing Date: On or before August 31, 2004, unless Agent agrees in writing to a later date. Termination: Agent may terminate the Facility without notice after the occurrence of and during the continuance of an event of default. Borrower may terminate the Credit Facilities upon 30 days prior written notice and upon payment of all obligations owed to Lenders, including any LIBOR breakage costs, if any, in the case of LIBOR loans. Security: The Senior Credit Facility will be secured by (i) a first priority, perfected security interest in and a lien upon substantially all of the Borrower's and its subsidiaries real and personal property of every type and description, whether now owned or hereafter acquired and wherever located and (ii) a pledge of 100% of the capital stock of Borrower and all of the capital stock of HOMZ owned, directly or indirectly, by James Tennant and other senior executives of Borrower and/or HOMZ and its domestic subsidiaries. Liens in favor of persons other than Agent would be prohibited.

The priority of the lien and security interest shall be supported by such landlord and mortgagee waivers, warehousemen and bailee letters, lockbox and dominion accounts and bank consent agreements, third party consents, intercreditor agreements and other agreements as shall be requested by the Agent, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and consistent with those provided in connection with the existing Loan Agreement (as amended).

C-6

Optional Commitment Reduction:

Mandatory Prepayment and Commitment Reduction:

Conditions Precedent to Initial Extension of Credit:

The Borrower may, upon at least three business days notice, terminate in whole or reduce ratably in part, the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility; provided, however, that each partial reduction shall be in an amount of \$2,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 in excess thereof. However, the reduction in commitment in any year cannot exceed \$5,000,000 or \$10,000,000 during the term of the Senior Credit Facility.

The Borrower will be required to make mandatory prepayments in an amount equal to 100% of the net proceeds from the disposition of assets (excluding the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business) or the proceeds of insurance greater than \$500,000 in the aggregate per annum will go to reduce the Fixed Asset Component of the Revolving Credit Commitment (net of amounts reinvested in replacement assets within 180 days or required to pay taxes or other costs applicable to the disposition).

Those customarily found in credit agreements for similar secured financings and others appropriate in the judgment of Agent for the Transaction, including, without limitation, the following:

- a) The final terms and conditions of the Transaction, including, without limitation, all legal and tax aspects thereof, (i) shall be described herein and otherwise consistent with the description thereof provided by JRT Acquisition and (ii) shall be otherwise satisfactory to the Lenders.
- b) Documentation relating to the Senior Credit Facility, including a credit agreement incorporating substantially the terms and conditions outlined herein and substantially the same as HPNA s existing Loan Agreement (as amended) with Agent, shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel. No default or event of default shall exist on the Closing Date.
- c) The Agent shall be satisfied with the corporate and legal structure and capitalization of JRT Acquisition, HOMZ, the Borrower and each of the other guarantors, including, without limitation, the charter and bylaws of the Borrower, JRT Acquisition, HOMZ and each such other guarantor and each agreement or instrument relating thereto.
- d) There shall have occurred no material adverse change in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, performance, properties or prospects of Borrower and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since December 27, 2003.
- e) No action, proceeding, investigation, regulation or legislation shall have been instituted, threatened or proposed before any court, governmental agency or legislative body to enjoin, restrain or prohibit, or to obtain damages in respect of, or which is related to or arises out of this loan agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

C-7

- f) Agent shall be satisfied as to the existing and potential liability of the Borrower and its subsidiaries with respect to any environmental matters including compliance with all laws and regulations relating to environmental protection.
- g) Agent shall continue to be satisfied with the amount, types and terms and conditions of all insurance maintained by the Borrower and its subsidiaries, and the Lenders shall have received endorsements naming the Agent as an additional insured under all insurance policies to be maintained with respect to the properties of Borrower and its subsidiaries forming part of the Lenders collateral described under the section Security above.
- h) The Agent shall have received satisfactory written opinions of counsel for the Borrower, HOMZ and the other guarantors as to the transactions contemplated hereby (including, without limitation, the tax aspects thereof and compliance with all applicable securities laws) and the Borrower s status and the legal and binding effect of the loan documents.
- i) At the time of the proposed funding of the Senior Credit Facilities, and after giving effect to such proposed funding, blockage for letters of credit that would be outstanding, and estimated closing costs in connection therewith (whether paid or accrued), no default would exist under the loan documents and Borrower would be required on the Closing Date to have excess available credit under the Revolving Credit Facility in an amount of not less than \$15,000,000.
- j) Fleet National Bank shall remain the primary depository and disbursement bank of the Borrower, so long as Fleet is competitive.
- k) Agent shall have completed a collateral audit of HPNA s accounts and inventory and the results of such audit shall be acceptable to Agent.
- Agent shall have received a desk top update of the appraisals of HPNA s real property, equipment and other fixed assets and the results of such updated appraisal shall be acceptable to Agent.
- m) The holders of the requisite amount of HPNA s Senior Subordinated Notes (as defined in the existing Loan Agreement (as amended)) shall have consented to the Merger and the amendments to the Senior Subordinated Documents (as defined in the existing Loan Agreement (as amended)) executed in connection with such consent shall be reasonably acceptable to Agent.
- n) The merger of JRT Acquisition into HOMZ shall have been consummated and all conditions precedent to the consummation

C-8

of the Merger (other than the payment of the merger consideration) shall have been satisfied. The merger consideration and all transaction fees incurred with the consummation thereof shall not exceed \$15,000,000.

Representations and Warranties:

Those customarily found in credit agreements for similar secured financings and others appropriate in the judgment of Agent for the Transaction and consistent with those contained in the existing Loan Agreement (as amended).

Covenants:

Those affirmative, negative and financial covenants customarily found in credit agreements for similar secured financings and others appropriate in the judgment of Agent for this Transaction consistent with those contained in the existing Loan Agreement (as amended).

Bond Repurchases:

Borrower shall only be permitted to repurchase or prepay its outstanding Senior Subordinated Notes with the consent of Lenders holding more than 50% of the Revolving Loan Commitments.

Events of Default:

Those customarily found in credit agreements for similar secured financings and others appropriate in the judgment of Agent for the Transaction consistent with those contained in the existing Loan Agreement (as amended).

Expenses:

Borrower shall pay all of Agent s due diligence, syndication, transportation, computer, duplication, appraisal, audit, insurance, consultant, search, filing and recording fees and all other out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Agent (including the fees and expenses of counsel for Agent), whether or not any of the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, as well as all expenses of Agent in connection with the administration of the loan documentation. Borrower shall also pay the expenses of Agent and the Lenders in connection with the enforcement of any of the loan documentation.

Borrower will indemnify and hold harmless Agent, each Lender and each of their

Indemnity:

affiliates and their officers, directors, employees, agent and advisors (each an Indemnified Party) from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities and expenses (including, without limitation, fees and expenses of counsel) that may be incurred by or asserted or awarded against any Indemnified Party, in each case arising out of or in connection with or by reasons of, or in connection with the preparation for a defense of any investigation, litigation or proceeding arising out of, related to or in connection with the Transaction or any proposed transaction of Borrower or any of its subsidiaries or its other affiliates and any of the other transactions contemplated by this proposal, except to the extent such claim, damage, loss, liability or expense is found in a final, nonappealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from such Indemnified Party s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

C-9

Table of Contents

Assignments and Participations:

Agent and Lenders will have the right at any time to sell, assign or transfer any portion of their loan or commitments, or sell participations therein, to one or more other lenders in a minimum principal amount of \$5,000,000. Any such assignment will be subject to the consent of Agent and Borrower, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, and the payment of a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500 by the prospective lender to the Agent. In connection therewith, Agent and Lenders will have the right to disclose to such prospective Lender any and all information regarding or relating to Borrower or this Transaction which has now or may hereafter be provided to or obtained by Agent or Lenders

subject to the confidentiality provisions in the loan agreement.

Agent reserves the right to provide lending industry trade organizations information necessary and customary for inclusion in league table measurements after closing of the Transaction.

Governing Law: State of Illinois

Counsel for Agent: Vedder, Price, Kaufman & Kammholz, P.C.

C-10

Table of Contents
March 15, 2004
James Tennant
Chairman and CEO
JRT Acquisition, Inc.
4501 W. 47 th Street
Chicago, IL 60632
FEE LETTER
Dear Jim:
Reference is made to the Summary of Terms and Conditions (the Term Sheet) and that certain letter (the Letter), dated this date, from Flee Capital Corporation (FCC or the Agent) which discusses \$50,000,000 in Senior Secured Credit Facilities (the Facilities) for Borrower defined in the Term Sheet).
Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Term Sheet and the Letter. In addition to any fees described in the Term Sheet or Letter, in order to induce Agent to issue the Commitment Letter, JRT Acquisition agrees to pay to Agent a commitment fee in the amount of \$100,000 and a closing fee in the amount of \$100,000. The closing fee and the commitment fee shall be immediately due and payable on the closing of the Facilities. The commitment fee and the closing fee shall each be fully earned and non-refundable upon payment.
If Agent makes the determination to sell up to \$15 million of the \$50 million Senior Credit Facility to another financial institution subsequent to closing, Agent would be guaranteed a 25 basis point underwriting spread on the sell down (i.e. if participant bank, with the assistance and direction of management of Borrower, agrees to participate in the senior credit facility for a 15 basis point fee, there would be no additional closing fees for Borrower. If the participant bank requires a larger fee, such as 27.5 basis points on the \$15 million, Borrower would be required to fund 12.5 basis points of the 27.5 basis point fee). The foregoing notwithstanding, the amount of any fee owed by Borrower to Agent pursuant to the terms of this paragraph shall not exceed one and one-half percent (1 \(^{1}/2\%)\) multiplied by the amount of said revolving loan commitment so assigned or sold to a participant.
In addition to the commitment fee and the closing fee, Borrower would also pay to Agent for its own account, an agency fee of \$40,000 per annum with the first payment on October 31, 2004 and each October 31 thereafter paid annually in advance. Agent would also charge for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Agent s loan analysts for initial due diligence and recurring audits in a manner consistent with the existing Loan Agreement (as amended).
Sincerely,

/s/ Fleet Capital Corporation	
Accepted and Agreed to	
this 16 th day of March, 2004	
JRT Acquisition, Inc.	
By: /s/ James R. Tennant	
President	

C-11

Appendix D

DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

SECTION 262 APPRAISAL RIGHTS

•	2/2			• • •
0	767	Δn	praisal	rights
×	404.		yı aısaı	1121113

- (a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to § 228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder s shares of stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section, the word stockholder means a holder of record of stock in a stock corporation and also a member of record of a nonstock corporation; the words stock and share mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words and also membership or membership interest of a member of a nonstock corporation; and the words depository receipt mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in one or more shares, or fractions thereof, solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.
- (b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be effected pursuant to § 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to § 251(g) of this title), § 252, § 254, § 257, § 258, § 263 or § 264 of this title:
- (1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the meeting of stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation, were either (i) listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as provided in subsection (f) of § 251 of this title.
- (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to §§ 251, 252, 254, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:
- a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof;
- b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or held of record by more than 2,000 holders;

c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a. and b. of this paragraph; or
d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a., b. and c. of this paragraph.
(3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under § 253 of this title is not owned by the

D-1

parent corporation immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.

Table of Contents

- (c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the procedures of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d) and (e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.
- (d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:
- (1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for such meeting with respect to shares for which appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) hereof that appraisal rights are available for any or all of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder s shares shall deliver to the corporation, before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such stockholder s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder s shares. A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become effective; or
- (2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to § 228 or § 253 of this title, then either a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger or consolidation or the surviving or resulting corporation within 10 days thereafter shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of such notice, demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder s shares. If such notice did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either (i) each such constitutent corporation shall send a second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constitutent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided, however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent to each stockholder who is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder s shares in accordance with this subsection. An affidavit of the secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive either notice, each constitutent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given, provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date. If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record date shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the notice is given.

D-2

Table of Contents

- (e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) hereof and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may file a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder s demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of subsections (a) and (d) hereof, upon written request, shall be entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder s written request for such a statement is received by the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) hereof, whichever is later.
- (f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation, which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as the Court deems advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication shall be approved by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the surviving or resulting corporation.
- (g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to submit their certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder.
- (h) After determining the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the Court shall appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the Court shall take into account all relevant factors. In determining the fair rate of interest, the Court may consider all relevant factors, including the rate of interest which the surviving or resulting corporation would have had to pay to borrow money during the pendency of the proceeding. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, permit discovery or other pretrial proceedings and may proceed to trial upon the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholder entitled to an appraisal. Any stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this section and who has submitted such stockholder s certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is required, may participate fully in all proceedings until it is finally determined that such stockholder is not entitled to appraisal rights under this section.
- (i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the stockholders entitled thereto. Interest may be simple or compound, as the Court may direct. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of

D-3

Table of Contents

holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing such stock. The Court s decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.

- (j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney s fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all the shares entitled to an appraisal.
- (k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection (d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided, however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder s demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal shall cease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems just.
- (1) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation. (8 Del. C. 1953, § 262; 56 Del. Laws, c. 50; 56 Del. Laws, c. 186, § 24; 57 Del. Laws, c. 148, §§ 27-29; 59 Del. Laws, c. 106, § 12; 60 Del. Laws, c. 371, §§ 3-12; 63 Del. Laws, c. 25, § 14; 63 Del. Laws, c. 152, §§ 1, 2; 64 Del. Laws, c. 112, §§ 46-54; 66 Del. Laws, c. 136, §§ 30-32; 66 Del. Laws, c. 352, § 9; 67 Del. Laws, c. 376, §§ 19, 20; 68 Del. Laws, c. 337, §§ 3, 4; 69 Del. Laws, c. 61, § 10; 69 Del. Laws, c. 262, §§ 1-9; 70 Del. Laws, c. 79, § 16; 70 Del. Laws, c. 186, § 1; 70 Del. Laws, c. 299, §§ 2, 3; 70 Del. Laws, c. 349, § 22; 71 Del. Laws, c. 120, § 15; 71 Del. Laws, c. 339, §§ 49-52; 73 Del. Laws, c. 82, § 21.)

D-4

Appendix E

VOTING AGREEMENT

This **VOTING AGREEMENT** is dated as of June 2, 2004, by and between Home Products International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company), and James R. Tennant, holder of shares of common stock (Stockholder), par value \$0.01 per share (Company Common Stock), of the Company.

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Company to enter into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of the date hereof (the Merger Agreement), with JRT Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation of which Stockholder is an executive officer, director and stockholder, the Company has requested Stockholder and Stockholder has agreed, to enter into this Voting Agreement with respect to all of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock beneficially owned by Stockholder, and any shares of Company Common Stock hereafter acquired by Stockholder or any affiliate of Stockholder upon the exercise of Company Stock Options or otherwise (collectively, the Covered Shares).

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

GRANT OF PROXY AND VOTING AGREEMENT

Section 1.1. <u>Voting Agreement</u>. In the event that any stockholder action is to be taken at any time with respect to the approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement, the Merger and all agreements related to the Merger and any actions related thereto or contemplated thereby (collectively, the Transaction Documents), whether by written consent, vote of the stockholders of the Company at a meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof) or otherwise, Stockholder agrees to vote all of the Covered Shares in favor of the approval and adoption of the Transaction Documents.

Section 1.2. Irrevocable Proxy. Stockholder hereby revokes any and all previous proxies granted with respect to the Covered Shares. By entering into this Voting Agreement, Stockholder hereby grants a proxy appointing the Company, and each duly elected officer thereof, as such Stockholder s attorney-in-fact and proxy, with full power of substitution, for and in such Stockholder s name, to vote, express, consent or dissent, or otherwise to utilize such voting power as the Company or its proxy or substitute shall, in the Company s sole discretion, deem proper with respect to the Covered Shares to effect any action described in Section 1.1 above, including, without limitation, the right to sign its name (as Stockholder) to any document relating to the Company necessary pursuant to the law of the State of Delaware to carry out the agreement set forth in Section 1.1 above. Stockholder retains the right to vote or otherwise utilize its voting power for all purposes not inconsistent with this Section 1.2. The proxy granted by Stockholder pursuant to this Article I is irrevocable for the term of this Voting Agreement and is granted in consideration of the Company entering into the Merger Agreement and this Voting Agreement and incurring certain related fees and expenses.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF STOCKHOLDER

Stockholder represents and warrants to the Company that:

Section 2.1. Authorization. This Voting Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Stockholder. The obligations under this Voting Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Stockholder.

E-1

Table of Contents

Section 2.2. <u>Non-Contravention</u>. The execution, delivery and performance by Stockholder of this Voting Agreement, do not and will not (i) violate any applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree, (ii) require any consent or other action by any person under, constitute a default under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under any provision of, any agreement or other instrument binding on Stockholder or (iii) result in the imposition of any Lien on any of the Covered Shares.

Section 2.3. Ownership of Covered Shares. Stockholder is the record and beneficial owner of the Covered Shares, free and clear of any Lien and, except as provided herein, any other limitation or restriction (including any restriction on the right to vote or otherwise dispose of the Covered Shares) other than restrictions under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. None of the Covered Shares is subject to any voting trust or other agreement or arrangement with respect to the voting of the Covered Shares, except as provided herein. Stockholder possesses the sole and exclusive right to vote all of the Covered Shares in any vote of the stockholders of the Company.

Section 2.4. <u>Total Shares</u>. Except for an aggregate of 467,628 shares of Company Common Stock, Stockholder does not beneficially own any (i) shares of capital stock or voting securities of Company, (ii) securities of Company convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of the Company or (iii) options or other rights to acquire from Company any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of Company. If Stockholder acquires any additional shares after the date hereof, Stockholder will notify the Company in writing within two business days of such acquisition, but in any event prior to the date of any meeting of stockholders of the Company, and such additional shares shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Voting Agreement to the same extent as if beneficially owned by Stockholder on the date hereof.

ARTICLE III

COVENANTS OF STOCKHOLDER

Stockholder hereby covenants and agrees that:

Section 3.1. No Proxies for or Encumbrances on Covered Shares. Except pursuant to the terms of this Voting Agreement, Stockholder shall not, without prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly, (i) grant any proxies or enter into any voting trust or other agreement or arrangement with respect to the voting of any Covered Shares with respect to any matter described in Section 1.1 of this Voting Agreement or (ii) acquire, sell, assign, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any contract, option or other arrangement or understanding with respect to the direct or indirect acquisition or sale, assignment, transfer, encumbrance or other disposition of, any Covered Shares during the term of this Voting Agreement other than pursuant to the Transaction Documents. Stockholder shall not seek or solicit any such acquisition or sale, assignment, transfer, encumbrance or other disposition or any such contract, option or other arrangement or understanding and agrees to notify the Company promptly, and to provide all details requested by the Company, if Stockholder shall be approached or solicited, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity with respect to any of the foregoing.

Section 3.2. <u>Appraisal Rights</u>. Stockholder agrees not to exercise any rights (including, without limitation, under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law) to demand appraisal of any Covered Shares which may arise with respect to the Merger.

ARTICLE IV

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 4.1. <u>Termination</u>. This Voting Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect upon the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with its terms.

E-2

Table of Contents

Section 4.2. Further Assurances. Stockholder will execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, all further documents and instruments and use all reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary or proper under applicable laws and regulations, to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Voting Agreement.

Section 4.3. <u>Amendments</u>. Any provision of this Voting Agreement may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver in writing is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party to this Voting Agreement or, in the case of a waiver, by the party against whom the waiver is to be effective.

Section 4.4. <u>Duties as Director</u>. Nothing contained in this Voting Agreement shall be deemed to restrict Stockholder from taking actions in his capacity as a director of the Company as may be permitted under the Merger Agreement or as required under the law of the State of Delaware.

Section 4.5. Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Voting Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such cost or expense.

Section 4.6. <u>Parties in Interest; Successors and Assigns</u>. The provisions of this Voting Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, each party hereto and their respective heirs, beneficiaries, executors, representatives, successors and assigns; provided that no party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Voting Agreement without the consent of the other party hereto. Nothing in this Voting Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Voting Agreement.

Section 4.7. Governing Law. This Voting Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law thereof.

Section 4.8. Consent to Jurisdiction. Each of the Company and Stockholder hereby irrevocably submits in any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or related to this Voting Agreement or any other instrument, document or agreement executed or delivered in connection herewith and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, whether arising in contract, tort, equity or otherwise, to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court located in the State of Illinois and waives any and all objections to jurisdiction that it may have under the laws of the United States or of any state. Each of the Company and Stockholder waives any objection that it may have (including, without limitation, any objection of the laying of venue or based on *forum non conveniens*) to the location of the court in any proceeding commenced in accordance with this Section 4.8.

Section 4.9. Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Voting Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instruments. This Voting Agreement shall become effective when each party hereto shall have received counterparts hereof signed by the other party hereto. This Voting Agreement and any amendments hereto, to the extent signed and delivered by means of a facsimile machine, shall be treated in all manner and respects and for all purposes as an original agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. At the request of any party hereto, each other party hereto shall re-execute original forms thereof and deliver them to all other parties. No party hereto shall raise the use of a facsimile machine to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through the use of a facsimile machine as a defense to the formation or enforceability of this Voting Agreement or any such agreement or instrument, and each such party forever waives any such defense.

Section 4.10. Severability. If any term, provision or covenant of this Voting Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other authority to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions and covenants of this Voting Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated.

E-3

Table of Contents

Section 4.11. Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any provision of this Voting Agreement is not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity, without the posting of a bond or other security.

Section 4.12. <u>Capitalized Terms</u>. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Merger Agreement.

Section 4.13. No Strict Construction. The language used in this Voting Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties hereto to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction will be used against any person hereto

[END OF DOCUMENT;

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

E-4

Table of Contents

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have cause this Voting Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ James E. Winslow Name: James E. Winslow

Title: Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

STOCKHOLDER:

/s/ James R. Tennant James R. Tennant

E-5

Tabl	le	of	Con	tents

Appendix F

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

 $x \quad \, \, ANNUAL \, REPORT \, PURSUANT \, TO \, SECTION \, 13 \, OR \, 15(d) \, OF \, THE$

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003

Or

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 0-17237

HOME PRODUCTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its Charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

36-4147027 (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization)

Identification No.)

4501 West 47th Street Chicago, Illinois (Address of principal executive offices)

60632 (Zip Code)

(773) 890-1010

Registrant s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

&nbs